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Meeting: International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards Board 

Agenda 
Item 

2C 

For: 

 Approval 

 Discussion 

 Information 

Meeting Location: Norwalk, USA 

Meeting Date: September 17–20, 2012 

 

Objective of Agenda Item 

1. To review responses received on CP, Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports, and 
obtain directions on the approach to take in the Exposure Draft (ED).  

Materials Presented 

Agenda Item – 2C.0 Cover Memo 

Agenda Item – 2C.1 Overview of respondents by region, function and language  

Agenda Item – 2C.2 Staff summary and collation of responses received 

Previously distributed CP, Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports 

Copies of all responses received. 

Action Requested 

2. The IPSASB is asked to consider the significant issues presented in Agenda Item 2C.0, and 
provide direction on the way forward. 



 IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) Agenda Item 2C.0 
  

Prepared by: Gwenda Jensen (August 2012) Page 1 of 30 

 

Background 
1. CP, Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports (CP, Presentation) was issued in January 

2012 with a request for comments by 31 May, 2012. A draft ED is expected to be available for the 
December meeting. Phase 4 addresses presentation concepts for the more comprehensive scope 
of GPFRs. CP, Presentation did not include preliminary views, but did set out proposals for 
presentation concepts. An alternative view was included on the issue of core/supporting 
information.  

2. 39 submissions have been received. Agenda Item 2C.1 provides an analysis of the 39 respondents 
by region, function and language. The staff summary and collation of responses, included at 
Agenda Item 2C.2, identifies staff views on whether responses support or oppose particular 
proposals in the CP. It also includes staff comment on issues raised, where appropriate. These are 
staff views only. They do not reflect the views of IPSASB Members. Judgment has been applied by 
staff and, therefore, the analysis in this memorandum and the attached collation should be read in 
conjunction with the detailed responses.  

3. The IPSASB requested input on all of the matters discussed in the CP, and identified six specific 
matters for comment (SMCs). Most respondents structured their responses around the six SMCs. 
The collation of responses at 2C.2 follows that structure. It initially provides a broad overview of 
general comments on the CP as a whole, and then considers responses to each of the SMCs. 

4. This memorandum begins with an overview of (a) options going forward, and (b) the main points 
emerging from the responses. It then discusses the following five key issues raised by respondents: 

1 Development Strategy and Approach to Concepts (General Comments and SMC 2); 

2 Meanings of presentation, core/supporting information, and display/disclosure(SMC 1); 

3 Presentation objectives (SMC 3); 

4 Presentation concepts (SMCs 4 and 5); and 

5 Presentation techniques (SMC 6). 

5. The Phase 4 Task Based Group (TBG) had an opportunity to comment on whether further issues 
should be added, but these issues are, in large part, the responsibility of staff. 

Overview of Responses and of Options Going Forward  
Overview of Responses 

6. Respondents had mixed views about the overall approach of (i) focusing on user needs to identify 
presentation objectives, (ii) application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to presentation 
decisions, and (iii) separate presentation concepts. There was fairly good support for development 
of presentation objectives. Respondents generally agreed that the needs of users and QCs were 
important to presentation decisions. They also generally agreed that separate presentation 
concepts should be developed. However a significant number had concerns with the presentation 
concepts proposed.  
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7. Respondents were evenly divided on whether the proposed descriptions and relationships with 
respect to “presentation”, “display”, “disclosure”, “core information”, and “supporting Information” 
were worthwhile. In addition to opposition to particular terms, there were also concerns about 
whether new terminology was necessary. The description of “presentation” gained fairly good 
support. By contrast, the distinction between core and supporting information was controversial. 
Respondents considered that this distinction implied a false idea that information in the notes to the 
financial statements was less important than information on the face.  

8. Most of the respondents supported Phase 4’s development strategy. However some argued that 
Phase 4 should focus on financial statements rather than the more comprehensive scope GPFRs. 
Several respondents also expressed concern that the IPSASB’s work on presentation concepts 
should refer to equivalent work by the IASB, once that is available. These concerns have been 
expressed previously with respect to other phases of the CF. 

Overview of Options Going Forward 

9. Based on respondents’ views there appear to be three broad options with respect to progressing 
the presentation concepts:  

(a)  Continue with the overall approach proposed in CP, Presentation, focusing on improvements 
to the descriptions of presentation, core/supporting information, display/disclosure, and 
presentation concepts; 

(b)  Retain the definition of presentation (excluding the distinction between core/supporting 
information, display/disclosure) then focus on revisions to the presentation concepts and 
(possibly) development of presentation objectives for inclusion in the CF; or 

(c)  Change the overall strategy to focus on presentation concepts applicable to the financial 
statements rather than the more comprehensive scope GPFRs.  
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Key Issues 
Issue 1. Development Strategy and Approach to Concepts (General Concepts and SMC 2) 

10. Respondents used their general comments to discuss both the IPSASB’s development strategy for 
Phase 4 and the approach to concepts proposed in CP, Presentation. Respondents treated the 
development strategy (concepts that apply to the more comprehensive scope GPFRs) as relevant 
to the CP’s approach to presentation concepts (application of users’ needs, presentation objectives, 
and three presentation concepts). The overall issue is whether the right strategy has been used, as 
evidenced by the resulting presentation concepts. A concern raised in this context was the 
IPSASB’s decision to move ahead with Phase 4, before the International Accounting Standards 
Board’s (IASB’s) work on presentation concepts.  

11. Given the main focus of respondents’ general comments, these have been grouped with responses 
to SMC 2, which asks whether respondents agree with (a) the development of concepts for the 
more comprehensive scope GPFRs, and (b) the approach to presentation concepts.  

Development Strategy - More Comprehensive Scope GPFRs (SMC 2(a)) 

12. 25 of the 39 respondents agreed with the development of presentation concepts for the more 
comprehensive scope of GPFRs including but not restricted to financial statements. Reasons for 
agreement were that (a) a more comprehensive scope is appropriate and therefore concepts 
should be developed for it, (b) concepts will support better quality reporting, particularly where no 
standards apply, (c) the Conceptual Framework (CF) should be comprehensive in its coverage, (d) 
improvements expected from this wider perspective will outweigh the difficulties, and (e) such 
concepts would be useful or helpful. 

13. Two respondents partially agreed (R11 and R30). Seven respondents disagreed (R1, R12, R15, 
R22, R29, R33, and R36). Respondents who disagreed were concerned that (a) the IPSASB 
should focus exclusively on GPFSs and, if they did not, the result would be concepts that did not 
help with GPFSs; (b) development of such broad concepts was either impossible or would result in 
concepts too general to be useful, and (c) there is insufficient experience with non-GPFS reporting 
to move from practice to concepts. One respondent stated simply that “Accounting standard setters 
are not qualified for GPFRs” (R1). 

14. Several respondents suggested ways to change the approach to address the different concepts 
needed for GPFS/non-GPFS reporting. One possibility was for two separate sets of concepts to be 
developed, one for GPFSs and one for non-GPFS reports. Alternatively, concepts for GPFSs could 
be developed first, and then extended to other more comprehensive scope reporting.  

15. Two respondents (R13 and R24) were concerned that the Framework should establish the different 
levels of assurance that would apply to different types of information. For example, R24 
commented that: 

There also needs to be clarity about which parts of the GPFR will be in the form of financial 
statements and hence audited. This needs to be articulated clearly and should align to the 
audit mandate. How much flexibility has been built into this within the conceptual 
framework?  There needs to be clarity about where the other information will sit in the 
GPFR and what status it will have. 
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Development Strategy - the IASB’s Work and Phase 4’s timing 

16. Seven respondents (R11, R13, R16, R18, R24, R26, and R38) expressed concern about whether 
the presentation concepts would be “as consistent as possible” with concepts developed by the 
IASB. For example, while agreeing with the need for two separate conceptual frameworks, R16 
expressed concern that the CP “…introduces new terminology and redefines existing terminology 
which may result in significant divergence between the two Conceptual Frameworks.” Five of these 
seven respondents stated that it was very important for the IPSASB to work closely with the IASB, 
to avoid unnecessary divergence in this area (R13, R18, R24, R26, and R38).  

17. Five respondents explicitly discussed Phase 4’s deferral, with four arguing in favor of deferral (R1, 
R11, R16, and R22) and one arguing against (R14). Arguments in favor of deferral focused on the 
need to coordinate with (a) the IASB’s conceptual framework (R11 and R16), and (b) other parts of 
the IPSASB’s conceptual framework, on which the presentation concepts would be based (R1 and 
R22). R14 argued against deferral on the basis that development of concepts is an iterative 
process, where it is important to establish a starting point, which could then be considered in the 
future in terms of the IPSASB’s experience with the completed CF.  

Overall Views on the Proposed Concepts and the CP (General Comments and SMC 2(a)) 

18. 14 of the 39 respondents opposed the concepts proposed and/or the CP as a whole (R1, R2, R7, 
R10, R12, R13, R15, R18, R22, R29, R30, R31, R33, R38). Five of these respondents criticized the 
concepts on the basis that they were too broad, too abstract and theoretical, or not useful (R1, R12, 
R15, R33, R38). Three were concerned that the concepts were too detailed, too low level and 
operational, or dealt with practicalities, when they should be high level principles (R13, R22, R29).  

19. Three respondents (R10, R18 and R30) said that the CP was not an adequate basis for developing 
an ED. R10 stated that the CP had insufficient supporting discussion and analysis for the 
proposals, and a lack of illustrative examples on how the concepts would work in practice. R18 
viewed the CP as inadequate due to important omissions and concerns about the clarity and 
usefulness of some of the distinctions made. R30’s main concern was that the concepts do not add 
value, because they do not go beyond Phase 1’s concepts.  

20. Two of these respondents (R18 and R30) provided information on the approach that each would 
prefer in terms of presentation concepts. Detailed information on the two alternative approaches 
proposed is provided in Appendix 1. (For a complete understanding of the two respondents’ views, 
refer to their responses.) In brief, the two alternatives are as follows: 

a)  Identify the general characteristics of an entity (economic phenomena) that should be the 
subject of GPFRs, and then apply user needs to develop a coherent and structured set of 
objective-driven (rather than topic-driven) disclosures. The general characteristics would sit 
above the qualitative characteristics of useful financial information and would determine the 
subject matter of the financial reports i.e. the economic phenomena depicted. (R18) 

b)  Start with the proposed definition of presentation, followed by discussions on the “what”, 
“where” and “how” presentation decisions, and supplemented with general presentation 
principles that apply to all GPFRs. Expand each of the key presentation decisions to identify 
high level considerations and include related guidance. (The response illustrates what this 
would look like.) The relationships among the three presentation decisions should also be 
described. General principles which expand on the three presentation concepts proposed 
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and provide additional considerations should be developed. (The respondent provides 
examples to illustrate such principles.) (R30) 

Approach to Presentation Concepts (SMC 2(b)) 

21. SMC 2(b) asked respondents whether they agreed with the approach of (i) focusing on user needs 
to identify presentation objectives, (ii) application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to 
presentation decisions, and (iii) separate presentation concepts. 19 of the 35 respondents who 
responded to SMC 2(b) agreed with this approach, while a further eight partially agreed. Seven 
respondents disagreed. Of the four respondents who did not comment, two provided general 
comment opposing the development of concepts for the more comprehensive scope GPFRs, 
arguing that the resulting concepts would not be useful.  

22. Respondents generally agreed that the needs of users and QCs were important to presentation 
decisions. Where there was disagreement, it was in terms of whether (a) they were enough (e.g. 
presentation objectives are also needed to “flesh out” users’ needs (R18), (b) they would be helpful 
on their own (e.g. respondents argued either that the group of users is too diverse to be helpful in 
directing presentation, or a QC such as relevance is not meaningful on its own, it must be applied in 
combination with a presentation objective or entity characteristic to give it meaning (R4, R17, R18, 
and R27)) and (c) this did not go further than what is already in Phase 1 of the CF (R15).  

23. As discussed below under Issue 3, 28 of the 39 respondents supported the development of 
presentation objectives.  

24. Respondents generally agreed that separate presentation concepts should be developed (i.e. 
users’ needs and application of the QCs was not viewed as enough), but this did not necessarily 
mean that they agreed with the three presentation concepts proposed. In assessing the level of 
support for each aspect of the overall approach, Key Issues 3 and 4 below provide further detail on 
respondents’ views with respect to development of presentation objectives and the three 
presentation concepts.  

Discussion and Options Going Forward 

25. Respondents have provided important information about their views of the strategy applied and the 
usefulness of the resulting approach to presentation concepts. With respect to the strategy, 
responses have not raised any new issues, previously not considered by the IPSASB during the 
development of CP, Presentation. The IPSASB’s previous decision to proceed with development of 
its presentation concepts ahead of work done by the IASB is consistent with the aim of developing 
a framework that is appropriate for the public sector, rather than an interpretation of the IASB’s 
conceptual framework. The same approach has been taken with respect to Phases 1 through 3.  

26. The IASB’s conceptual framework project has not begun work on presentation concepts, and is 
presently paused while the IASB consults on its work program. Consultation on reactivation may 
have concluded by the end of 2012. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the 
European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) have recently issued documents on 
principles applicable to note disclosures for financial statements. Appendix 2 describes (a) the 
status of IASB work on presentation, (b) the note disclosures framework approaches taken by the 
FASB and EFRAG, and (c) the status of two integrated reporting projects in progress.  

27. The EFRAG and FASB work is relevant to the development of presentation techniques focused on 
financial statements, rather than the more comprehensive scope GPFRs, as noted below under 
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Key Issue 5. The work could, if the IPSASB agrees, be further considered in the development of 
such techniques outside of the CF.  

28. The IPSASB may want to confirm the existing strategy, despite the concerns raised. Alternatively 
the IPSASB could consider changing its development strategy to: 

(a)  Develop presentation concepts focused exclusively on the financial statements, which could 
involve a reconsideration of approaches developed by other standard setters (previously 
considered in 2010) along with recent developments by the FASB and EFRAG on note 
disclosures in financial statements; and/or, 

(b)  Defer work on Phase 4 until there is scope to coordinate with the IASB’s work on presentation 
concepts. 

29. As described above, respondents have concerns about the overall approach to presentation 
concepts. Further detail on respondents’ concerns with respect to presentation objectives and the 
three presentation concepts is provided under Issues 3 and 4 below. The IPSASB may want to 
consider whether: 

(a) All or some of the overall approach should be further developed for inclusion in the ED and, if 
so, which of the three parts ((i) focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives, (ii) 
application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to presentation decisions, and (iii) separate 
presentation concepts) should be further developed; or  

(b) An alternative approach to presentation concepts should be developed and, if so, what that 
approach should be.  

Action Requested: 
1. Members are asked to:  

(a) Confirm that Phase 4 should (i) continue to develop presentation concepts for the more 
comprehensive scope GPFRs, and (ii) remain with the present timetable, which has ED Presentation 
planned for issuance in the first half of 2013; and, 

(b) Provide direction on other aspects of the strategy for developing presentation concepts, 
including scope for (i) liaison with the IASB, and/or (ii) an increased focus on GPFSs as an important 
subset of GPFRs. 

(c) Provide direction on whether the overall approach to presentation concepts going forward 
should continue to have the following three features: (i) focus on user needs to identify presentation 
objectives, (ii) application of the QCs to presentation decisions, and (iii) separate presentation 
concepts.  
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Issue 2. Meanings of Presentation, Core/Supporting Information, and Display/Disclosure (SMC 1) 

Overview of Responses to SMC 1  

30. SMC 1(a) asked respondents whether they agreed that the proposed descriptions and relationships 
with respect to “presentation”, “display”, “disclosure”, “core information”, and “supporting 
Information” were appropriate and adequate. Respondents to this question divided fairly evenly in 
terms of agreeing (15 responses) and disagreeing (16 responses), with four respondents partially 
agreeing and four not providing comment. The 15 respondents who agreed generally did not 
provide extensive further comment supporting their agreement. Further discussion below focuses 
on reasons for disagreement. 

31. SMC 1(b) asked respondents whether they agreed that identification of core and supporting 
information for GPFRs should be made at a standards level rather than as part of the CF. 22 of the 
33 respondents to this question agreed that the identification of core and supporting information for 
GPFRs should be made at a standards level rather than as part of the CF. Nine respondents 
disagreed. Of those who disagreed, four provided further comment which appeared to indicate 
support for standards level identification (R15, R20, R31, R38) and these will need to be further 
considered. Two respondents (R10 and R27) considered that standards should not fully identify 
information requirements, because there should be scope for preparers to exercise their knowledge 
and professional judgment. 

Comments on All Terms (Presentation, Display/Disclosure, and Core/Supporting Information) 

32. Some respondents argued against all of the proposed terminology. They argued that: (a) there is 
no need to introduce new terminology, when the existing terminology works well, (b) the new 
terminology will be confusing, because it gives new meanings to words for which there are already 
accepted meanings, (c) the new terminology is unhelpful either because it (i) does not advance the 
consideration of presentation and disclosure issues, or (ii) is too unclear to be helpful; and, (d) the 
new terminology will create a confusing difference between the IPSASB and other standard setters, 
including the IASB.  

33. By contrast, one respondent (R14) disagreed with the descriptions, but agreed with the need to 
develop new terminology, as follows: 

34. We commend the IPSASB for developing terminology that can be applied to information areas 
within a GPFR. We are aware that some of the terminology that the IPSASB is developing is 
inconsistent with past usage in respect of the financial statements. However, given that this area 
has not been developed by other standard setters, the IPSASB is breaking new ground and needs 
to develop a coherent set of definitions and descriptions. 

Comments on “Presentation” 

35. Arguments against the CP’s meaning of “presentation” were that: (a) there is no conceptual reason 
to give presentation a particular meaning; and (b) the present meaning is understood, and there is 
no need to attempt a different description. For example, several respondents stated that 
“presentation” should remain restricted in meaning to “information shown on the face of the 
financial statements”, arguing that this is the accepted meaning. R15 and R18 pointed out that 
current IPSASs have established a variety of meanings and changing the meaning would be 
confusing. R18 illustrated the range of meanings for presentation with reference to IPSASs where 
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presentation means either (a) the classification of financial elements, (b) the disclosure of line items 
on the face of the financial statements, or (c) the structure and content of financial statements.  

Comments on “Display” and “Disclosure” 

36. Several respondents stated that the display/disclosure terms were not useful. Respondents who 
argued that “presentation” should mean that information is shown on the face of a statement 
generally disagreed with use of the term “display”, because the term “presentation” would be 
sufficient. Respondents who rejected the core/supporting information distinction (see below), 
generally also disagreed with display and disclosure either because the distinction was viewed as 
unnecessary, or because the distinction needed to be described differently.  

37. One respondent,(R7), stated that:  

...it would be difficult to develop separate notions of display and disclosure which are more 
understandable than simple discussions of more or less prominent presentation, while at 
the same time being sufficiently flexible to systematically and usefully distinguish between 
the wide variety of placement, highlighting and cross-referencing approaches which might 
be used. 

Comments on “Core Information” and “Supporting Information” 

38. Respondents who disagreed with the terms “core information” and “supporting information” had two 
broad concerns, (a) the distinction was not clear, or (b) the distinction inferred that core information 
is more important than supporting information, which was not intended. (Paragraph 2.13 of the CP 
states explicitly that supporting information is as important as core information.)  

39. Concerns that the distinction was unclear were generally linked to the view that the distinction 
between core and supporting information was not useful, as follows: 

1)  If all the information is equally important, then location of information does not relate to its 
importance, bringing into question the relevance of the distinction; 

2)  If there is no way to distinguish information in the two places (on the face and in notes), then 
there is little need to create the two terms – core information and supporting information?  

40. Six respondents (R4, R11, R15, R16, R18, and R25) interpreted these two terms as implying that 
core information was more important than supporting information, then disagreed with the 
distinction on that basis. These respondents argued that supporting information in the notes to the 
financial statements can, in fact, be (a) very important, (b) of equal importance to information 
reported on the face of the statements, (c) essential, (d) “central” to an understanding of an entity’s 
finances, and/or (e) “core”. Coming at the issue from the opposite direction, one respondent pointed 
out that putting all core information onto the face of the financial statements (i.e. moving important 
information out of the notes) may not be possible. One respondent (R7) argued that the distinction 
is important, but the term “core” should be changed to “primary” in order to avoid any implication 
that core information is more important than primary information. It is noted that this wording was 
considered during development of the CP and rejected. It is possible to interpret both “core” and 
“primary” as indicating that the information so described is of greater importance, due other to its 
centrality or its primacy. 

41. Some of the respondents who supported this distinction agreed on the basis that information on the 
face of a financial statement, in their view, is more important than information in the notes. Another 
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respondent (R16) agreed that some information was more important than other information, but 
rejected the “two bucket approach” as overly simplistic and not adequately addressing users’ 
different information needs. 

Core/Supporting Information - the Alternative View  

42. CP Presentation included an alternative view with respect to display/disclosure and core/supporting 
information, as expressed in paragraph 2.19 of the CP:  

Some do not agree with the distinction between core information and supporting information 
for GPFRs. They do not believe that display is synonymous with core information or that 
disclosure is synonymous with supporting information. An alternative to the proposal would 
be to develop an approach where core information would be separately defined from display 
and supporting information would be separately defined from disclosures, based on the 
premise that either core or supporting information could be displayed or disclosed. [Then an 
example alternative approach, based on this alternative view was described in the following 
paragraph of the CP. That example is reproduced in paragraph 40 below.] 

43. Six respondents supported the alternative view (R14, R16, R20, R30, R38, and R39). One (R16) 
supported this view on the basis that the core/supporting distinction is too simplistic to be useful. 
The other five agreed that core/supporting information are not synonymous with display/disclosure. 
A key concern here was the idea that information shown in the notes to the financial states included 
core information. The reason for supporting the alternative view that Respondent 39 gave, for 
example, was:  

It is incorrect to say that everything shown in the notes to the statements is supporting 
information. 

44. R30 stated that the definitions of core and supporting information should be based on their 
respective functions, not their forms or location in the GPFRs. R38 stated that the substance of the 
information (i.e. whether it is essential) should influence the classification (core versus supporting) 
instead of the form (display versus disclosure). 

More Comprehensive Scope Reporting 

45. Several respondents expressed concern that the core/supporting distinction may not be clear for 
more comprehensive scope information. One respondent (R5) argued that information in the 
GPFSs is essential, while service performance information and information on the long-term 
sustainability of finances supports the GPFS information.  The CP did not take that approach, and 
work progressing in Phase 1 does not appear to support this perspective.  

Proposed Alternatives  

46. R4 proposed that a descriptions of the types of information displayed or disclosed could be 
included, but without any labeling of the information. This would avoid the problem of implying that 
one type of information is more important than another. R4’s proposed wording was along the 
following lines: 

Information that is displayed is broadly regarded as the information that forms the building 
blocks for reporting in a particular information area. These building blocks are central to 
communicating key messages about specifically identified objectives and information needs. 
As an example, a parallel could be drawn between these building blocks and the elements 
that are recognised in the statements of financial position and performance. The Framework 
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should however note that the identification of these “building blocks” for each information 
area will be considered at a Standards-level. 

47. R30 proposed extending the two categories into four major categories of information:  

(a)  Purpose and scope,  

(b)  Core information,  

(c)  Supporting information, and  

(d)  Contextual information. 

48. The CP also included a proposed alternative approach, illustrating the alternative view:  

Core information could be viewed as any information that is essential (for example, for 
communicating financial position and financial performance, service performance, or 
financial condition) to users of that information. Although those that support this view 
agree that disclosure is not a substitute for display (for example, in a financial statement), 
they believe that notes have a clear and demonstrable relationship to the display 
information to which they relate and that such notes are essential to a user’s 
understanding of that information. As such, the notes also should be considered core 
information. In this approach, supporting information could be viewed as information that 
places the core information in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
As such, supporting information could be presented in the form of display (for example, in 
certain jurisdictions, a combining financial statement that provides additional detail that 
places the consolidated financial statement in context) or disclosure (for example, note 
disclosures that provide additional context to supporting information that is displayed). 
Based on this approach, the substance of the information (that is, whether the information 
is essential) would influence the classification of either core or supporting information 
versus the form (that is, display and disclosure) of that information. 

Action Requested: 
2. Members are asked to provide direction on whether: 

(a)    The CP’s description of “presentation” should be included in ED Presentation;  

(b)    The CP’s descriptions of “display” and “disclosure’ should be included in ED Presentation;  

(c)    The terms “core information” and “supporting information” should be (i) further developed for 
inclusion in ED, Presentation; or (ii) replaced with a description of types of information that 
should be displayed and types that should be disclosed, but without any labeling of the 
information described; and 

(d)    Criteria should be developed at the conceptual framework level or the standards level to 
distinguish between information that should be displayed (“core information”) and information 
that should be disclosed (“supporting information”). 

 
  



Agenda Item 2C.0 
IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Page 11 of 30 

Issue 3. Presentation Objectives (SMC 3) 

49. SMC 3 asked respondents whether they agreed that presentation objectives should be developed 
and, if so, whether they should be developed at a standards level or as part of the CF. 28 of the 35 
respondents to this question agreed that presentation objectives should be developed. 
Respondents were evenly split between those who agreed that this should be done at the 
standards level (14) and those who considered that this should be done as part of the CF (13).  

Reasons For and Against Presentation Objectives 

50. Respondents supported development of presentation objectives on the basis that they would: (a) 
be critical in (i) identifying what information will be required to meet users’ needs and (ii) ensuring 
that the best or most appropriate presentation is selected for such information to ensure that users’ 
needs are met (R4); (b) be a good basis to determine to what extent requirements in standards are 
material or not in actual preparation of financial reports (R9); (c) operationalize accountability and 
decision making objectives, and guide presentation decisions for a particular information area 
(R28); and (c) provide more specificity to the overall financial reporting objectives of accountability 
and decision making (R37).  

51. Reasons against development of presentation objectives were that (a) the preparer/reporting entity 
should develop presentation objectives, not standard setters (R10); (b) presentation objectives are 
not necessary (R12); (c) financial statements should have objectives, not presentation which is 
simply a vehicle to convey information to users (R15); and, (d) the term is confusing and really 
describes objectives for particular information areas (R30).  

52. Several respondents (R13, R14, R16 and R30) noted a problem with the term presentation 
objective. While supporting development of the type of objectives illustrated in the CP, they pointed 
out that presentation objectives went beyond presentation. R13 and R14 proposed use of the term 
“reporting objective”. R30 stated that both types of objectives (presentation objectives and reporting 
objectives) should be better described and developed. 

Development at Standards Level or Include in the Conceptual Framework? 

53. Reasons given to specify objectives at the standards level were that (a) objectives will be linked to 
users’ needs for a particular information area (R4); and (b) developed objectives might be a good 
basis to determine to what extent requirements in standards are material, or not, in actual 
preparation of financial reports (R9); and, (c) there will then be a greater likelihood of the 
presentation objectives being implemented by public entities (R32).  

54. Reasons given to specify objectives at the CF level were that:  

(a) Entities need to have objectives that they can refer to, in deciding which items are to be 
presented and how they are presented in the GPFRs….If each objective were to be 
developed at a standards level, the relationships among all of GPFRs may be unclear and 
the ultimate objective of the GPFRs may not be achieved. (R5) 

(b) If presentation objectives were developed only at a Standards level, there is a risk that 
objectives common to topics covered by different IPSASs would be redeliberated in 
developing or revising each IPSAS. This would be inefficient and increase the risk of ad hoc 
decisions that could:  
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(i) Differ from IPSAS to IPSAS, and according to the changing composition of the IPSASB 
over time; and 

(ii) Impede the rationalization of presentation and disclosure requirements through the 
development of a coherent and structured set of objective-driven disclosures. (R18) 

55. An underlying issue here, raised by several respondents in their further comments, is the focus of 
presentation objectives. Should an objective focus on each GPFR, each information area, each 
statement, or each topic? R14, for example, states that: 

We consider that the Conceptual Framework should identify the major information areas (and 
possibly sub-areas) and the reporting objectives to be met by those information areas. That 
is, a reporting objective would operationalise the objective of GPFRs in respect of a particular 
information area. 

56. By contrast, R7 states that: 

… this should be done at ‘standards level’ during the development of standards, having 
regard to the specific matters under consideration, while also having regard to the 
incremental effect of changes arising from revised or new standards on the overall package 
of financial reporting. 

57. If the IPSASB considers that presentation objectives (or “reporting objectives”) should be 
established at the standards level, then the principle that objectives are essential to guide 
presentation decisions could be established in the CF, along with narrative or guidance about why 
that is important, what that involves, and possibly also examples of such objectives. The discussion 
of objectives could include points such as those made by R18 to the effect that concepts such as 
relevance, materiality and cost-benefit need to be considered in terms of a stated reporting purpose 
or objective. Alternatively, if the IPSASB considers that objectives should be established for 
inclusion in the CF, then objectives already included in IPSASs and other IPSASB pronouncements 
and those proposed by respondents could be a starting point for their development.  

Action Requested: 
Members are asked to provide direction on whether presentation objectives should be: 

(a) Described as “reporting objectives” rather than “presentation objectives”; and,  

(b) Developed at the standards level, rather than for inclusion in the CF.  
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Issue 4. Presentation Concepts (SMC 4 and SMC 5) 

58. SMC 4 asked respondents to provide their views on the three presentation concepts proposed in 
the CP, and whether the description of each concept could be improved. SMC 5 asked whether 
further concepts should be included in the CF, and what those further concepts should be. The 
three concepts proposed in the CP are: 

Concept 1: Select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit test, and is 
sufficiently timely  

Concept 2: Locate information to meet user needs 

Concept 3: Organize information to make important relationships clear and support 
comparability 

59. 23 of the 33 respondents to this question agreed that these three concepts should be included in 
the CF. Four respondents partially agreed, while six disagreed (R10, R13, R14, R15, R29, and 
R31). Of those who agreed several expressed reservations (R2, R18, and R38).  

60. Reasons for disagreement were that the concepts: (a) should be treated as guidance on issues 
rather than concepts (R10 and R31); (b) are only interpretations of other parts of the CF (R13 and 
R14); (c) do not address what information should be shown in the GPFSs (R29); and, (d) are too 
broad to provide guidance (R15). Three other respondents (R2, R1, and R22) shared this last 
concern. R2 agreed with the concepts, but was not convinced that they would help with 
presentation of information. R1 and R22 stated in their general comments that attempting to 
develop concepts for the more comprehensive scope GPFRS would result in concepts that were 
too broad to be useful. While agreeing with the concepts, R18 also stated that Concepts 1 and 2 
“…seem to identify principles that are already evident from Phase 1 of the draft IPSASB CF, and 
therefore do not appear to contribute significantly to the development of the IPSASB CF”. 

Revisions and Further Concepts  

61. A number of respondents suggested revisions to the proposed concepts. Concept 1 received the 
largest number of recommended changes (11 respondents), Concept 2 was next (9 respondents), 
and Concept 3 received revisions from 8 respondents. With respect to respondents who provided 
revisions, nine agreed with all three concepts (R4, R5, R8, R16, R18, R19, R28, R30, R38), one 
partially agreed (R30), and three disagreed (R10, R14, R29). 10 respondents (R2, R7, R11, R19, 
R20, R21, R23, R24, R30, and R35) proposed further concepts to include in the CF.  

62. Appendix 3 lists the revisions that respondents proposed for the three presentation concepts. It also 
includes further concepts proposed. Suggested revisions generally propose either that (a) 
additional factors should be included in a concept (for example, include reference to materiality in 
Concept 1 (R14) and reference to consistency in Concept 3 (R8)); or (b) related descriptions should 
be enhanced in terms of additional coverage or increased understandability (for example, revise the 
description of Concept 2 to distinguish between assurance and verifiability (R4)).  

63. Further concepts proposed can be broadly grouped as follows: 

Sufficient information – For example, “Sufficient information (in terms of scope and depth) required 
to meet the objectives of the GPFR should be presented to ensure a complete and unbiased 
understanding.” (R30) 
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Avoid information overload – For example, “Disclosures should be sufficient but also clear with 
preparers encouraged to eliminate disclosures that are not material in the context of the entity in 
question.” (R24) 

Understandability - For example, “Achieve a balance between information overload and 
summarization, so that understandability is maximized, but is also balanced against other 
qualitative characteristics and constraints.” (R7) 

Consistency - For example, “The scope, key indicators and the basis of key measures should be 
consistent from one reporting period to another.” (R30)  

Timing and frequency - For example, “A separate concept dealing with the frequency of reporting, 
focused on the “when information is presented” question.” (R11) 

Decision-making, responsibilities and assurance - For example, (a) “Presentation decisions should 
be evaluated on the resulting value to the GPFR as a whole and the risk of doing otherwise” (R30); 
(b) The responsibility for the preparation and approval of the GPFR should be clearly 
communicated in the report” (R30); and (c) The fact that the GPFR is or is not subject to 
independent audit or review should be clearly communicated in the report.” (R30) 

64. Staff proposes that consideration of (a) possible revisions to the concepts and their related 
descriptions, and (b) possible further concepts should initially be carried out by Phase 4’s TBG, and 
then brought back to the IPSASB as part of the ED Presentation discussion in December.  

Action Requested: 
Members are asked to provide direction on whether:  

(a)  The three concepts should be included in the draft ED, Presentation; and, 

(b) The TBG should develop recommendations on (i) revisions to the concepts and their descriptions, 
and (ii) further concepts, which will then be submitted to the December IPSASB meeting for Members’ 
consideration, as part of discussion on a draft ED.  
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Issue 5. Presentation Techniques (SMC 6) 

65. SMC 6 notes that each presentation concept refers to the possibility of developing criteria to 
determine the presentation techniques to be used in setting accounting standards, then asks 
respondents to provide (a) their views on whether it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB 
to apply presentation techniques, and (b) any suggestions they have for developing these 
techniques.  

66. 17 of the respondents agreed that it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply 
presentation techniques. Four respondents partially agreed, while 11 disagreed. Only a few 
respondents suggested further techniques or made other specific suggestions.  

67. In addition to the view that techniques would be useful and workable, arguments supporting 
application of techniques were that they would (a) “enable comparability between reporters” (R17), 
(b) “help on degree of compliance and standardization of the information displayed and disclosed” 
(R20), and (c) “give the reader of the report at a glance a picture of the entities performance” (R23). 
Some respondents highlighted the importance of developing criteria to distinguish between core 
and supporting information (R2, R14, and R28). But others specifically disagreed with the 
development of such criteria (R16, R18, R24, and R25). Other techniques viewed as important 
included (a) cross-referencing (R3 and R8), (b) ordering of supporting information (R5), (c) 
guidelines related to GPFRs’ timing and frequency (R37).  

68. The main arguments against development and application of presentation techniques were that (a) 
this type of technique does not belong in a conceptual framework because it is too detailed, too 
complex, and/or of an operational nature (b) this level of decision-making should be done by 
preparers, during standard setting, or as guidance, (c) it is too soon to develop techniques, (d) the 
QCs are sufficient and additional techniques are unnecessary, and (e) it would not be workable for 
the IPSASB to develop criteria for presentation techniques that would be applicable to the wide 
variety of reports that are encompassed in GPFRs. Two respondents commented that what is 
meant by presentation techniques is not clear (R4, R30). Several respondents had concerns about 
which group – standard setters or preparers – should be responsible for choosing techniques, 
which linked to concerns about including techniques in the CF, when they should be treated instead 
as non-binding guidance. 

69. It may be too soon to develop techniques for inclusion in the CF, since techniques will need to 
relate to the IPSASB’s overall approach to presentation, and the presentation concepts, which have 
not been decided. An alternative approach is to consider whether there is scope to develop 
tentative, non-binding or illustrative techniques for inclusion in internal IPSASB documents. 
Members could then trial the techniques during standard setting. Depending on the outcome of 
such trials the techniques could be included in the CF at some future date. Techniques could be 
developed with reference to work by other standards setters, for example, the FASB and EFRAG 
work in progress on financial statement disclosures. A review of developments with respect to 
recent IPSASB work on more comprehensive scope reporting (service performance information, 
fiscal sustainability reporting, and financial statement discussion and analysis) could also generate 
techniques broadly applicable to the more comprehensive GPFRs’ scope.  

70. Problems with this alternative possibility include that it could (a) create expectations that further 
changes to the CF will occur in the near to mid-term; and (b) if the provisional techniques play an 
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important role in IPSAS developments, then they should be publicly available and have gone 
through public consultation before their application. 

Action Requested: 
Members are asked to provide direction on whether: 

(a)  Presentation techniques should be developed for inclusion in the CF; or, 

(b) The possibility of developing presentation techniques for the IPSASB’s internal use should be 
investigated.  
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APPENDIX 1: TWO ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES TO PRESENTATION CONCEPTS 

Respondent 18 – General Characteristics, Economic Phenomena and Disclosure Objectives 

First identify general characteristics of an entity (economic phenomena)  

A1.1 There should be a focus on user needs to identify presentation (or reporting) objectives. 
However, decisions about the economic phenomena to be presented and disclosed should occur 
first. This would flesh out the implications of focusing on user needs. To facilitate developing a 
coherent and structured set of objective-driven (rather than topic-driven) disclosures, the IPSASB 
should identify the general characteristics of an entity (economic phenomena) that should be the 
subject of general purpose financial reporting. 

A1.2 Examples of these general characteristics are: 

(a) The capacity of the entity to provide goods and/or services under its current business 
model, and whether that capacity is changing over time; 

(b) The sustainability of the business model being employed, and whether that sustainability is 
changing over time;  

(c) The ability of the entity to change to alternative business models (entity sustainability), and 
whether that ability is changing over time;  

(d) The adequacy of the entity’s financial structure, including liquidity and solvency, and 
whether that adequacy is changing over time; and 

(e) The capacity of the entity to change its financial structure, and whether that capacity is 
changing over time. 

General characteristics will sit above QCs and identify information needs 

A1.3 The general characteristics of an entity will identify at a high level the information needs 
stemming from the objective of general purpose financial reporting, which it regards as providing 
information to users of GPFRs that is useful for making decisions about the allocation of scarce 
resources, including providing information to discharge the accountability of the entity’s 
management. In the hierarchy of a Conceptual Framework, those general characteristics of an 
entity would precede (or sit above) the qualitative characteristics of useful financial information 
and would determine the subject matter of the financial reports (economic phenomena depicted). 

Presentation objectives should be developed 

A1.4 Presentation objectives should be developed.  Presentation objectives should complement 
identified general characteristics of an entity, developed as a basis for developing a coherent and 
structured set of objective-driven disclosures.  

  



Agenda Item 2C.0 
IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Page 18 of 30 

Respondent 30 

A1.5 A presentation framework should provide a structure with guidance for development of future 
GPFR pronouncements and preparation of GPFRs. A structure may start with the proposed 
definition of presentation, followed by discussions on the “what”, “where” and “how” presentation 
decisions, and supplemented with general presentation principles that apply to all GPFRs. Each 
of the key presentation decisions should be expanded to identify high level considerations and 
include related guidance. The discussions and examples should be applicable to all GPFRs. 
Concepts in Phase 1 should be included only when appropriate and relevant. The relationships 
among the three presentation decision should also be described.  

A1.6 Below are examples, not an exhaustive list or comprehensive guidance, of what may be included 
in the key presentation decision discussions in the Conceptual Framework.  

What decision 

A1.7 Decision regarding what information should be presented in a GPFR begins with an assessment 
of user needs for accountability assessment and decision-making and information gaps. It 
involves identification of the following: 

Purpose and scope 

• the purposes or objectives of a GPFR based on information gap and user needs; and 

• the scope and boundary of the GPFR. 

Core information 

• key indicators most relevant for accountability and/or decision making  on the subject matter 
and information essential in meeting the objectives of the GPFR; 

• primary and secondary indicators, mandatory and optional indicators to consider, if 
applicable; and 

• key measures that faithfully represent the key, primary and secondary indicators. 

Supporting information 

• supporting information that explains and describes the key measures to ensure users acquire 
a complete and unbiased understanding of the key and other indicators (e.g., definitions, 
accounting policies, methodologies, major assumptions, recognition criteria.) 

Contextual information 

• contextual information that puts key indicators in perspective (e.g., operating environment 
such as policies and activities, historical trend, economic environment, sensitivity analysis, 
risks and uncertainty, other known facts, subsequent events, contractual obligations, 
contingencies.) 

Where decision 

A1.8 Discussion on the “where” decision can go beyond the typical GPFS structure and provide more 
general guidance. For example, factors to consider in terms of the relative location, and in what 
way the “what” and the “how” affect the “where”. Relative location may include front-end versus 
back-end, main body versus appendices, summary versus details, sequence and logic of 
presenting information, chronological versus reverse history order, descending versus ascending.      
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How decision 

A1.9 Discussion on the “how” decisions can go beyond a listing of the possible formats and structures 
(such as table, graph, narrative, level of aggregation, comparison). It can include, for example, 
guidance on how the “what” affect the “how”, and what are the more effective ways of presenting 
certain types of information that enhance the understandability of GPFRs.  

A1.10 Below are proposals for general principles which expand on the three presentation concepts 
proposed and provide additional considerations. 

General Presentation Principles 

Concept 1 Further explain and develop this concept by including: 

• Sufficient information (in terms of scope and depth) required to meet the objectives of the 
GPFR should be presented to ensure a complete and unbiased understanding. 

• Information should be prioritized in terms of relevancy in meeting user needs. Presentation 
should reflect their relative priority. 

• Excessive information presented in GPFR would result in information overload and distract 
users from getting an uncluttered view of the core information.  

• The timing and frequency of preparation and issuance of GPFR should ensure that 
information presented in GPFR is meaningful and relevant to users. 

• Presentation decisions should be evaluated on the resulting value to the GPFR as a whole 
and the risk of doing otherwise.   

Concept 2 - We support the concept of “organizing information to make important relationships 
clear” and the related presentation techniques identified in the Consultation Paper, but not the 
description of this concept. In particular, we do not see introducing the terms “enhancement”, 
“similarity” and “shared purpose” useful in explaining this concept. In many cases, the examples 
provided did not align with the relationships the terms contained. Describing the important 
relationships in these three terms may restrict the consideration of other important relationships. 

Concept 3 – Separate out as individual concepts: 

• The concept of organizing information to make important relationships clear; and  

• The concept of comparability. 

Further principles 

Principle 1. Selection of the appropriate presentation tools or techniques should consider the 
nature and characteristics of the information.  

Principle 2. Information should be presented in an understandable manner. 

Principle 3. The scope, key indicators and the basis of key measures should be consistent from 
one reporting period to another. 

Principle 4. The responsibility for the preparation and approval of the GPFR should be clearly 
communicated in the report. 
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Principle 5. The fact that the GPFR is or is not subject to independent audit or review should be 
clearly communicated in the report. Where appropriate, the report of the 
independent auditor or reviewer should be appended to the GPFR. 

Principle 6. Users should be advised that GPFR as a whole provides information that meet 
user needs in that subject matter. Each type of information has its function and is of 
equal importance. The report should be read and considered in its totality to ensure 
a comprehensive and unbiased understanding.    
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APPENDIX 2: WORK BY THE IASB AND OTHERS ON PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE 

As of 31 August 2012 

IASB Conceptual Framework – Phase E, Presentation and Disclosure 

A2.1 Phase E of the IASB’s conceptual framework will address presentation concepts. The IASB and 
FASB have not actively begun work on Phase E. No deliberations or decisions regarding 
presentation concepts have occurred as part of the IASB’s conceptual framework project. 

A2.2 The IASB’s conceptual framework is paused until the IASB concludes its ongoing deliberations 
about its future work plan. A feedback statement on the consultation is expected to be issued in 
the third quarter of 2012. Since other phases are likely to be progressed prior to Phase E. It may 
be one to three years before proposals from Phase E are available for review. 

IASB Staff ED Financial Statement Presentation  

A2.3 IASB staff developed an ED on financial statement presentation, which included several 
presentation principles. A summary of the ED’s coverage was provided to the IPSASB in 2010. 
Further IASB work on the financial statement presentation project is paused, while the IASB 
deliberates about its future work plan. 

FASB Disclosure Framework 

A2.4 The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued an Invitation to Comment (ITC) on 
proposals on a disclosure framework in July 2012. The deadline for comments is 16 November 
2012.  

A2.5 The framework will address disclosures in the notes to the financial statements of for-profit 
reporting entities. The aim of disclosures is to provide information that can affect an entity’s 
capacity to generate future cash flows. The ITC does not include preliminary views or proposals, 
but does describes ideas on (a) ways that notes need to be improved, and (b) ways to address 
each need. The discussion is “…structured around a decision process similar to what the [FASB] 
might eventually add to its Conceptual Framework and use in each future standard-setting 
process.”  

A2.6 The ITC considers ways to improve: 

1. Standard setters’ decisions about establishing disclosure requirements; 

2. Reporting entities’ selections of disclosures appropriate to their circumstances; and 

3. Communication improvements (organization and formatting). 

Standard setters’ decisions about disclosure requirements 

Boundary between Financial Statements and Notes 

A2.7 The FASB has not attempted to explicitly define the boundaries of notes to financial statements, 
but the decision questions described below are intended to limit note disclosures to information 
with any of the following characteristics:  

a. It is unique to an entity or its industry.  

b. It is not already apparent from financial statements or readily available from public sources to 
which users could be expected to have access.  

c. It could make a material difference in future cash flow prospects. 
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Three categories of disclosure decisions  

A2.8 Chapter 2 of the ITC lists decision questions under the following three categories:  

a. Information about the reporting entity in general:  
(1) Operations, restrictions, and other similar matters  
(2) Segments  
(3) Consolidated subsidiaries and variable interest entities  
(4) Related party transactions  
(5) Accounting for matters not addressed in an accounting standard  

b. Information about line items in financial statements:  
(1) Descriptions of line items, their natures, their terms, if any, and their sensitivities to change  
(2) How the line items affect prospects for future cash flows (whether they will be sold, rented, 
collected, used to produce goods for sale, etc.) and how they relate to other items in financial 
statements (hedging relationships, liens, contractual restrictions on use, sale, and settlement)  
(3) How the items are accounted for—for example, policies, measurement methods and 
measurement uncertainties, and amortization  
(4) Breakdowns of line items that combine items with different descriptions, effects on cash flow 
prospects, or accounting methods  
(5) Explanations of period-to-period changes in line items if the reasons are not otherwise 
apparent  

c. Information about other events and conditions (the effects of which have not yet been 
reflected in financial statements) that can affect prospects for future cash flows:  

(1) Descriptions of other events or conditions, their natures, effects on cash flows, probabilities 
of occurrence, and sensitivities to changes in conditions  
(2) Measurement methods and measurement uncertainties, if applicable. 

Examples of the Decision Questions 

A2.9 The following questions illustrate what is meant by a decision question related to each of the 
three categories (G for general, L for line item, and O for other): 

Question G1. Do the financial statements reflect transactions, balances, or other contractual 
relationships with related parties on terms that could be different from arm’s-length transactions 
and contracts with third parties? 
Question G2. Does the reporting entity issue consolidated financial statements? 
Question L1. Is there information about the nature or quality of the phenomenon or phenomena 
represented by the line item (for example, the underlying rights, obligations, or transactions) that 
can affect assessments of future cash flow prospects4 and that is not adequately conveyed by 
the line item’s description? 
Question L2. Does the line item represent any of the following:  
a. Financial instruments  
b. Other contracts or legally binding documents  
c. Other binding arrangements? 
Question O1. Have any of the following events or conditions created a possibility that net cash 
flows that the entity would otherwise have experienced will be significantly different (lower or 
higher):  
a. Potential litigation against the entity or by the entity against another entity or entities (because 
of specific matters instead of general business risk)  
b. Existing litigation against the entity or by the entity against another entity or entities, the 
outcome of which is still uncertain  
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c. Possible or known violations by the entity of laws, regulations, or contractual terms or violations 
of the entity’s rights under statutes, regulations, or contracts  
d. Other uncertain conditions? 
Question O2. Are there other events or conditions that are not represented by an asset or liability 
and a gain or loss (or income or expense) in the entity’s financial statements but about which 
there was uncertainty in the decision not to recognize? (That would include items other than the 
contingencies discussed in Questions O1(a) and O1(b).) 

A2.10 For each question the ITC (a) lists information that should be considered for disclosure and (b) 
explains why that information is important. For example, for question L11 this is what is provided: 

Question L11. Does the line item include balances or the effects of transactions or events 
that either:  

a. Are not addressed by directly applicable reporting requirements  

b. Are not clearly analogous to other transactions or events for which there is applicable 
guidance?  

Information to Be Considered for Disclosure  

The Board should consider requiring disclosure of the following:  

a. Nature of the transactions or events and the method of accounting applied to them  

b. If applicable, uncertainties related to recognition or measurement or both  

c. Any unique or highly unusual aspect of the transaction or event that would affect an 
assessment of the entity’s prospects for future cash flows.  

Why the Information Could Be Important  

Without this information, users would have no way of knowing how the results of important 
transactions have been reported and, therefore, could easily misunderstand what has been 
reported. 

Reporting entities’ selections of disclosures appropriate to their circumstances 

A2.11 Chapter 3 suggests ways that the Board could establish flexible disclosure requirements that 
could be applied differently (customized) by different entities. It discusses the issue of 
“selectivity”, and scope for preparers to decide disclosure. It also raises the possibility of 
establishing “disclosure objectives” and provides examples of how this might work in practice.  

A2.12 Chapter 4 describes one way that reporting entities could reach a determination on what is 
relevant in their particular circumstances.  

Organization and Formatting of the Notes  

A2.13 Chapter 5 discusses possible communication improvements applicable to the notes to the 
financial statements, particularly organization and formatting. The chapter begins with the view 
that, “Clear, concise, and well-organized notes could significantly improve users’ ability to locate 
and understand the information they need.” Under the heading “Format” Chapter 5 then 
discusses two principles (“disclosures should be entity specific”, and “disclosures should have 
common points of reference”) and four ways to enhance the understandability of notes (use of (a) 
tables, (b) headings, (c) cross references, and (d) highlighting).  

A2.14 The second part of Chapter 5 looks at “organization”. This subsection considers the relative 
merits of (a) specifying a standard order for the notes, or (b) allowing flexibility, while also 
providing implementation guidance. The basic approach is to look for ways to (a) link related 
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matters, with grouping such matters together being the proposed solution, and (b) further group 
information in order from most to least relevant. The question arises of how relative relevance 
should be determined. Should relative relevance be determined by (i) the group of users as a 
whole, (ii) one particular type of user, or (iii) management?  

EFRAG Disclosure Framework 

Scope and Status 

A2.15 The European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) has been working on a disclosure 
framework for notes to the financial statements. The project responds to concerns about 
disclosure overload. A Discussion Paper (DP), “Towards a Disclosure Framework for the Notes” 
was issued in July 2012 by EFRAG, the French Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC) and the 
UK Financial Reporting Council Accounting Committee (FRC). The deadline for responses is 31 
December 2012.  

A2.16 The DP sets out principles applicable to note disclosures. While they do not represent established 
positions, website description of the DP by EFRAG states that the DP: 

“…sets out some key principles that EFRAG, the ANC and the FRC consider essential to 
design of an effective Disclosure Framework.  Such principles are necessary to change 
how disclosure requirements are set [and] to free preparers, auditors and regulators from 
the detailed compliance exercise that they currently experience.” 

A2.17 The principles are provided below. 

Key Principles 

1. These key principles set out the features that are required for an effective Disclosure Framework. 

General objective of a Disclosure Framework 

2. To ensure that all and only relevant information is disclosed in an appropriate manner, so that 
detailed information does not obscure relevant information in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Purpose and content of the notes 

3. The purpose of the notes is to provide a relevant description of the items presented in the primary 
financial statements and of unrecognized arrangements, claims against and rights of the entity 
that exist at the reporting date. Consequently: 

a. The disclosures in the notes should provide information which amplifies and explains the 
primary financial statements; 
b. The notes should focus on past transactions and other events existing at the reporting date; 
information about the future that is unrelated to those past transactions and other events, is not 
provided in the notes; and 
c. Information in the notes should be entity-specific. 

4. As a complement to reported numbers showing the entity’s financial situation and performance in 
the balance sheet and profit and loss, notes should provide information such as, but not limited 
to, (a) assumptions and judgments that are built into the reported numbers of items in the balance 
sheet and profit and loss; (b) information on risks that may affect these reported numbers; and (c) 
alternative measurements where this information would be relevant. It is necessary to consider 
the implications of recognition and measurement attributes on the disclosure requirements so 
that, ultimately, the usefulness of information is assessed as a whole. In particular, the more 
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uncertainty affects the amounts in the primary statements, the more disclosures are usually 
needed. 

Setting the disclosure requirements 

5. Disclosure needs to be an objective distinct from other objectives, specifically from recognition, 
measurement and presentation. 

6. Disclosure requirements should be developed and justified with the same level of depth and 
scrutiny as recognition, measurement and presentation requirements. 

7. Disclosure requirements should be set in a consistent manner across the whole set of accounting 
standards, including the level of granularity. 

8. Disclosure requirements should be principle-based and detailed rules should be avoided. 

9. Disclosure requirements should achieve proportionality to the entity’s users’ needs, and meet a 
reasonable cost-benefit trade-off in all circumstances. Alternative disclosure regimes may have to 
be put in place to achieve proportionality. 

10. Disclosure requirements should not be used to compensate for inadequacies in recognition, 
measurement and presentation requirements. 

11. Disclosure requirements should be set as to avoid any possible overlap within notes and 
reviewed over time to eliminate requirements that are no longer relevant. 

Applying the requirements 

12. Care should be taken in applying the materiality principle in practice, bearing in mind that 
disclosing immaterial information (and information on situations that do not apply in practice to the 
reporting entity) reduces the relevance and the understandability of disclosures. 

Communicating information 

13. Disclosure requirements should be applied with a view to communicating information to users 
rather than a compliance exercise. 

Succeeding in practice 

14. Preparers, auditors and regulators, each in their specific role, have a shared interest in fostering 
the improvement of disclosures, through the application of all principles above. 

International Integrated Reporting Council 

A2.18 The International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) released a Draft Outline of the Integrated 
Reporting Framework in August 2012. The outline establishes the basic structure of the 
Framework, and keeps stakeholders informed on the status of development. The IIRC plans to 
launch a prototype of the Framework later in 2012, a Draft Framework in early- to mid-2013, and 
a “version 1.0” in late 2013.  

CIPFA Work on Integrated Reporting 

A2.19 As noted in the coordinator’s report (Agenda Item 2.1), the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) will be developing an informal Issues Paper addressing (a) the 
relevance of integrated reporting in the public sector, and depending on relevance, (b) the 
timelines for its introduction. A draft of the Issues Paper is under development.  
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APPENDIX 3: PRESENTATION CONCEPTS – REVISIONS AND FURTHER CONCEPTS 

All three concepts  

Link each concept’s description to the understandability of financial reporting. (R7) 

Reduce detail on application of the other qualitative characteristics and constraints (R7), and reduce 
detail of related descriptions.  

Include discussion on how the presentation concepts are impacted by the constraints (particularly 
materiality and cost-benefit) to avoid excess detail in GPFRs. (R16) 

Make reference to substance over form, where relevant. (R16) 

Include information on governing rules and regulations which impact the business entity. (R37) 

Link the three concepts to ‘core’ versus ‘supporting’ information. Address what, how and where core 
and supporting information should be presented. ( R38) 

Concept 1: Select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit test, and is 
sufficiently timely  

Select information to meet users’ needs, satisfies the cost benefit test constraints on information, and 
is sufficiently timely. (R4) 

The concept, as currently worded notes that information selected should be sufficiently timely. A 
possible unintended consequence of this wording is that this may be interpreted as implying that 
information is not sufficiently timely, it might not be presented. We suggest that this be clarified in any 
explanatory guidance developed. (R4) 

Select accurate (or verifiable) information should be added, with the consideration of QCs (especially 
verifiability). (R5) 

Edits - “Select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit and materiality 
considerations, and is timely. (R8) 

Concept 1 appears to focus only on financial statements and notes thereto and needs to be 
expanded to provide guidance on other information reported in the GPFRs. (R10) 

Emphasise the need to ensure that excessive disclosures do not obscure the information that is 
included in the GPFR (R14) 

Materiality is a critical element in the selection of information to be disclosed, and its presentation 
(R14) 

Each item of data that is specifically required to be disclosed at the standards level should be 
carefully tested for its relevance to the reporting objectives of the information area (R14) 

Why single out the qualitative characteristic of timeliness, but not others like relevance and faithful 
representation? Another concern is that, although timeliness is a characteristic of information that 
meets user needs, proposed presentation concept 1 mentions information that is ‘sufficiently timely’ 
in addition to mentioning information that meets user needs. (R18) 

More emphasis could possibly be placed on the tradeoff between timeliness and accuracy. (R28) 

The information presented should satisfy all QCs but must be obtained in a timely manner on a cost 
effective basis. One of the most significant QCs is representational faithfulness. All material 
transactions and events should be presented in a complete manner that conveys their substance 
rather than its legal or other form. (R29) 

Concept 1 contained a few ideas that can be further explained and developed as individual concepts 
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(R30), including: 
• The idea of providing sufficient information; 
• The idea of prioritization of information and the related implications on the “where” and “how” 

decisions for items of different levels of priority; 
• The idea of avoiding information clutter and overload; 
• The idea about timing and frequency of issuing GPFRs; and 
• The idea of considering whether value would be added to GPFR as a whole and the risk of 

information omission in presentation decisions.   
We suggest not getting into a quantitative test in the discussion of cost benefit effectiveness. 

Aggregation and disaggregation are discussed in paragraph 6.5 and we consider that the Framework 
should explain why aggregation is useful (which goes beyond simply understandability) and 
disaggregation is necessary or desirable (rather than simply relying on the QCs of relevance and 
reliability). (R19) 

Completeness – the emphasis on ‘display’ or ‘core information’ should not be allowed to obscure the 
need for statements to be complete.  A Statement of Financial Position, for example, needs to 
include all assets and liabilities, and not only those that are ‘core’. (R19) 

Cost benefit Under paragraphs 6.6 – 6.10 on the cost and benefit of providing information, the costs 
of effort required by users to interpret and analyse information seems to be over-emphasized, and 
there seems to be a lack of discussion and consideration of the benefits of disclosure from the users’ 
perspective. (R38) 

Disagreement with Concept 1 
As we have noted above, we consider that the first concept is an integral part of the identification of 
the reporting objectives for an information area and hence deals with broader matters than 
presentation.  For example, in the case of the financial statements information area, many of the 
decisions relative to that concept are determined by the definition of the elements. (R14) 

Concept 2: Locate information to meet user needs  

While we agree with the concept, we do not support the opening sentence on paragraph 6.15 which 
states that: “Information location can provide users with important signals about information’s 
verifiability”. It appears that this sentence equates verifiability with assurance. We are of the view that 
because verifiability is an overriding qualitative characteristic of information, it should be verifiable 
regardless of its location. (R4) 

Include concept 2 as a subset of concept 3: It appears logical to use the same approach with concept 
2 (WHERE information should be located) by including it as a sub-concept of concept 3 (HOW 
information should be organized), since location is not a common critical concept applicable to all 
categories of information in the GPFRs. (R10) 

Concept 2 is too broadly phrased to be useful to preparers of GPFRs.  Additionally, comparability 
should  be a consideration when determining where information is located. (R16) 

Add discussion that the location of an item in a set of financial statements will depend on such 
matters as (R18): 

(a) whether the item itself meets the definition and recognition criteria for an element of financial 
statements.  This is mentioned briefly in paragraph 1.7 of the CP, but warrants discussion in 
Section 6 (integrally with other discussion of where to locate information in a GPFR); and 
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(b) the nature of the information about that item (for example, disclosures about measurement 
uncertainties and of a sensitivity analysis might need to be made in notes, due to their volume and 
complexity). 

With regards to Concept 2, we do not consider that the QC ‘timeliness’ to be relevant to where 
information is presented. (R19) 

In relation to “where information should be located”, more guidance may be given regarding the 
display and disclosure of non-financial information. (R28) 

Disagreement with Concept 2 
We consider that the second and third concepts are more disclosure principles than presentation 
concepts. (R14) 

The determination of where information and how information for GPFRs should be left to the 
preparer. (R29) 

Concept 2 should be excluded because information cannot be located to meet user needs. 
Information can be selected to meet user needs. Location of information may enhance 
understanding, but meeting user needs appears overstretched. Also, we do not agree that the 
location of information would affect its relevance, timeliness, verifiability or representation 
faithfulness. (R30) 

Concept 3: Organize information to make important relationships clear and support 
comparability 

Organising information can also ensure or enhance faithful representation. For example, decisions 
about organising assets and liabilities appropriately may ensure that they are not offset against one 
another, which would ensure faithful representation of the transactions as well as the entity’s financial 
position. (R4) 

Include ‘consistency’ as we believe that consistency is also an important characteristic of high-quality 
presentation. (R8) 

Include concept 2 as a subset of concept 3. See Concept 2 for further information. (R10) 

Relationships between different information – good presentation should bring out important 
relationships between different aspects that are reported.  For example, it is useful to report the cost 
of services in a manner that permits comparison with the amount of revenue that has been derived 
from or to support them. The discussion in paragraphs 6.18-6.23 needs to bring this out: as presently 
drafted it focuses almost entirely on relationships reported in different parts of the GPFRs. (R19)  

With respect to “how information should be organised”, further guidance may be provided regarding 
the structure of GPFRs and the relationship between financial and non-financial information. (R28) 

Concept 3 contained two concepts that should be separated as individual concepts (R30): 
• The concept of organizing information to make important relationships clear; and  
• The concept of comparability. 

We support the concept of “organizing information to make important relationships clear” and the 
related presentation techniques identified in the Consultation Paper, but not the description of this 
concept. In particular, we do not see introducing the terms “enhancement”, “similarity” and “shared 
purpose” useful in explaining this concept. In many cases, the examples provided did not align with 
the relationships the terms contained. Describing the important relationships in these three terms 
may restrict the consideration of other important relationships. (R30) 
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Disagreement with Concept 3 
We consider that the second and third concepts are more disclosure principles than presentation 
concepts. (R14) 

The determination of where information and how information for GPFRs should be left to the 
preparer. (R29) 

Further Concepts  

Further concepts proposed by respondents were: 

Sufficient information 
• Provide all information necessary to ensure fiscal transparency and sustainability, which will 

involve (a) reporting against budget; (b) reporting on an accrual basis, and (c) providing full 
disclosure. (R2) 

• Concepts should address (a) completeness of information, (b) aggregation and disaggregation of 
information, and (c) the relationship between different information. (R19)  

• Information should also be selected to meet legislative and regulatory requirements. (R20) 
• Sufficient information (in terms of scope and depth) required to meet the objectives of the GPFR 

should be presented to ensure a complete and unbiased understanding. (R30) 
Avoid information overload 
• Disclosures should be sufficient but also clear with preparers encouraged to eliminate disclosures 

that are not material in the context of the entity in question. (R24) 
• Information should be prioritized in terms of relevancy in meeting user needs. Presentation 

should reflect their relative priority. (R30) 
• Excessive information presented in GPFR would result in information overload and distract users 

from getting an uncluttered view of the core information. (R30) 
• Avoid unnecessary detail and ensure that the the extent of detail disclosed in financial reports is 

approriate. (R35) 
Understandability 
• Achieve a balance between information overload and summarization, so that understandability is 

maximized, but is also balanced against other qualitative characteristics and constraints. (R7)  
• Information should be presented in an understandable manner. (R30) 

Consistency 
• The scope, key indicators and the basis of key measures should be consistent from one reporting 

period to another. (R30) 
Timing and frequency 
• A separate concept dealing with the frequency of reporting, focused on the “when information is 

presented” question. (R11) 
• The timing and frequency of preparation and issuance of GPFR should ensure that information 

presented in GPFR is meaningful and relevant to users. (R30) 
Decision making, responsibilities, and assurance (R30) 
• Presentation decisions should be evaluated on the resulting value to the GPFR as a whole and 

the risk of doing otherwise.  
• Selection of the appropriate presentation tools or techniques should consider the nature and 

characteristics of the information.  
• The responsibility for the preparation and approval of the GPFR should be clearly communicated 

in the report. 
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• The fact that the GPFR is or is not subject to independent audit or review should be clearly 
communicated in the report. Where appropriate, the report of the independent auditor or reviewer 
should be appended to the GPFR. 

• Users should be advised that GPFR as a whole provides information that meet user needs in that 
subject matter. Each type of information has its function and is of equal importance. The report 
should be read and considered in its totality to ensure a comprehensive and unbiased 
understanding. 
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Respondents by Region, Function and Language 

Breakdown by Region 

1. Europe was the region with the largest number of respondents (37%), followed by North America 
(16%) and Australasian and Oceania (13%). 

Region Submissions  Total Percentage

Africa and the Middle East 4, 17, 23, 25 4 10 

Asia 5 1 3 

Australasia and Oceania 13, 14, 16, 18, 26 5 13 

Europe 
1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 11, 19, 22, 24. 27, 28, 31, 34, 
35 

14 36 

Latin America and the 
Caribbean 

20, 21, 37 3 8 

North America 12, 15, 29, 30, 33, 36, 39 7 18 

International 2, 8, 10, 32, 38 5 13 

Total  39 100 

Respondents by Region 

 
 

 

Africa & Middle East 10%

Asia 3%

Australasia  and Pacific 13%

Europe 36%

Latin America and 
Caribbean 8%

North America 18%

International 13%
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Breakdown by Function 

2. Preparers, standard setters/standards advisory bodies, and IFAC member bodies were the three 
largest group of respondents, together accounting for almost three quarters of respondents. 

Function Submissions Total Percentage

Preparer  9, 10, 12, 13, 15, 22, 29, 33, 36, 39  10 26 

Audit Office 6, 16, 17, 28, 35 5 13 

Standard Setter/ Standards 
Advisory Body 

1, 4, 14, 18, 19, 20, 27, 30, 31 9 23 

Member Body (national or regional) 3, 5, 7, 11, 24, 25, 26, 32, 37 9 23 

Other1 2, 8, 21, 23, 34, 38 6 15 

Total  39 100 

 

Respondents by Function  

 
 

  

                                                      
1 This category includes two individuals, an academic, an accountancy firm, the board of a professional journal, and the World Bank. 
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Breakdown by Language 

3. The majority of respondents were English-speaking (58%). 

Language Submissions Total Percentage 

English 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 24, 26, 27, 29, 
30, 32, 33, 35, 36 

22 56 

Non-English 1, 5, 6, 9, 11, 17, 20, 21, 22, 31, 34, 39 11 31 

Combination 23, 25, 28, 35, 38 5 13 

Total   39 100 

Respondents by Language 

 

 

English 56%

Non‐English 31 %

Combination 13%



Agenda Item 2C.2 CP, Presentation Respondents’ Comments 
IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Page 1 of 107 

STAFF COLLATION OF RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION PAPER PRESENTATION 
Purpose: 
To present the Staff summary of the comments received on Consultation Paper (CP), Presentation. 

(Note: This collation includes only key extracts of each response received to the CP. These extracts have been grouped to identify respondents’ 
views on the Specific Matters for Comment (SMCs) set out in the CP as well as the key issues identified by staff. In some cases, an extract may 
not do justice to the full response. This collation should therefore be read in conjunction with the submissions themselves.) 

Table of Contents for this Agenda Paper: 
Section  Page 

List of Respondents 2

General Comments 4

SMC 1 32

SMC 2 56

SMC 3 73

SMC 4 83

SMC 5 94

SMC 6 100
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List of Respondents: 
Response 

# Respondent Name Country Function 

001 Conseil de Normalisation des Comptes Publics (CNOCP) France  Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

002 International Consortium on Governmental Financial Management (ICGFM) Supranational Other (Academic and Professional) 

003 Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Ireland Ireland Member or Regional Body 

004 Secretariate, Accounting Standards Board, South Africa South Africa Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

005 Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants Japan Member or Regional Body 

006 Swedish National Audit Office Sweden Audit Office 

007 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) United 
Kingdom Member or Regional Body 

008 The World Bank International Other  

009 Swedish National Financial Management Authority Sweden Preparer 
010 United Nations System Task Force on Accounting Standards International  Preparer 
011 Institute der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) Germany Member or Regional Body 
012 Department of Finance, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador  Canada Preparer 
013 Heads of Treasuries Accounting and Reporting Advisory Committee (HoTARAC) Australia Preparer 

014 New Zealand Accounting Standards Board (XRB) New Zealand Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

015 Ministry of Finance, Government of Ontario  Canada  Preparer  
016 Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG) Australia  Audit Office 

017 Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority (ADAA) United Arab 
Emirates Audit Office 

018 Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) Australia Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

019 Committee on Accounting for Public Benefit Entities, Accounting Standards 
Board, United Kingdom 

United 
Kingdom Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

020 Conselho Federal de Contabilidade Brazil Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

021 Denise Silva Ferreira Juvenal Brazil Other (Individual) 

022 Direction Général des Finances Publiques (DGFIP) France Preparer  

023 Felicitas T. Irungu Kenya Other (Individual) 

024 Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) United 
Kingdom Member or Regional Body 
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Response 
# Respondent Name Country Function 

025 Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda (iCPAR) Rwanda Member or Regional Body 

026 Joint Accounting Bodies (CPA Australia, Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia, and Institute of Public Accountants) Australia Member or Regional Body 

027 Local Authority [Scotland] Accounts Advisory Committee (LASAAC) United 
Kingdom Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

028 National Audit Office, Malta Malta Audit Office 
029 Provincial Comptroller, Province of Manitoba Canada  Preparer 
030 Staff, Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB), Canada Canada  Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

031 Swiss Public Sector Financial Reporting Advisory Committee Switzerland Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 

032 Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) International Member or Regional Body 

033 Treasury Board of Canada Canada Preparer 

034 Liudmila B.Trofimova  Russia Other (Academic) 

035 Wales Audit Office/ Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru United 
Kingdom Audit Office 

036 Government, Province of British Columbia Canada Preparer 

037 Institute of Chartered Accountants, Jamaica Jamaica Preparer 

038 Ernst & Young, Global International Accountancy Firm 

039 Financial Controller, Quebec Province Canada Preparer 
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General Comments on the CP: 
R# 

GENERAL COMMENTS STAFF COMMENT 

001 The CNoCP once again expresses reservations on the scope of the GPFRs, as it has 
already done on the consultation papers previously issued on the Conceptual Framework. 
Definitely, the CNoCP considers that the accounting standard setters are not qualified for 
GPFRs. 
Moreover, the CNoCP wishes to point out that the Consultation Paper refers to some 
elements of phase 1 to 3 of the Conceptual Framework, which have not been officially 
approved so far: therefore it can hardly be grounded on those concepts. As a 
consequence, the CNoCP suggests that the schedule of this Consultation Paper be 
moved, to be able to take into consideration those structuring elements, which have not 
been completed yet. 
The CNoCP eventually points out that this document should aim at helping accounts 
producers to set up reporting statements, in adequacy with the needs of such various 
users as citizens, citizen representatives and investors. 
The various types of users and their different needs, together with the lack of precise 
definition nor framing of the General Purpose Financial Reports (“GPFRs”) is likely to 
explain that the document indulges in too many generalizations, and appears to be 
difficult to grasp. At the end of the day, its usefulness becomes questionable. 

Comments opposing the more 
comprehensive scope noted. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. It has been 
considered as part of Phase 1. 
 
Comments on dependency and timing 
noted. This issue is covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
Point noted and covered under Issue 1 
in Agenda Item 2C.0.  

002 The ICGFM welcomes the opportunity to respond to the IPSAS Consultative Paper (CP) 
on the Conceptual Framework for GPFR by Public Sector Entities: Presentation in 
GPFRs. We are pleased to see the IPSASB address presentation issues since much of 
the financial data presented is not clearly understood by many governmental decision 
makers. Additional general comments are as follows: 
a. We would not consider this as part of a Conceptual Framework. Rather it is a 

statement of overall goals and standards for the individual IPSAS. 
b. The whole point about financial statements is to enhance fiscal transparency, yet 

this concept is mentioned only once, and not even as one of the objectives. 
c. It does not address the question as to why sovereign governments should provide 

financial statements in addition to statistical reporting systems? What do financial 
statements add? For example in the Eurozone sovereign financial performance 
and risk is judged exclusively using the statistical reports produced under Eurostat 
rules (similar to GFS). Very few are interested in government financial statements.  

d. It does not begin to address the assumption in IPSAS that accrual is superior to 
cash - how can a conceptual framework not address an underlying assumption 
that is regularly challenged? 

 
 
The issue of whether the proposals are 
really “concepts” is raised by several 
respondents, but the majority 
considered them to have the character 
of concepts, even where they did not 
support them.  
 
 
Point with respect to impact of GFS 
reporting noted. 
 
Points (c) and (d) appear to be outside 
Phase 4’s scope. 
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R# 
GENERAL COMMENTS STAFF COMMENT 

We would also like the following specific comments to be considered: 

a) At the end of the third bullet in paragraph 1.4, we would like to see the following 
added: "and the costs of these services are not passed on to future generations. If 
there are legitimate reasons for inter-generational transfers, these should be 
disclosed." 

b) In paragraph 2.11, we would argue that there are two types of supporting 
information: required (to elaborate on data reflected on the face of the statements) 
and optional (to provide trend information over the past 10 or so years, i.e. budget 
deficits, tax rates, etc.) 

c) In paragraph 4.3, we would recommend the following: 
i. At the end of bullet three, add “and the costs of these services are not passed on 

to future generations. If there are legitimate reasons for inter-generational 
transfers, these should be disclosed.” 

ii. Bullet six is too subjective and should be deleted. 
d) In paragraph 4.4, we would add the following to the Objective: “and to hold 

responsible officials accountable for the decisions made.” 
e) In paragraph 6.4, some users look for answers to the following questions: 1. Has 

fiscal discipline been applied? (budgetary information) and 2. Has fiscal sustainability 
been maintained? (accrual information). 3. Has the fundamental concept of fiscal 
transparency been met? (full disclosure). These are not adequately addressed in this 
list. 

f) In paragraph 6.23, we would add “to determine the degree of fiscal discipline” to 
subparagraph a. Also add “such as Gross Debt to Gross Domestic Product to 
determine degree of fiscal sustainability” to subparagraph b. 

 
 
 
 
 
Detailed changes that can be 
considered once decisions have been 
made on the major issues. 
 
 
 

003 None  

004 None  
005 None  
006 None  
007 1. In developing responses to other parts of the IPSASB Conceptual Framework, and in 

providing similar comments on frameworks developed by other national and 
international standard setters, CIPFA has been continually aware of the interaction 
between different parts of frameworks. It is often very difficult to separately articulate 
one conceptual area which informs standard setting decisions without discussing other 
conceptual areas which impact upon the same decisions.  
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R# 
GENERAL COMMENTS STAFF COMMENT 

2. It is particularly difficult to separately discuss the beneficial and effective presentation 
of information without considering the other desirable characteristics of that 
information. However, if such a separation is not achieved, it can be very difficult to 
avoid overcomplicating the discussion. 

3. Much of the previous thinking on presentation has been grounded in financial 
statements, and unless this is discussed in terms of high level concepts it can be very 
difficult to avoid over specificity. There is also a significant risk that the discussion of 
presentation be overly concerned with resolving the tension between presentation 
objectives and the other desirable characteristics of financial reporting information.   

4. In CIPFA’s view at a conceptual level it is essential that 
- The discussion of presentation in the Conceptual Framework should be brief and 

high level, and principally focussed on understandability.  
- While a general reference should be made to the other qualitative characteristics 

and constraints, and the need to resolve the tension between these, any detailed 
discussion of this should be carried out at standards level. 

5. CIPFA recognises that during standard setting it will always be necessary to make 
presentation decisions which draw a balance between understandability and the other 
qualitative characteristics and constraints. All of these are essential considerations 
when making specific presentation decisions. It is also necessary for information which 
is presented to be relevant. However, we do not consider that it is helpful to comment 
on these in any depth in this section of the Conceptual Framework and it would be 
difficult to do this in a way which improved the readability and understandability of the 
Framework. 

6. For the purposes of the Conceptual Framework it would be sufficient to recognise that 
there is a tension between the different qualitative characteristics and constraints, and 
that this needs to be resolved when developing individual standards. Considerations 
relating to relevance will, in addition, be emphasised both when determining that a 
subject matter is an appropriate topic for discussion in standards, and when 
determining the detailed content of standards.  

7. CIPFA supports a number of aspects of the Consultation Paper which have the effect 
of keeping the conceptual framework discussion brief and understandable. However, in 
line with our comments above, some of the discussion is overly detailed, and would be 
better discussed in more concrete terms during the development of specific standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Importance of keeping concepts high 
level and not overly detailed noted. 
This issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0 and is also raised 
with respect to issues related to 
specific proposals in the CP, including 
the presentation techniques. 
 
 
 

008 We fully support the Board’s efforts on presentation concepts.  
009 We appreciate the work performed by IPSASB and find the resulting paper highly relevant 

and interesting. It is an interesting theoretical discussion on the presentation issue. 
 
Concern noted that there needs to be 
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R# 
GENERAL COMMENTS STAFF COMMENT 

However, we are of the opinion that the technique of optimizing the presentation of 
financial reports also has to consider demands and limitations deriving from national 
constitutional and other lawful background. 
We hope the comments given will be useful in your continuing work. We would like to take 
this opportunity to express our support for the development of International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards and a framework for financial reporting. 

consideration of the demands and 
limitations deriving from national 
constitutional and other lawful 
background.  
 

010 The Task Force has the following general comments on the Consultation Paper (CP):    
(a) The position of the Task Force on reporting non-financial information in the GPFRs 

remains unchanged as previously discussed in the Task Force’s submission on the 
CP on Reporting Service Performance Information provided to the IPSASB recently 
as well as in the submission on CF-ED1 prepared in 2011 and in the submission on 
the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public 
Sector Entities prepared in 2009.  IPSAS Board should not prescribe the content or 
format of non-financial information to be reported.  Governing bodies set 
requirements and presentation parameters for non-financial information reported by 
public sector organizations. 

(b) The Task Force realizes that this CP is a first step in an attempt to issue guidance in 
a new area which was not previously addressed by other standard-setters; hence 
there is a scope for improvement of the CP, as follows: 
• By reducing repetitive cross references between ideas/concepts which have 

been presented in the paper and maintaining references only when they are 
necessary for supporting the discussion, to avoid duplication and confusion and 
to improve logical flow of concepts.  This applies both to flow of the discussion 
and to formulation of specific matters for comment (SMC).  

• By developing each new idea fully by providing a supporting discussion. At this 
point the discussion often stops shortly after introducing an idea and in some 
cases the CP appears to call for respondents to develop a newly introduced idea 
by including open-ended questions in the SMC. Even in cases where the CP 
includes more specific questions it might be premature for respondents to form 
an opinion if an idea to which the question relates was not sufficiently explained.  

• By supporting theoretical concepts with a more robust discussion of practical 
applications of the proposed approach and all of its elements, including but not 
limited to an overall cost-benefit analysis as well as a brief overview of benefits 
of introducing / complying with each proposed concept / idea.  Perhaps the 
Board may consider results of the cost-benefit analysis carried out by 
jurisdictions whose experience was reviewed in preparing the CP. Discussion of 
main advantages of the proposed approach would strengthen the focus of the 

 
Comments opposing the more 
comprehensive scope noted. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. It has been 
considered as part of Phase 1. 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
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CP. 
Many of the issues identified above are reflected in the detailed comments of the 
Task Force attached as Appendix 2. Taking into account structural issues identified 
above and in light of the IPSASB’s pioneering the area of presentation of information 
in the GPFRs, the Board might consider re-exposing this CP after introducing 
necessary improvements.  The feedback received on this CP may assist in 
identifying issues which need to be further developed as well as possible 
reformulation of questions before re-exposure. 

(c) Presentation is a difficult area for introduction of definitive rules beyond what is 
already included in the IPSAS standards; this should be acknowledged by the 
CP. It would be very useful if the CP included a discussion on flexibility (if any) in 
terms of compliance with the proposed presentation approach for a reporting 
entity. Many reporting entities may fully comply with the standards and the 
Conceptual Framework in preparing the GPFSs but may find it onerous to comply 
with the presentation approach proposed by the CP for information included in 
the GPFRs other than the GPFSs. The Task Force suggests that this issue is 
addressed before the CP progresses to the Exposure Draft. The Task Force also 
proposes that the Phase 4 of the Conceptual Framework acknowledges a 
prominent role of a reporting entity in making decisions on presentation of 
information in the GPFRs.  

(d) Other documents issued by the IPSASB also address presentation of financial 
statements and other information, as follows: 
• IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, outlines in paragraph 1:  

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the manner in which general 
purpose financial statements should be presented to ensure 
comparability both with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods 
and with the financial statements of other entities.  To achieve this objective, 
this Standard sets out overall considerations for the presentation of 
financial statements, guidance for their structure, and minimum 
requirements for the content of financial statements prepared under the 
accrual basis of accounting. 

• The CP, Reporting Service Performance Information, states in Section 5, 
paragraphs 5.1 to 5.23: 
The previous section (Section 4) discusses the dimensions of service 
performance information and associated issues. This section describes 
how these dimensions of service performance can be recognized as 
components and presented in a GPFR.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments on the role of the preparer 
noted. This issue is noted in Agenda 
Item 2C.0 within the context of Issues 
2, 3 and 5. 
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The research identified that although no two jurisdictions have identical 
service performance reporting presentation frameworks that are 
required or encouraged to be followed within GPFRs, there are 
similarities in the presentation of service performance information 
reported.  The similar service performance information components 
identified within these frameworks include:  
(a) Information on the scope of the service performance information 
reported;  
(b) Information on the public sector entity’s objectives;  
(c) Information on the achievement of objectives; and  
(d) Narrative discussion of the achievement of objectives.  

• The Exposure Draft 47, Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis, 
identifies in paragraph 1: 
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the manner in which 
financial statement discussion and analysis should be prepared and 
presented.  To achieve this objective, this Standard sets out overall 
considerations for the guidance for its structure, minimum requirements for 
the content and presentation to allow entities to prepare financial statement 
discussion and analysis for their specific circumstances to assist users to 
understand financial statements.  

The Task Force therefore suggests that, before progressing to the Exposure Draft 
stage, the CP addresses the issue of potentially overlapping authority of the 
presentation approach developed by Phase 4 of the Conceptual Framework and 
other pronouncements of the IPSASB, many of which are also at the development 
stage (and hence their scope is not yet finalized).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Links with IPSASs and work-in-
progress taken into account in 
developing the CP.  
 

011 Consistency with Conceptual Framework Applicable to the Private Sector 
1. As stated in our letter dated June 15, 2011 on the Exposure Draft of Phase I of the 

IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework project, the IDW recognizes that there is a distinct 
need for a Conceptual Framework for general purpose financial reporting by the public 
sector. We continue to believe that, as stated in our letter to you dated March 31, 
2009, the discussion is of fundamental importance for the future development of 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards. A Conceptual Framework dealing 
with presentation issues will also undoubtedly be needed as the Board moves into 
other areas of financial reporting within the scope of GPFRs.  

2. We have previously stated our support for the IPSASB in now concentrating significant 
resources on bringing this important project forward, but expressed our concern as to 
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whether the IPSASB’s timetable may be overly optimistic, as it would essentially mean 
that the IPSASB would complete the project independently – and thus likely ahead – of 
the IASB’s Conceptual Framework Project.  

3. Indeed, in respect of this particular phase of the project we do not believe there is any 
real technical justification for there to be conceptual differences between the public and 
private sector. We note from paragraph 2.1, that the IPSASB intends to monitor other 
projects in this area, including that of the IASB, but believes that it can progress this 
project without waiting for these other projects to be finalized. Should the IPSASB 
retain this position, we would nevertheless urge the Board to confer with the IASB on 
the issues dealt with in this phase of the project prior to finalizing the project as a 
whole, with a view to ensuring differences can be eliminated to the full extent possible. 
In this context we would also like to caution against the use of different terminology 
unless there are pressing reasons, since this could result in a degree of irritation. 

Comments noted with respect to 
coordination with IASB work and 
development of concepts for reporting 
by private sector entities, and covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 

012 As stated in response to the previous phases of this project, the Province has concern 
with extending the scope of the Conceptual Framework; it is our position that the scope 
should be limited to historical information and not extended to include prospective and 
non-financial information. 
In extending the scope of the Conceptual Framework, the proposed concepts presented 
in the Consultation Paper are too broad and very abstract and has the potential of 
opening a Pandora’s Box of issues relating to financial reporting. The CP notes that the 
IPSASB is committed to developing a Conceptual Framework that minimizes the 
divergence from statistical financial reporting models. This creates concern as the 
concepts and principles that are included in the CP will not fully support the needs and 
objectives of preparing general purpose financial statements and may potentially erode 
the premise of generally accepted accounting principles. In particular, it is to be noted that 
the objectives of financial statements which relate to accountability and decision making 
are very different from the objectives of statistical reporting models that support 
macroeconomic analysis for the sectors of government and their impact on the economy.  
As such, the focus of the Conceptual Framework should be on principles and objectives 
that support financial statements and its specific presentation requirements rather than 
vague concepts that would allow it to support other reporting models.   

Concerns about the more 
comprehensive scope noted. This is 
covered under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 
2C.0. It has been considered as part of 
Phase 1. 
Comments that concepts are too broad 
to be useful noted. This is covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
Concerns that trying to develop a 
Conceptual Framework that minimizes 
the divergence from statistical financial 
reporting models would be a mistake 
are noted.  

013 Overall HoTARAC broadly supports developing a Conceptual Framework for 
presentation. HoTARAC agrees that presentation of financial information should be driven 
by users’ information needs and the qualitative characteristics (QCs) developed in the 
Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities 
Phase 1 (December 2010).  
HoTARAC also supports paragraph 1.9 on acknowledging the challenges and the benefits 
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of evolving technology in developing the Conceptual Framework for presentation.  
However, HoTARAC has some concerns that the proposals: 

• create greater divergence between the International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards Board (IPSASB) and International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
Framework without justification in terms of public sector issues (in the general 
comments below, HoTARAC has reiterated some of the comments submitted on 
earlier phases of the Framework); and 

• place high level principles, such as presentation objectives, at the standard level 
rather than in the Framework and include material for presentation concepts and 
techniques that are too detailed for the Framework (again HoTARAC has 
reiterated earlier comments on the Framework including high level principles 
below). 

In addition, HoTARAC is not convinced the proposals will substantially assist users and 
preparers of General Purpose Financial Reports (GPFRs) as: 

• the definitions of, and distinction between, core and supporting information are 
not sufficiently explained and need clarification; and 

• the QCs are sufficient to guide the information included in GPFRs and the overlay 
descriptions and definitions, at times redefining terminology, are unnecessary.  

HoTARAC’s concerns are explained in greater detail below and in the responses to the 
Specific Matter for Comment. 
Presentation: Core information and supporting information 
In principle, HoTARAC supports the development of the distinction between core and 
supporting information that can be applied to the IPSASB’s broader definition of GPFRs. 
This approach is applicable to financial statements but also to a range of other public 
sector financial reports and hence will be useful in the development of future IPSASs.  
However, at least one HoTARAC jurisdiction would prefer that the presentation 
Framework focuses more explicitly on General Purpose Financial Statements (GPFSs), 
given their relative importance and consistent with the approach taken in earlier phases of 
the Framework in regards to the definition, recognition and measurement of elements of 
GPFSs. HoTARAC’s detailed comments on this issue are outlined in our response to 
Specific Matter for Comment 1 below. 
Presentation Concepts and Presentation Techniques 
In HoTARAC’s view the QCs are sufficient to guide the information included in GPFRs 
without the need for additional conceptual underlay. HoTARAC does not support the three 
proposed presentation concepts and presentation techniques of Section 6. In HoTARAC’s 
view these are not high level principles and are too detailed for inclusion in a Conceptual 

 
Concerns with respect to divergence 
between the IPSAS and IASB 
frameworks noted, and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
Concerns with respect to specific 
proposals in the CP noted and 
included under relevant issues in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concern that the concepts should 
focus on GPFSs rather than GPFRs 
noted and covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns with respect to specific 
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Framework. 
HoTARAC is of the view that these are explanatory guidance on the application of the 
concepts, in particular regarding the QCs, rather than concepts and should not be 
included in the Framework.  
HoTARAC’s detailed comments on this issue are outlined in our response to Specific 
Matter for Comment 2 below. 
HoTARAC previous comments on the development of IPSASB Conceptual 
Framework 
HoTARAC raised a number of points in its response to the earlier exposure drafts and 
consultation papers (CPs) on IPSASB’s Public Sector Conceptual Framework and 
reiterates some of these points as they are pertinent to the proposals in this CP. 
Convergence with IFRS 
HoTARAC reiterates it’s comments submitted to phases 1, 2 and 3 of the Conceptual 
Framework project that the IPSASB and the IASB’s Frameworks should, where possible, 
be consistent, acknowledging that there may be circumstances where divergence is 
appropriate to better address situations and transactions unique to the public sector. 
HoTARAC again notes the IPSASB’s comment on page 4 of the CP that ‘the purpose of 
the IPSASB’s project is not to interpret the application of the IASB Framework to the 
public sector’. HoTARAC believes the IPSASB’s “Process for Reviewing and Modifying 
IASB Documents” is, at least partly, applicable to the development of a Conceptual 
Framework – particularly if alignment (to the degree appropriate) with IFRS is to remain 
an objective. 
HoTARAC’s preference continues to be that the IPSASB and IASB work more closely to 
achieve convergence of their respective Conceptual Frameworks and other 
pronouncements. Even if this would delay progress from an IPSASB perspective, 
HoTARAC believes such convergence would result in superior long-term outcomes for 
public sector entities globally. The greater the potential for divergence between 
pronouncements applicable to government business enterprises (issued by the IASB) and 
pronouncements applicable to other public sector entities (potentially issued by the 
IPSASB), the more significant are the practical difficulties in preparing consolidated 
financial statements for a whole-of-Government reporting entity. 
Conceptual Framework should include only high level principles 
HoTARAC also restates its comments that the IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework be 
restricted to high-level principles that are appropriate to reporting by the broad range of 
public sector entities. HoTARAC believes that issues relating to the practical application of 
those high-level principles only be dealt with at a standard level. 

proposals in the CP noted and 
included under relevant issues in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted with respect to 
linkage with IASB work and covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
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Form of the finalised Framework 
In light of the IPSASB’s arrangements for release of separate documents for each phase 
of its Conceptual Framework project, HoTARAC would also request, as it has for the 
earlier phases of the Conceptual Framework, clarification on whether the finalised 
Conceptual Framework will be issued, as:  

• one inter-connected document with self-contained chapters for particular matters;  
• one document setting out over-arching principles – which HoTARAC presumes 

relates to Phase 1 – with separate documents that deal with specific aspects, but 
which are all subject to the over-arching principles; or 

• some other arrangement.  
Consistency between the Framework and IPSASs 
HoTARAC reiterates its recommendation that the IPSASB clearly communicate to 
constituents how and when the eventual outcomes of the IPSASB’s Conceptual 
Framework project will be reflected in existing IPSASs, to ensure consistency across all 
IPSASB pronouncements. 
Application of the Framework to Economic Phenomena 
HoTARAC previously recommended that paragraph BC 3.2 from the Phase 1 Exposure 
Draft of the Public Sector Conceptual Framework (Phase 1) be elevated to the 
Framework: 
“IPSASs will not deal with all financial and non-financial information that may be included 
in GPFRs. In the absence of an IPSAS that deals with particular economic or other 
phenomena, assessments of whether an item of information satisfies the qualitative 
characteristics and constraints identified in this Conceptual Framework, and therefore 
qualifies for inclusion in GPFRs, will be made by preparers compiling the GPFRs. Those 
assessments will be made in the context of achieving the objectives of financial reporting, 
which in turn have been developed to respond to users’ information needs.” 
HoTARAC recommends a similar paragraph be included in the Exposure Draft for Phase 
4 to clarify that preparers exercise their judgment in determining the inclusion of 
information in the GPFRs not required by an IPSAS.  
Other Previous Comments 
HoTARAC would also urge the IPSASB to consider the following points raised in 
HoTARAC’s response to the previous phases of the IPSASB’s Public Sector Conceptual 
Framework project: 

• IPSASB should research the objectives of financial reporting.  
This would be useful in developing objectives for presentation. 

 
 
 
Note questions with respect to process 
and impact, which apply generally to 
the Framework and has been 
previously discussed by the IPSASB. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments on the role of the preparer 
noted. The role of the preparer vis a 
vis presentation is noted under issues 
2. 3 and 5 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Points relevant to Phase 1. 
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• Differential reporting and the acknowledgement in the framework of the different 
needs of users of GPFRs.  
HoTARAC agrees that user needs for particular information are paramount in 
determining the information provided in GPFRs. Accordingly, HoTARAC 
recommends that the Framework acknowledge that users of the GPFRs of 
entities presenting a lower risk – mostly smaller entities - have different 
information needs. This would be related to the cost-benefit test mentioned in 
paragraph 6.8 of the CP.   

• Different levels of assurance associated with the type of information provided in 
GPFRs.  
GPFRs contain a range of information from a variety of sources. There is a need 
for the Framework to acknowledge, in broad terms, that different levels of 
verifiability/assurance may be required for the various types of information 
contained in GPFRs. For example, the financial statements are usually subject to 
audit, while other information in GPFRs may be subject to less stringent review. 
In HoTARAC’s view this relates directly to the QCs of verifiability and reliability 
and is relevant to users in assessing information presented in GPFRs.  

• Materiality. 
HoTARAC reiterates its earlier comments made in response to the Phase 1, that 
the majority of HoTARAC jurisdictions view materiality as an entity-specific 
element of relevance, rather than a constraint on information. 

Guidance on whether Pronouncements are Voluntary or Mandatory 
On the basis that any pronouncements issued by the IPSASB meet the QCs, HoTARAC 
would also recommend the Conceptual Framework include some principles to guide 
IPSASB in determining whether a pronouncement should be voluntary or mandatory. This 
would assist, for example, with providing a basis for the proposed level of authority of the 
recently released Exposure Draft  47 Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis. 
Relationship of the QCs to Presentation Decisions 
HoTARAC notes that there is no Specific Matter for Comment on section 5 of the CP: 
Relationship of the QCs to Presentation Decisions. HoTARAC has offered some 
comments on presentation decisions under Specific Matter for Comment 3, but given the 
QCs underpin the guidance in the CP, we consider this an issue on which the IPSASB 
should actively seek constituents’ comments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Issue with respect to different levels of 
verifiability/assurance applicable to 
different types of information. 
 
 
 
 
Point relevant to Phase 1. 
 
 
 
Issue is outside Phase 4’s scope. 
 
 
 
 
Point noted. 
 

014 The IPSASB has taken on the development of a difficult part of the Conceptual 
Framework ahead of the rest of the world.  We congratulate the IPSASB on tackling this 
task and opening up presentation in respect of both non-financial and financial information 
areas for debate. In our opinion the conceptual basis for presentation in general purpose 
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financial reporting (GPFR) is a topic where views will evolve over time, with this 
Consultation Paper (CP) being an important first step. 
This ground breaking work has naturally built on existing work and thinking regarding the 
presentation of financial statements and service delivery achievements.  In considering 
the CP, we came to the conclusion that under existing thinking, presentation and 
disclosure issues are considered later than is optimal in the process of developing a 
conceptual framework.   
We would expect a Conceptual Framework to start, as it does today, with the objective of 
GPFRs.  However, rather than then moving into financial statement elements and 
measurement, we consider that a Conceptual Framework should: 

• Take the objective (in this case, meeting the needs of users) and consider what 
information that belongs in a GPFR is necessary to meet that objective; 

• Identify the various ways in which that information could be presented – options 
include in financial statements, notes, statements of service performance, 
integrated reporting; and 

• Identify how that information is to be defined, categorised, collated, measured 
and disclosed.  

The approach taken in developing this CP sits somewhere between the traditional model 
(where presentation and disclosure is considered towards the end of the standard-setting 
process, and focuses on specific disclosure requirements) and the approach identified 
above.  For example, the CP is designed to develop a presentation framework for all 
potential components of GPFRs, not just financial statements, but it then appears to have 
different views as to exactly what is meant by presentation.  Sometimes presentation 
appears to be the end point of a process of collating information (such as in paragraph 
2.7) and sometimes it appears to be the objective of an information area (such as in 
paragraph 4.4).  Therefore, the underlying concept of what is meant by “presentation” 
seems to fluctuate between a broader and narrower meaning. 
We recommend that, for consistency with the rest of the draft Conceptual Framework 
which is developed on the “traditional model”, the IPSASB consider presentation as the 
end point of the process and develop another term such as “reporting objective” to drive 
the development of the objective of including an information area in a GPFR (our later 
comments expand on this point).  We would not wish to see the IPSASB delay the 
completion of its Conceptual Framework by unnecessarily reopening earlier Phases.  This 
would also enable a coherent and consistent approach to developing presentation 
concepts, rather than mixing a much broader concept of “presentation” with the usual 
(and narrower) meaning.   
We hope that when the IPSASB comes to review its Conceptual Framework (say in 5 – 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments on different meanings for 
“presentation” noted and covered 
under Issue 2 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
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10 years), it will have the confidence to build on the knowledge it has gained in 
developing this first Conceptual Framework.  We anticipate that could lead to restructuring 
the development process as well as the content of a revised Conceptual Framework.  In 
an ideal world, we consider that a Conceptual Framework would take more of a top down 
view of a GPFR than any of the current frameworks, i.e. focus on what GPFR ideally 
should comprise rather than building concepts to support the current state of GPFR.   

 
 

015 In general, Ontario agrees that the proposed presentation standards should be included in 
IPSASB’s conceptual framework. Ontario and many other senior Canadian governments 
already follow many of the concepts described in the consultation paper in preparing our 
General Purpose Financial Statements, which are prepared based on Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards. However, we have concerns with IPSASB’s suggested 
expansion to develop standards for reporting other than that based on financial 
accounting.    
In June 2011, Ontario provided responses to IPSASB’s related proposals which will be 
integral to the development of the IPSASB’s conceptual framework (financial statement 
objectives and users, elements and recognition, and measurement of assets and 
liabilities).  Key issues raised in Ontario’s previous responses are equally valid to this 
consultation paper.  The fundamental issue of the scope of the conceptual framework 
being expanded beyond general purpose financial statements needs to be addressed to 
ensure that IPSASB standards are generally accepted by the public sector as relevant 
and appropriate to meeting user needs and serving the public interest.  Concepts 
described in the consultation paper are very broad and may not facilitate the desired 
comparability and consistency among public sector entities in regards to historical 
financial reporting.  
In contrast, the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAB) provides an 
excellent example of balance between providing guidance and flexibility in presentation. 
For example, the Canadian standards define concepts such as Net Debt (financial assets 
less liabilities) to ensure that it is consistently applied by preparers. However, PSAB is 
flexible enough to allow for presenting debt of consolidated organizations as a separate 
line item from provincial debt to provide more detail on the nature of Ontario’s liabilities.  
The consultation paper describes note disclosure as “supporting” information, precluding 
it from being “core” information. As input to PSAB, senior Canadian governments 
identified notes to general purpose financial statements as core information and therefore 
deserving of equal importance weighting with the statement of operations and the 
statement of financial position.   
Given the scope of the consultation paper for general purpose financial reports as 
opposed to general purpose financial statements, the content may be too broad to 

 
 
 
 
Concerns about the more 
comprehensive scope noted. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. It has been 
considered as part of Phase 1. 
 
 
 
Concern that the concepts are too 
broad to be useful noted and covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
Note that the IPSASB considered the 
possibility of concepts at this level of 
specification, but decided against this 
type of approach on the basis that it 
was standards level rather than 
conceptual. 
 
Equal importance of notes/supporting 
information noted and covered under 
Issue 2 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
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effectively address the practical presentation issues facing the public sector. We 
understand that the consultation paper has been drafted in broad terms to apply to a wide 
variety of reporting, however we feel the scope issue will create confusion and insufficient 
support when applying it to GPFS. Ontario strongly urges that IPSASB’s conceptual 
framework be developed to support high quality historic financial statements as a primary 
focus by the standard setting community, prior to considering the merits of applying 
general principles and concepts to other types of financial reporting.   

 
 
Concern that the concepts should 
focus on GPFSs rather than GPFRs 
noted and covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  

016 Consistent with our letter dated 31 March 2009 in response to the Consultation Paper on 
the conceptual framework, ACAG continues to support the long term objective of having a 
single worldwide reporting framework for application to both the public and private 
sectors. However, ACAG also believes that the establishment of two separate conceptual 
frameworks is necessary to reflect the differences in a number of accounting issues that 
exist, and will continue to emerge, between the public and private sectors. 
ACAG notes that the IPSASB’s strategy includes maintaining the alignment of 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) where appropriate for the public sector.  
ACAG commends the IPSASB for continuing to progress work on the Conceptual 
Framework while progress from the IASB on its Conceptual Framework has slowed. 
However, this Consultation Paper introduces new terminology and redefines existing 
terminology which may result in significant divergence between the Conceptual 
Frameworks developed by the IPSASB and the IASB in relation to presentation in general 
purpose financial reports. This may be at odds with the IPSASB’s strategy to maintain 
alignment of IPSASs with IFRSs.  
Therefore, ACAG recommends that the IPSASB should not finalise Phase 4 of of the 
Conceptual Framework until the IASB has progressed further its project on these matters. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns with respect to possibly 
inappropriate divergence between the 
IPSAS and IASB frameworks noted, 
and covered under Issue 1 in Agenda 
Item 2C.0.  
 
Timing issue noted and included under 
Issue 1. 

017 None  
018 General Comments: Relationship between the IPSASB and IASB Conceptual 

Framework projects 
The AASB supports the IPSASB’s development of a conceptual framework for public 
sector entities as a high priority project.  The AASB considers it important that the 
IPSASB and IASB Conceptual Frameworks are complementary, where differences (if 
any) exist only to the extent warranted by differences in circumstances.  This would 
support the development of International Public Sector Accounting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards that differ (if at all) only where necessary to 
deal with different economic phenomena or with economic phenomena that are much 
more pervasive in one sector than the other.  This approach is also likely to assist users 

Comments noted with respect to 
linkage with IASB work and the 
importance of avoiding unnecessary 
divergence with IASB concepts. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. 
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of general purpose financial reports (GPFRs) who read financial reports across all sectors 
in the economy. 
Such an outcome would foster the achievement of transaction neutrality, under which a 
given transaction or other event is accounted for the same way, regardless of the nature 
of the entity (whether for-profit or not-for-profit) and the sector in which the entity 
operates.  The AASB considers that transaction neutrality is important for helping to 
ensure information reported by any entity is relevant, representationally faithful and 
comparable. 
In light of the above, the AASB encourages the IPSASB and IASB to work together as 
closely as possible to achieve complementary Conceptual Frameworks and, in the 
development process, to leverage off each other’s work.  In this regard, the Memorandum 
of Understanding between the International Federation of Accountants and the IASB 
dated 22 November 2011 is a step in the right direction. 
In jurisdictions, such as Australia, that have a single Conceptual Framework (based on 
the IASB Conceptual Framework) for all reporting entities, complementary IPSASB and 
IASB Conceptual Frameworks would greatly assist with incorporating aspects of the 
IPSASB Conceptual Framework to address public-sector-specific issues. 
The AASB observes that the IPSASB is ahead of the IASB in addressing the topic of 
‘presentation’ in its Conceptual Framework project.  The AASB sees no problem in that, 
but strongly encourages the IPSASB to work with in the IASB in seeking common ground 
on this topic before it finalises its Conceptual Framework. 
Specific Comments 
The AASB applauds the IPSASB for addressing this difficult topic.  The AASB notes the 
CP usefully articulates some of the issues to be addressed in what is generally described 
as the ‘display’ component of a Conceptual Framework. 
However, overall, the AASB does not support the CP as an adequate basis for developing 
an Exposure Draft on this topic.  In summary, this is because the AASB:  
(a) considers that the CP has some important omissions that need attention; and  
(b) is concerned about the clarity and usefulness of some distinctions made in the 
CP.  
The AASB’s more significant specific concerns are summarised below and elaborated on 
in the Appendix to this letter.  The Appendix also sets out the AASB’s responses to the 
specific matters for comment in the CP. 
Significant concerns 
The AASB: 
(a) does not support the CP’s proposal to use ‘presentation’ as the term that 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
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encompasses the selection, location and organisation of information in GPFRs 
(see comments on Specific Matter for Comment 1(a) in the Appendix); 

(b) does not support the CP’s proposed distinctions between ‘core’ and ‘supporting’ 
information and between ‘display’ and ‘disclosure’ of information in GPFRs (see 
comments on Specific Matter for Comment 1(a) in the Appendix); 

(c) considers that decisions about presentation and disclosure principles should be 
preceded by decisions about the economic phenomena to be presented and 
disclosed.  As far as the AASB is aware, the IPSASB’s work to date on its draft 
Conceptual Framework has not attempted to identify those economic phenomena 
in a structured manner.  The AASB recommends that, to facilitate developing a 
coherent and structured set of objective-driven (rather than topic-driven) 
disclosures, the IPSASB should identify the general characteristics of an entity 
(selected economic phenomena) that should be the subject of general purpose 
financial reporting (see comments on Specific Matter for Comment 2(b)(i) in the 
Appendix); and 

(d) considers that applying the qualitative characteristics of useful financial 
information would not, of itself, identify the information that should be presented 
and disclosed in GPFRs.  The qualitative characteristics should be applied to 
information about the general characteristics of an entity, and therefore are not a 
substitute for identifying those characteristics (see comments on Specific Matter 
for Comment 2(b)(ii) in the Appendix).  

Specific issues included under relevant 
issues. 

019 1. We commend the IPSASB for tackling this difficult topic, however we found the paper 
to be somewhat confused and would benefit from a reorganisation to aid the flow of 
information. 

2. That said, we consider that the simple principle for presentation, which should be 
articulated, can be summed up as: 
The requirement for financial statements to give a true and fair view means that they 
need to include the right amount of information to be able to understand the key 
data.  This key data needs to be presented in a way that is clear and undue 
prominence should not be given to things not meriting such prominence.  The whole, 
taken together, should convey enough information for the reader to be able to 
understand the financial position of the entity. 

3. To assist in alleviating some of the confusion in the paper we suggest that because 
the term ‘presentation’ already has a common usage in financial reporting it should 
not be used but rather a different overarching term should be used. 

4. Further, ‘display’ and ‘disclosure’ in the context of the paper appear to be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and included under 
Issue 2 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
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synonymous with ‘core’ and ‘supporting’.  We suggest that information should be 
classified as either ‘primary’ or ‘supporting’.  The principle behind these two terms is 
that primary information will give a user AN understanding of an entity’s general 
purpose financial report (GPFR) but when coupled with supporting entity, a FULLER 
understanding will be attained. 

5. We would also like to see either in the existing presentation concepts or as new 
concepts detail on ‘completeness’, ‘aggregation and disaggregation’ and 
‘relationships between different information’.  Further detail is provided to our 
response to Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 5 in the Appendix. 

 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and included under 
Issue 4 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 

020 None   
021 None  
022 The DGFiP wonders about the relevance of the timetable for issuing this consultation 

paper which concerns the fourth phase of the conceptual framework project began in 
2008. Indeed, this CP refers to the consultations regarding phase 1, 2 and 3 of the 
conceptual framework project that are still in progress. At this stage, only phase 1 of 
conceptual framework gave rise to an almost definitive version. The IPSASB intends to 
issue EDs dealing with each of phases 2 and 3 of the Conceptual Framework  at the end 
of 2012.  
Thus, the DGFiP considers that it is inappropriate to comment this CP at this moment. 
In this respect, it is important to note that the definition of the scope of the public sector 
entities concerned by IPSASs is problematic considering the exclusion of government 
business enterprises (GBE). The IPSAS foreword states that “public sector entities 
include national governments, regional governments (for example, state, provincial, 
territorial), local government (for example, city, town) and their component entities (for 
example, departments, agencies, boards, commissions), unless otherwise stated. The 
standards do not apply to Government Buisiness Entreprises (GBEs). GBEs apply 
International Financial Reporting Standards(IFRSs) which are issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). IPSASs include a definition of GBEs”. In France, the 
definition of GBEs1 gives by IPSAS 22 excludes the social security organisations which 

Comments noted with respect to 
linkage with other phases of the 
Conceptual Framework and need to 
defer. This concern is covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. Staff 
does not agree that Phase 4 should be 
deferred until after other Phases have 
progress further. 
 
 
A separate project on GBEs has been 
approved. 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 IPSAS 22 define the GBEs as follow : « GBEs include both trading enterprises, such as utilities, and financial enterprises, such as financial institutions. GBEs are, in substance, no different from 

entities conducting similar activities in the private sector. GBEs generally operate to make a profit, although some may have limited community service obligations under which they are required to 

provide some individuals and organizations in the community with goods and services at either no charge or a significantly reduced charge. » 
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are private company under french law. Yet, considering their mission of public service and 
their source of funding the DGFiP considers that they should be included in the scope of 
the public sector entities and that a conceptual framework ought to leave room for such 
cases. 
Accordingly, the DGFiP maintains its positions expressed in its comments to the 
consultations to previous phases of the conceptual framework, namely: 
• Conceptual Framework should only address accounting matters, therefore it should 

only apply to general purpose financial statements (that is to say balance sheet, 
income statement and notes to the financial statements) of public sector entities. In 
our opinion, additional information should remain subject to national laws 
(performance, sustainability) . 

• the financial reporting should meet the needs of the primary user and their respective 
representatives, in particular the Parliament. The primary user comprises three 
different facets:  

• The user, as a recipient of public services, 
• The taxpayer, as financial contributor, 
• The citizen, as one who provides a mandate for public policies. 
Consequently, we consider that comments to this CP concerning the fourth phase of the 
conceptual framework should be deferred, in order to take into account the conclusions of 
each previous phase of the conceptual framework project. 

 
 
 
 
 
Concern that the concepts should 
focus on GPFSs rather than GPFRs 
noted and covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
Phase 1 has considered the users of 
GPFRs. 
 

023 None  
024 MAJOR POINTS 

Alignment with IASB conceptual framework  
1. We are aware that IASB is reviewing the conceptual framework for general purpose 

financial reporting and we are therefore concerned that this is running ahead of the 
IASB framework and more importantly, in a different direction. This is not helpful. 
ICAEW’s view is that IPSASB should not develop this framework outside of and in 
isolation of IASB. And whatever framework is eventually developed needs to align with 
the IASB conceptual framework as much as possible.  

Principles based 
2. ICAEW’s view is that the conceptual framework is too long and too complicated. It 

needs to be made simpler and more straight-forward and be much more principles-
based. Currently there are too many details about the practicalities.  The conceptual 
framework needs to remain at a high-level to avoid the need for constant revisions 
each time standards are revised and thus it is to some extent future-proofed.  We 

 
 
Concerns with respect to timing and 
divergence between the IPSAS and 
IASB frameworks noted, and covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
Concern that the coverage is too 
detailed noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. Note that 
some of this concern focuses on the 
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found some of the drafting very unclear. 
User needs 
3. There appears to be a tension between stakeholders in this framework and it is not 

clear whether primacy is being given to the users as citizens, service providers, capital 
markets or future taxpayers. Each group of user will have different needs and it will be 
difficult to meet the needs of all user groups. Our view is that the user groups need to 
remain narrow.   We are aware that IPSASB has already defined the users of public 
sector financial reports in Phase 1 of its conceptual framework  - namely service 
recipients (and their representatives) and resource providers (and their 
representatives) – but these may give a diversity of interests that is difficult to manage 
in financial reporting terms. 

4. The conceptual framework should not try to cover everything that everyone might want 
to know. There needs to be consideration of other forms of reports that might also 
already be available.  This chapter reads at the moment as if it is trying to produce 
financial reports to serve all purposes. 

Presentation 
5. There also needs to be clarity about which parts of the GPFR will be in the form of 

financial statements and hence audited. This needs to be articulated clearly and should 
align to the audit mandate. How much flexibility has been built into this within the 
conceptual framework?  There needs to be clarity about where the other information 
will sit in the GPFR and what status it will have.   

6. The presentation objectives under paragraph 4.3 appear to be overly ambitious. Our 
view is that this list is too long and it will not be easy to set standards based on this list.  
Following our point in paragraph 8 above, should the presentation objectives 
distinguish between those that are best served by the "hard" audited financial 
statements and those that are best provided in accompanying narrative material (for 
example, forward looking information) or in other reports that might be best provided 
outside the GPFR boundary (for example, environmental reports). 

7. In our view, there needs to be discipline in the financial reporting framework by 
focusing on auditability. A decent set of accounts that have been audited will engender 
certain confidence levels.  Other information that is provided on a different basis ought 
to be outside the financial reporting boundary. 

presentation techniques and are 
included under Issue 5. 
 
 
 
Issues of users and scope considered 
in Phase 1 of the Conceptual 
Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note the verifiability/assurance issue. 
This issue relates to the broad scope. 
It is included within Issue 1 of Agenda 
Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
Concern noted under Issue 3 of 
Agenda Item 2C.0. 

025 None  
026 In our earlier submissions on the different phases of the IPSASB conceptual framework 

we have consistently stated our preference for an international reporting framework 
comprised of a single set of concepts designed for application to all sectors and 
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encouraged the IPSASB to maintain dialogue with the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB)/Financial Accounting Standards Board on conceptual framework topics.    
There is much that is commendable about the IPSASB’s decision to expose its thinking 
on this important topic prior to it being addressed by the IASB.  However, given the 
comments from a speech made by Hans Hoogervorst in March 2012 that the IASB has 
both the completion of its conceptual framework and a review of disclosure requirements 
high on its agenda we encourage the IPSASB to closely monitor the work by the IASB in 
this area..  While acknowledging the final frameworks of the IPSASB and the IASB will not 
have a common scope we consider working in isolation on this project has  the potential 
to result in a significant  divergence in the frameworks of the IPSASB and the IASB as 
they apply to general purpose financial statements.  Any divergence may  prove 
problematic for transaction neutral jurisdictions like Australia, especially where  such  
jurisdictions choose to maintain the approach of one set of accounting standards and at 
the same time ensure that international investors understand that the financial statements 
of for-profit entities accord with the International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Concerns with respect to need to 
coordination with IASB and avoid 
divergence between the IPSAS and 
IASB frameworks noted, and covered 
under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 

027 LASAAC welcomes the focus on presentation especially in the context of recent United 
Kingdom debate on the length and usability of financial statements, in both the public and 
private sectors. 

 

028 None.  
029 The Province of Manitoba continues to question the appropriateness of including non-

financial and prospective information in a conceptual framework for accounting standards.  
The inclusion of non-financial and prospective information within the conceptual 
framework would require extensive time and resources to achieve.  The Province believes 
that the scope for the conceptual framework should be limited to general purpose financial 
statements (GPFS) which can be prepared in an objective manner and can be verified.  It 
is desirable to have standards for the consistent preparation of financial statements 
between jurisdictions, but there is less of a need for comparison for reports on service 
performance levels and prospective financial information. 
The Province of Manitoba does not support the inclusion of GPFRs within the IPSASB 
conceptual framework.  IPSASB pronouncements on reports beyond GPFS should be 
presented as non-authoritative guidelines.  There are significant differences between 
countries and jurisdictions within countries that apply IPSAS.  Decisions on the 
preparation of GPFRs should remain within the authority of the individual countries and 
jurisdictions. 
Generally we agree with the contents of the CP but we do not view the inclusion of 
GPFRs in the Conceptual Framework as appropriate for Canadian governments.  All of 

Concerns about the more 
comprehensive scope noted. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. It has been 
considered as part of Phase 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concern that the concepts should 
focus on GPFSs rather than GPFRs 
noted and covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
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the Province’s responses to the attached “Specific Matters for Comment” are for GPFS.    
030 Overall, the Consultation Paper seemed to be driven by concepts in Phase 1 of the 

Conceptual Framework (Phase 1) and the presentation of general purpose financial 
statements (GPFSs).  Discussions on the presentation decisions appeared operational 
rather than conceptual. In particular, discussion on the most important presentation 
decision of “what” for GPFRs appeared inadequate.    
Presentation concepts and principles scattered in the Consultation Paper need to be 
further expanded and integrated into a meaningful structure. We hope that our thoughts in 
this letter (and its appendix) would contribute towards the development of a high-quality 
presentation framework for GPFRs.         
Driven by Phase 1  
Phase 1 concepts and principles, when appropriate and relevant, should be included in 
the discussions. However, the presentation framework being a separate component of the 
Conceptual Framework, not an appendix of Phase 1, should introduce original thinking 
and add value to the Conceptual Framework as a whole. It should go beyond repeating, 
applying and interpreting the Phase 1 concepts to presentation of GPFRs.  
A presentation framework should provide a structure with guidance for development of 
future GPFR pronouncements and preparation of GPFRs. A structure may start with the 
proposed definition of presentation, followed by discussions on the “what”, “where” and 
“how” presentation decisions, and supplemented with general presentation principles that 
apply to all GPFRs (see suggestions in answer to Comment 5 in appendix.) 
A logical sequence of steps normally followed in developing a GPFR pronouncement 
and/or a GPFR should be part of the discussion of these presentation decisions (see 
suggestions below under the discussion of “Key Presentation Issues”.)  
Constrained by GPFSs 
The Consultation Paper was heavily influenced by the content, structure, format, layout 
and presentation rules of GPFSs. In some instances, they were imposed on GPFRs 
though they do not seem applicable or relevant.  
GPFS is a unique type of GPFRs. The primary focus of GPFS is on quantitative 
information. On the other hand, other GPFRs covering a wide range of topics may put 
more emphasis on qualitative information. The format and structure of GPFSs are well 
defined and have been generally accepted. IPSASB is still at its early stage of developing 
guidance for other GPFRs. The most appropriate structure and format of other GPFRs 
would likely depend on the content of the reports. The level of presentation consistency 
that can be achieved among different types of GPFRs would probably be limited. 
Presentation principles and concepts that work for GPFSs are not necessary appropriate 

 
 
 
Comments noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns that the concepts are too 
detailed and operational noted. This 
issue is covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
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or useful for other GPFRs.       
Expanding the scope of the presentation component of the Conceptual Framework to 
cover GPFRs requires developing broader principles and concepts that are general and 
yet meaningful enough for presentation in a wide range of possible GPFRs. 
Operational Details 
By definition, conceptual framework should provide high level concepts and principles. 
The discussions in the Consultation Paper, other than those involve application of Phase 
1 concepts, were primarily at the operational level. For example, the description of the 
presentation decisions in paragraph 5.2 addressed low level operational decisions such 
as totals.      
Key Presentation Issues 
The Consultation Paper identified three key presentation decisions. It provided a brief 
description for each decision without further elaboration on the considerations and issues 
involved in each type of the presentation decisions. A few operational level examples 
primarily related to GPFSs were provided. Application of the qualitative characteristics to 
the three presentation decisions identified in Table 1, particularly the “where” and “how” 
decisions, seems overstretched.  
Each of the key presentation decisions should be expanded to identify high level 
considerations and include related guidance. The discussions and examples should be 
applicable to all GPFRs. Concepts in Phase 1 should be included only when appropriate 
and relevant. The relationships among the three presentation decision should also be 
described.  
Unlike a typical IPSAS for GPFSs which addresses the accounting and reporting of a 
particular financial statement item or a type of transaction reported in GPFSs, the content 
of other GPFRs will be the main focus of GPFR pronouncements. The “what” decision, 
among the three presentation decisions, representing the content of GPFRs would be 
particularly important for other GPFRs. The decisions of “where” and “how” would be 
affected by the “what”.  
Below are examples, not an exhaustive list or comprehensive guidance, of what may be 
included in the key presentation decision discussions in the Conceptual Framework.  
What decision 
Decision regarding what information should be presented in a GPFR begins with an 
assessment of user needs for accountability assessment and decision-making and 
information gaps.  It involves identification of the following: 
Purpose and scope 

• the purposes or objectives of a GPFR based on information gap and user needs; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note proposals re. Development of the 
coverage. 
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and 
• the scope and boundary of the GPFR. 

Core information 
• key indicators most relevant for accountability and/or decision making  on the 

subject matter and information essential in meeting the objectives of the GPFR; 
• primary and secondary indicators, mandatory and optional indicators to consider, 

if applicable; and 
• key measures that faithfully represent the key, primary and secondary indicators. 

Supporting information 
• supporting information that explains and describes the key measures to ensure 

users acquire a complete and unbiased understanding of the key and other 
indicators (e.g., definitions, accounting policies, methodologies, major 
assumptions, recognition criteria.) 

Contextual information 
• contextual information that puts key indicators in perspective (e.g., operating 

environment such as policies and activities, historical trend, economic 
environment, sensitivity analysis, risks and uncertainty, other known facts, 
subsequent events, contractual obligations, contingencies.) 

Where decision 
Discussion on the “where” decision can go beyond the typical GPFS structure and provide 
more general guidance. For example, factors to consider in terms of the relative location, 
and in what way the “what” and the “how” affect the “where”. Relative location may 
include front-end versus back-end, main body versus appendices, summary versus 
details, sequence and logic of presenting information, chronological versus reverse 
history order, descending versus ascending.      
How decision 
Discussion on the “how” decisions can go beyond a listing of the possible formats and 
structures (such as table, graph, narrative, level of aggregation, comparison). It can 
include, for example, guidance on how the “what” affect the “how”, and what are the more 
effective ways of presenting certain types of information that enhance the 
understandability of GPFRs.  

031 The SRS-CSPCP supports the principle of this CP.  It is however of the opinion that the 
proposed version is too theoretical and detailed. It is especially the case as for Chapters 5 
and 6.  These details are relevant and interesting for the Standard Setter and it future 
standard-setting activities. However they are not relevant for the user of the public sector 

 
The Conceptual Framework primarily 
guides standard setters in their 
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accounting standards.  Thus it would be useful to clearly make a distinction between the 2 
levels of concern (users of the Standard and the Standard Setter). 

standard-setting activities. 

032 None.  
033 As expressed in our previous responses to IPSASB’s proposed conceptual framework 

documents, we believe the scope of this Consultation Paper is too broad and should be 
limited to General Purpose Financial Statements (GPFSs). By undertaking to provide a 
framework for the presentation of financial information in the broad range of reports that 
are included in General Purpose Financial Reports (GPFRs), the proposals for 
presentation are very high level thereby limiting their usefulness when applied to setting 
standards for GPFSs.  We believe that the IPSASB should focus on the unique needs of 
the public sector in developing its conceptual framework and devote its resources to 
developing accounting standards to support the production of high quality financial 
statements. 

Concerns about the more 
comprehensive scope, that the 
concepts are too broad to be useful, 
and should focus on GPFSs noted. 
These concerns are covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  

034 SUBJECTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PUBLIC SECTOR 
The subject of the financial statements of public sector - is a limited scope of economic 
activities, financial reporting which could potentially be useful to external users. The 
subject may be a separate legal entity - public or nonprofit organization. The term public 
sector relates to federal and local governments (for example state, provincial and 
territorial authorities), municipal governments (for example city, town), as well as related 
government agencies (such as agencies, boards, commissions and organizations). 
The subject of the financial statements of the public sector can be a separate legal entity 
and a part or group of entities under common control entities other than state-owned 
commercial enterprises. 
Non-profit organization is an organization that does not have profit as a primary objective 
of its activities and does not distribute profits among the participants. Nonprofit 
organizations may be created in order to achieve social, charitable, cultural, educational, 
scientific and management purposes, in order to protect public health, the development of 
physical culture and sport, to meet the needs of other individuals and entities. Nonprofit 
organizations have the right to conduct business only for the purposes for which they 
were created.  
OWNERSHIP PUBLIC SECTOR ORGANIZATIONS  
The state organization shall be entitled to ownership of the property assigned to it. 
Nonprofit organizations may use the belonging to the ownership of the property only to 
achieve the goals that are expressly provided for by their constituent documents. 
Nonprofit organizations may have in their privately owned property in the form of 
buildings, housing and even the land and personal property (equipment, vehicles, and 
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various objects of industrial, social, cultural and charitable purposes, money and 
securities). The objects of their property is the property created by their institutions. 

035 We welcome IPSASB’s development of the principles that will inform the presentation of 
information in public sector financial reporting. In our experience, this is the first attempt 
by any financial reporting standard setter to establish such principles.  
However we consider that aspects of the current proposals are over complicated and also 
too detailed for a conceptual framework, which, as the name suggests, should address  
basic concepts underlying presentation in financial reporting. 

 
 
Concern that the proposals are too 
complicated and detailed noted and 
included under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 
2C.0. 

036 The consultation paper states that IPSASB will not make a decision on whether to issue 
an umbrella or integrated exposure draft of the full Conceptual Framework until work on 
the individual phases are further advanced.   We support the issuance of an integrated 
exposure draft that links the various phases of the Conceptual Framework project before 
a final standard is issued.  
General Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) provide historical accounting information.  
Performance Reporting, Statistical Reporting and the other types of Reporting (PRS) 
proposed by IPSASB to be included in IPSASs under the conceptual framework of 
general purpose financial reporting would include information that is inconsistent with the 
purpose of GPFS, such as future oriented information, statistics, and non-financial 
performance reporting.  Attempting to serve the requirements of both GPFS and PRS in 
the same conceptual framework may compromise the objectives of both because the 
requirements of each set of constituents are different from each other. 
IPSASB should evaluate the direction the Conceptual Framework project is taking and 
ensure that the IPSAS set of accounting standards focus solely on the accounting 
principles related to GPFS.  Recommendations related to PRS should be included in 
guidance separate from IPSASs.  Extending the conceptual framework to include PRS 
objectives would compromise the reliability of GPFS because PRS includes future 
orientated information as well as non-financial performance reporting that is inconsistent 
with the fundamental principles of GPFS, which are based on past transactions and 
events. 
GPFS represent one of the main accountability documents of governments.  A key 
component of all the information contained in GPFS is that it is focussed on reporting on 
past transactions, contracts that were entered into on or before the financial statement 
date, and other events that occurred in the past.  The IPSAS body of guidance should 
focus on providing IPSASs that support the preparation of GPFS and provide 
accountability for transactions, contracts and events that occurred on or before the 
financial statement date.  

 
 
Note question about issuance of an 
integrated exposure draft. This 
question is outside of Phase 4’s scope, 
but has been considered by the 
IPSASB. 
 
Concerns about the more 
comprehensive scope and the need to 
focus on GPFSs noted. This issue is 
covered under Issue 1 in Agenda Item 
2C.0. It has been considered as part of 
Phase 1. 
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There is a role for information reporting recommendations that go beyond the 
requirements of GPFS.  These additional reporting recommendations could provide 
guidance on such topics as: 
• the sustainability of a government’s spending practices; 
• performance reporting; and 
• asset condition reporting. 

These reports could be supported by a conceptual framework; however, that conceptual 
framework must be separate from the conceptual framework that supports the preparation 
of GPFS.   
The Canadian practice is to publish guidance as Statements of Recommended Practice 
(SORPs) that are separate and distinct from Canadian public sector generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). 
Initially the guidance for Canadian SORPs was contained in the same body of guidance 
as Canadian GAAP; however, after consultation with preparers and users, the Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Board transferred Canadian SORPS to a separate body of 
SORP guidance. 
Bodies that publish recommended practices for PRSs already exist.  In Canada, the 
CCAF is such a body (www.ccaf-fcvi.com/).  Consideration should be given to 
collaborating with these bodies so that a uniform and consistent body of supplementary 
reporting guidance is made available to all public sector entities. Guidance related to 
supplementary reporting should not be constrained solely by the biases of accounting and 
its reporting requirements. 
IPSASB should initiate a project on the presentation and disclosures associated with 
GPFS before proceeding with a project on presentation in general purpose financial 
reports.  Such a project would enhance the quality of GPFS by ensuring there is 
consistency of financial reporting and disclosure requirements between the IPSAS 
conceptual framework and the various IPSASs. 

 
 
 
 
 
Proposal that a separate conceptual 
framework for information outside of 
GPFSs could be developed noted.  
 

037 No general comment.  
038 We support and commend the IPSASB’s efforts and goal to develop the conceptual 

framework (the Framework) for general purpose financial reporting (GPFR) by public 
sector entities. We believe that it is crucial for the development of International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) to be based on a consistent and robust framework 
in the standard-setting process.  
Currently, disclosure overload and the risk of information being obscured as a result of the 
overload is an issue for users of GPFRs. In addition, the costs incurred by preparers to 

 
 
 
 
 
Concerns about disclosure overload 
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disclose the amount of information required by the financial reporting frameworks 
(accounting standards and legislative requirements in each jurisdiction) for public sector, 
as well as private sector entities, has been a major concern. Therefore we support the 
development of a presentation and disclosure framework that would give preparers a 
conceptual basis for presenting and providing useful and essential information to users 
and would assist the IPSASB in providing a conceptual foundation for the presentation 
and disclosure requirements in accounting standards.  
The concept to distinguish between what is ‘core’ versus ‘supporting’ information 
discussed in this CP is a valid starting point. However, we are not sure whether the 
proposed presentation concepts as currently worded are helpful to preparers as they 
seem to be a paraphrase of the objectives and qualitative characteristics (QC) of 
information included in GPFRs. More detailed discussion regarding presentation concepts 
is covered in our response to specific matter for comment 3. 
Within the Background to the Conceptual Framework section of the CP, it is stated that 
many of the IPSASs currently on issue are based on IFRSs, to the extent that the 
requirements of those IFRSs are relevant to the public sector, and the strategy of the 
IPSASB incudes maintaining alignment of IPSASs with IFRSs where appropriate for the 
public sector. However, the IPSASB continues on to discuss that the development of the 
IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework is not an IFRS2 convergence project, and the purpose 
of the IPSASB’s project is not to interpret the application of the IASB3 Framework to the 
public sector. Nonetheless, we believe that the Frameworks of the IPSASB and the IASB 
should be largely harmonised, and differences should only exist where it is warranted for 
the public-sector-specific economic phenomena. We observe that through the IASB’s 
agenda consultation process, one of the priority projects that the IASB will be starting 
work on is the Conceptual Framework (a joint project with the US FASB), including a 
presentation and disclosure framework. Therefore, we strongly believe that the IPSASB 
needs to consider the development of the IASB and FASB joint project on the Framework 
in developing its own. Furthermore, we encourage the IPSAS and IASB to work closely 
together to achieve a harmonised Framework, and to leverage each other’s work in the 
development process. 
We also encourage the Board to engage with the IIRC4as this phase of the project has an 
obvious interconnection with the IIRC’s project to develop a framework to help with the 

noted and included under Issues 1 and 
6 of the Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns noted and included under 
Issue 4 in Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns with respect to divergence 
between the IPSAS and IASB 
frameworks noted, and covered under 
Issue 1 in Agenda Item 2C.0.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Relevance of IIRC work noted and 
summary provided in appendix to 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  

                                                 
2 International Financial Reporting Standards 
3 International Accounting Standards Board 
4 International Integrated Reporting Committee 
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development of more comprehensive and comprehensible information about 
organisations. We would also encourage the Board to consider and leverage some of the 
work that the IIRC has done in the context of long term performance, resource 
sustainability and governance, for the other IPSASB projects on long term fiscal 
sustainability and reporting service performance information. It is also important that the 
IPSASB works closely with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) as GRI develops the next 
generation of its sustainability guidelines. 

 
 
 

039 From a general standpoint, we are of the view that the consultation paper makes a 
positive contribution to the consideration of the presentation aspect of general purpose 
financial reports. We continue to believe that, in a context of limited resources, accounting 
standard-setters should concentrate their efforts on the financial information to be 
presented in financial statements. Notwithstanding our preference that the scope of the 
conceptual framework be limited to the financial statements, our views on the specific 
subjects for comment are given below. 

 
Concern that the concepts should 
focus on GPFSs rather than GPFRs 
noted and covered under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0.  
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1 – (See paragraphs 2.1 to 2.18):  

With respect to the descriptions of “presentation”, “display”, “disclosure”, “core information”, and “supporting information”, and the 
proposed relationships between these terms:  

(a) Do you agree that the proposed descriptions and relationships are appropriate and adequate? 

(b) Do you agree that identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be made at a standards level rather than as part of the 
Conceptual Framework? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
SMC1 (a) (b) 
(A) AGREE 15 22 
(B) PARTIALLY AGREE 4 0 
(C) DISAGREE 16 10 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 0 1 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 35 33 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 4 6 
TOTAL 39 39 

 
R# CATE-

GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 1(a) STAFF COMMENT 

001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A We agree with the approach to relate core to the face of the statements (display) and supporting 
to required notes (disclosure) plus another section for optional supporting information. 

Suggested third category of 
information noted. 

003 A Yes, we agree. The level of adequacy will become apparent once the descriptions and 
relationships are being practically applied in preparing GPFRs. 

 

004 B We broadly support the description of presentation in that it includes display and disclosure. We 
do not believe that it is necessary to define core and supporting information in relation to display 
and disclosure. While we understand the intention of describing core and supporting information 
in relation to presentation and display, we are of the view that the use of the words “core” and 
“supporting” implies that some information is more important because it is displayed rather than 
disclosed. 
Consequently, it may [be] more appropriate at a conceptual level to outline that the information 
that is displayed is broadly regarded as the information that forms the building blocks for 
reporting in a particular information area and, that these building blocks are central to 
communicating key messages about specifically identified objectives and information needs – 
without specifically labelling such information. As an example, a parallel could be drawn between 

Comments incorporated into 
SMC 1(a) summary of issues 
i.e. Issue 2 in Agenda Item 
2C.0. 
Presentation – agree, should 
cover both display and 
disclosure 
Display and disclosure: 
Proposed alternative wording 
noted. 
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these building blocks and the elements that are recognised in the statements of financial position 
and performance. The Framework should however note that the identification of these “building 
blocks” for each information area will be considered at a Standards-level. 

005 A 1. We agree with the view that the proposed descriptions and relationships are appropriate 
and adequate.  

2. However, we would like the Board to consider further the description of paragraph 4.4 in the 
CP, which explains the relationships between information areas and presentation 
objectives. Paragraph 4.4 provides examples of possible presentation objectives for three 
different information areas. We are uncomfortable with the fact that each information area is 
treated as if it were equally important. We believe the most essential information area is 
GPFSs. We also believe that those objectives shown in this paragraph are not the 
presentation objectives, but rather the objectives of GPFSs. 

3. Therefore, we suggest that the Board should treat service performance information and 
information on the long-term sustainability of finances as supporting information to financial 
statements (GPFSs). For example, service performance information supplements GPFSs, 
by disclosing 3E (especially effectiveness) information that GPFSs alone cannot provide 
sufficiently. 

4. In addition, we suggest adding the word “financial” before the word “statement(s)” in the 
presentation of core and supporting information shown in Diagram A, to clarify that “Display 
is on the face of a financial statement” and “Disclosure is in the notes to the financial 
statements.” We believe that this would make the descriptions in Diagram A more 
consistent with the statements in paragraph 2.8. 

Noted. 
 
Note view that service 
performance information and 
information on the long-term 
sustainability of finances 
should be treated as 
supporting information, while 
information in GPFSs is the 
most essential information. 
This hierarchy does not 
appear to  be supported by 
Phase 1 developments. 
Note specific amendment 
suggested, which Staff agree 
could be helpful. 
Detail: Amendment adds 
extra clarity. 

006 A Yes   
007 B 1. CIPFA agrees with the proposed description of presentation.  

2. CIPFA also agrees in general terms with the description of core information and supporting 
information. In order to aid understandability, some information will need to be presented 
more prominently while other information will be presented less prominently. CIPFA agrees 
with the observation in the Consultation Paper that the distinction between core information 
and supporting information does not reflect a simple distinction between information which is 
more or less important. The word ‘core’ might nevertheless be misinterpreted as implying that 
the supporting information is not important, and the Board may wish to consider using a 
different term, such as ‘primary’ information.  

3. However, we do not consider the discussion of display and disclosure to be sufficiently clear 
or sufficiently helpful to warrant inclusion in the framework, especially as there may be 
confusion with other informal uses of the same terminology.  

Comments incorporated into 
SMC 1(a) summary of issues. 
Note that respondent agrees 
with “Presentation” and 
“Core/Supporting” but 
suggests amending “core” to 
“primary” (relative importance 
issue)  
Respondent disagrees with 
display and disclosure: 
disagree 
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4. In CIPFA’s view it would be difficult to develop separate notions of display and disclosure 
which are more understandable than simple discussions of more or less prominent 
presentation, while at the same time being sufficiently flexible to systematically and usefully 
distinguish between the wide variety of placement, highlighting and cross-referencing 
approaches which might be used. 

5. CIPFA therefore does not agree with the proposed descriptions of display and disclosure. 

 
 
 

008 A Overall, we agree with the proposal.  However, we suggest that the Board simplify the 
terminology as it appears more complicated than it needs to be.  Please consider combining 
display and disclosure concepts as they are very similar. 

Display and disclosure: 
Recommends combining the 
two concepts 

009 A (No further comment.)  
010 C • Presentation is defined by this CP as “the selection, location and organization of information 

that is displayed and disclosed in the GPFRs to meet the objectives of financial reporting, 
needs of users, and QCs”.  This definition seems to imply that objectives of financial 
reporting, needs of users and qualitative characteristics (QCs) are three separate 
dimensions.  At the same time CF—ED1 proposes that the objectives of financial reporting 
are to provide information about the entity that is useful to users for accountability and 
decision-making purposes.  Also, IPSAS 1, in its Appendix 1, recognizes that QCs “are the 
attributes that make the information provided in financial statements useful to users”.  
Meeting the needs of users is a main goal of financial reporting; whereas objectives of 
financial reporting are derivatives and QC are attributes of the main goal.  The Task Force 
therefore recommends that the proposed definition of presentation is amended by centering 
on meeting needs of users and by either removing references to objectives of financial 
reporting and QCs entirely or by reclassifying them as supporting/secondary objectives.  The 
objectives of financial reporting, needs of users and QCs are also interchangeably used in 
other paragraphs of Section 2 of the CP; these references may need to reviewed and 
streamlined before the document progresses to the Exposure Draft. 

• The Task Force is of the view that the proposed model of the relationship between ‘display 
and disclosure’ and ‘core and supporting information’ should be explained more clearly in 
general, and more particularly in relation to the difference between display and disclosure of 
other information included in the GPFRs (i.e. not GPFSs).  For example, paragraph 2.8 the 
CP states that display and disclosure do not differ based on the specific presentation 
techniques used.  However the paragraph then goes on to explain that whereas the 
difference between display and disclosure in financial statements is determined by location, 
the display of other information is linked to presentation technique (which should be aligned 
with information needs, etc.).  This linkage is not explained further in the document and the 
CP contains no references to any other criteria which can be used in distinguishing between 
display and disclosure of other information presented in the GPFRs.  The diagram A, which 

Presentation: Note 
recommendation to amend 
the description by either 
removing references to 
objectives of financial 
reporting and QCs entirely or 
by reclassifying them as 
supporting/secondary 
objectives.  
Staff view: Align wording with 
that used in Phase 1 in terms 
of the relationship between 
users, objectives and QCs. 
 
 
Note that the descriptions do 
distinguish between the 
different types of information, 
but only link specific 
presentation (face/notes) to 
GPFS information, leaving 
presentation open for other 
(non-GPFS) information  
 
Note the concern that the 
display/disclosure distinction 
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was included in the CP to demonstrate the inter-relationship between presentation, display, 
and disclosure, also does not identify the difference between display and disclosure of 
information other than financial statements. 

is not explained for GPFRs 
ouside of GPFSs. 

011 C 1. The Consultation Paper proposes that financial information can be categorized as 
constituting either core information or supporting information and thus be allocated for 
display or disclosure, respectively.  

2. As we explain in more detail below, we believe the concept of categorizing financial 
information as either core or supporting to determine its placing within a GPFR is an aspect 
that warrants a more detailed discussion at a conceptual level. We therefore have some 
sympathy with the alternative view outlined in paragraphs 2.19 and 2.20, since we do not 
believe that the issue is as clear cut as the Consultation Paper appears to imply.   

3. Certainly in Germany, historically, it was the legislator who determined what information 
should be shown on the face of a statement and what should be included in accompanying 
notes. On the one hand, it could be argued that all information was regarded as core 
information, since otherwise its inclusion in financial statements would not have been 
mandated. On the other hand, it could be argued, as does the Consultation Paper, that 
information relegated to accompanying notes supports the information in a statement and is 
thus not “core” but “supporting” in nature. In our view, the fact that most financial reporting 
frameworks that require a true and fair view to be shown – including those established by law 
– require this of financial statements taken as a whole, rather than of individual statements 
without accompanying notes, points more to the former view.  

4. Whilst we broadly agree with the principle noted in paragraph 2.9 that when information is 
core information its disclosure in accompanying notes/ appendices or other supporting 
information cannot be a substitute for its display on the face of a statement or report, we do 
not believe that this will always prove feasible. In this context, the contentions stated in 
paragraph 2.9 of the Paper: “For information to achieve all the QCs, all core information 
should be displayed” and paragraph 2.6:  “Core information highlights key messages related 
to an information area.” may also be problematical, since, it may not necessarily follow that 
key messages related to an information area can be portrayed solely by core information that 
is displayed on the face of a statement or report.  

5. Taking the example mentioned in paragraph 2.12 of the Consultation Paper, contingent 
liabilities are either by their nature not capable of reliable measurement, or it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, but they nevertheless 
have the potential to impact the overall financial position in an undeterminable way. It is 
currently generally accepted that it would be inappropriate to recognize such items on the 
face of a statement, since particular qualitative characteristics cannot be sufficiently met, but 
at the same time, it is also generally accepted that their omission could result in a misleading 

 
 
 
 
 
Note respondent’s support for 
the alternative view. 
(Emphasis added.) 
 
Core/supporting: Issue re 
relative importance 
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picture. In this example, it is therefore not merely a matter of aiding an understanding of 
information already provided on the face of the statement as would be the case in respect of 
a mere breakdown of an element that has been recognized; rather as all the liabilities that 
have been recognized were capable of reliable measurement, contingencies represent 
additional information (not capable of reliable measurement, but which if they were, would 
also have been recognized) not presented thereon, and could thus be considered to be core 
rather than supporting in nature.  

6. The presentation issue that arises in regard to such information is what mechanism could be 
applied to direct readers’ attention sufficiently to such matters i.e., how to prevent them being 
“buried” within copious accompanying material. In the absence of such a mechanism, there 
is a danger that readers of financial statements may underestimate the significance of certain 
information essential to their economic decision making activities or, in the worst case, even 
“oversee” such information.  

7. At present, the requirement for an auditor to include an Emphasis of Matters paragraph in the 
auditor’s report (ISA 706.06) provides a mechanism in practice, but whether, and, if so, how 
a presentation mechanism could be facilitated within the GPFS is an issue that we believe 
needs to be discussed more intensively at a conceptual level.  

012 C It is the Province’s position that the Conceptual Framework should not be extended to include 
prospective and non-financial information.  As such, there are concerns that the descriptions and 
proposed relationships between these terms do not, in the present context, adequately support 
the necessary guidance required in terms of presentation matters for the preparation of general 
purpose financial statements.    

Issue raised links to scope 
issue. 

013 C HoTARAC does not agree with the proposed relationships. In HoTARAC’s view the proposals 
are too arbitrary and do not provide sufficient justification for the approach taken.  
Presentation, Display and Disclosure 
HoTARAC considers the additional terminologies of presentation, display and disclosure are not 
necessary and may create confusion as the terms “presentation”, “display” and “disclosure” are 
not necessarily consistent with current practice. HoTARAC specifically notes that the 
descriptions are not consistent with paragraph 60 of IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements which states that disclosure is used in a broad sense to encompass items presented 
on the face of the primary statements and notes.  
HoTARAC believes the conceptual basis for information in GPFRs can be developed without the 
need to address the definition of the term “presentation”.  
HoTARAC further notes that this potentially complicates the process of aligning IFRS and IPSAS 
as the term “presentation” may have different meanings to preparers and users under each 
Framework.  
Core and Supporting Information 
HoTARAC agrees in giving greater prominence to certain information in GPFRs and supports 
the high level principle outlined in paragraph 2.6 that “Core information highlights key messages 

 
 
Concern noted and included 
within Issue 2 of Agenda Item 
2C.0. 
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related to an information area and so is central to meeting the objectives of financial reporting 
and user needs.” 
A minority of HoTARAC jurisdictions are of the view that the distinction between core and 
supporting information is particularly unclear for GPFRs that are not GPFSs, and at least one  
HoTARAC  jurisdiction prefers  the Alternative View of paragraph 2.19-2.20. 
Paragraph 2.13 states that supporting information is as important as core information and 
HoTARAC believes this could be confusing. To clarify, HoTARAC suggests replacing this 
comment with “Supporting information is important to meet user needs...”  

014 C We commend the IPSASB for developing terminology that can be applied to information areas 
within a GPFR.  
We are aware that some of the terminology that the IPSASB is developing is inconsistent with 
past usage in respect of the financial statements.  However, given that this area has not been 
developed by other standard setters, the IPSASB is breaking new ground and needs to develop 
a coherent set of definitions and descriptions. 
Our understanding of the proposed presentation hierarchy is that: 
(a) presentation is the overarching term used to describe the selection, location and 
organisation of information in the GPFR; 
(b) display refers to information provided on the face of the individual statements within the 
GPFR and all core information should be “displayed”; and 
(c) disclosure refers to information that is disclosed in the notes to the statements and is 
supporting information (that is, it elaborates on core information or provides other types of 
supporting information).  
The Consultation Paper notes that there is an alternative view. Those holding that alternative 
view do not believe that display is synonymous with core information or that disclosure is 
synonymous with supporting information.  We support the development of a proposed 
presentation hierarchy, but we are more supportive of the alternative view than the view 
expressed in the body of the CP.  For example, we take the view that information about 
contingent liabilities, commitments and related party transactions is core information although it 
cannot be “displayed” on the face of the individual statements.  
As a result, we are not sure that the terms “display” and “disclosure” as defined are useful.  We 
recommend that the IPSASB develop a concept that would help to identify and distinguish 
between core information and supporting information.  For example, core information could be 
information that is essential to an understanding of the entity’s performance and position, while 
supporting information could be information that is useful, but not necessarily essential, to that 
understanding.  Such a concept could help address the issue of ‘disclosure overload’ that is a 
major problem of financial reporting today.  The face of the statements (in information areas 
where statements are appropriate) should be limited to core information, and the notes can 

Note respondent’s support for 
the Alternative View. 
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contain both core and supporting information.  The term “display” could then be used to address 
issues such as layout of information – for example, the ordering of items within the statement of 
financial position or within the notes (presentation decision 3 in paragraph 6.1).    

015 C We disagree. Notes to the audited financial statements have been characterized as “Supporting 
information” but have been identified by senior Canadian governments (through the Deputy 
Minister of Finance/PSAB Joint Working Group as core information for users. For example, 
measurement uncertainty can preclude preparers of statements from incorporating liabilities into 
the statement of financial position, a problem in both the public and private sector. However, 
these obligations provide tremendous insights to users of financial statements and their 
decisions. Alternatively, the key point to stress in the conceptual framework is that disclosure is 
not a substitute for the appropriate inclusion on the face of the financial statements.  
In Canada, senior governments have balanced budget legislation and current practice is to 
prepare the budget on the same basis as the financial statements in order to hold governments 
accountable to the public. In order to preserve transparency and accountability in financial 
reporting as well as support sound fiscal policy decisions, it may be necessary to consider the 
merits of the note disclosure or perhaps alternative methods of presentation to meet the needs 
of users. For example, senior governments collaborated with the Public Sector Accounting Board 
to introduce a separate statement of remeasurement gains and losses for the volatility 
associated with financial instruments. This compromise allows for an accurately measured 
balance sheet, while simultaneously preserving accountability as the gains and losses related to 
market volatility are segregated from the actual use of public resources. This is appropriate as 
governments do not enter into financial contracts for trading profits; most financial contracts are 
held to maturity. In this way, governments do not have to explain unbudgeted gains and losses 
that are not only unrealized, but also well beyond their control. 
Through abstraction, IPSASB has successfully simplified financial statement presentation to core 
information and supporting information. With General Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS), it is 
much easier to envision the relationships between display and disclosure because of the 
experience the accounting community has with it. More importantly, it is easier to differentiate 
between what represents core information (i.e. statement of operations) and what belongs as 
support (disclosure through schedules such as on expenses by object). It may not be clear what 
constitutes core information in a long report on fiscal sustainability.  For example. IPSASB 
should consider whether some of this ancillary reporting (sustainability reporting or service 
reporting) may in fact be more useful under a conceptual framework separate and distinct from 
the conceptual framework for the traditional GPFS.  

Core/Supporting – 
Respondent disagrees 
(relative importance issue) 

016 C (Supports the Alternative View) 
ACAG does not agree with the term “presentation” being described as the “selection, location 
and organization of information that is displayed and disclosed in the GPFRs to meet the 
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objectives of financial reporting, needs of users, and qualitative characteristics”. In Australia, 
many financial statement preparers and users apply the term “presentation” in relation to 
information reported on the face of a financial statement. ACAG considers that the broader 
definition of this term being proposed in the IPSASB Consultation Paper (CP) may result in 
confusion, particularly if other standard-setters continue to apply the term in a narrower context. 
The CP does not clearly define the term “display”. However, in relation to financial statements, 
the CP proposes that the term “display” applies to the information on the face of the financial 
statements. In light of the comments on the term presentation above, ACAG does not consider 
this description to be appropriate. 
The CP does not clearly define the term “disclosure”. However, for financial statements, the CP 
proposes that “disclosure of supporting information provides elaborations of items displayed on 
the face of a financial statement, but may also provide other types of supporting, non-core 
information”. ACAG does not agree that disclosure relates solely to supporting or non-core 
information. As an example, ACAG considers that financial statement users would interpret 
disclosures for key management personnel as core information. 
ACAG supports the alternative view in paragraphs 2.19 and 2.20 in relation to the distinction 
between core information and supporting information for GPFRs. ACAG does not consider that 
distinguishing between core information and supporting information serves a useful purpose. 
While ACAG considers that some information is more important to users of financial statements, 
a two bucket approach of core and supporting information is overly simplistic and does not 
adequately address the differing information needs of the range of users of GPFRs. 
In the CP, the term “display” is synonymous with “core information” and “disclosure” is 
synonymous with “supporting information”. As ACAG does not support the distinction between 
core and supporting information, the descriptions of the terms “display” and “disclosure” need to 
be more clearly defined and separated from the concepts of core and supporting information.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core/Supporting – 
respondent disagrees 
(relative importance issue) 

017 A We agree that the proposed descriptions of “presentation”, “display’, “disclosure”, “core 
information”, and “supporting information” and the proposed relationships between these terms 
provide clarity to the information they provide and in the context of the CP are appropriate and 
adequate.   
We do not support the alternative view (paragraphs 2.19 and 2.20) since it may lead to 
inconsistency about what may be considered core or supporting information. 

 
 
 
Reason against alternative 
view 

018 C Matters 1(a) and 1(b) 
1 The AASB disagrees with the proposals in Matter 1(a), for the reasons set out in 
paragraphs 2 – 14 below.  Because it disagrees with distinguishing ‘core’ information from 
‘supporting’ information, the AASB has no comment on Matter 1(b). 
‘Presentation’, ‘display’ and ‘disclosure’ 
2 The AASB does not support using ‘presentation’ as an all-encompassing term (which 
includes, among other things, display and disclosure: paragraph 2.2 of the CP refers).  

 
Presentation has variety of 
meanings 
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‘Presentation’ is used with a variety of meanings in IFRSs and IPSASs.  For example, 
consistently with IFRSs:  
(a) in IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, ‘presentation’ means:  
(i) disclosure of classes or line items (e.g., paragraphs 45, 88, 102, 104 and 109 of 
IPSAS 1); and 
(ii) the classification or structure of financial statements, or components thereof (e.g., 
paragraphs 55, 70 and 128 of IPSAS 1); and 
(b) in IPSAS 28 Financial Instruments: Presentation, ‘presentation’ refers to the 
classification of financial instruments as liabilities or net assets/equity (paragraphs 1 and 13).  
3 Therefore, it is potentially confusing to use ‘presentation’ in the CP as an all-
encompassing term, and there is no apparent conceptual reason to give it a particular meaning 
in the IPSASB Conceptual Framework.  
4 The AASB does not support indicating that, in relation to financial statements:  
(a) ‘display’ applies to information shown on the face of a statement (see paragraph 2.7 of 
the CP); and 
(b) ‘disclosure’ generally refers to elaboration of items on the face of a financial statement 
(see paragraph 2.12 of the CP).   
‘Display’ and ‘disclosure’ are conventionally used with a less restrictive meaning.  It would be 
helpful if those terms were used consistently with conventional practice, particularly as there is 
no apparent conceptual reason to give those words a different meaning in the IPSASB 
Conceptual Framework. 
5 Instead of giving ‘presentation’, ‘display’ and ‘disclosure’ the meanings in the CP, the 
AASB suggests using ‘display’ as the term encompassing the structure of financial reports, the 
nature and amount of information disclosed in financial reports and the manner in which those 
disclosures are presented.  Consequently, it should be unnecessary to define ‘presentation’ and 
‘disclosure’.  The AASB considers that the plain English meaning of ‘display’ seems appropriate 
for this part of the Conceptual Framework, and that ‘display’ has the advantage of less 
connotations relating to particular aspects of practice.  
‘Core’ and ‘supporting’ information 
6 The AASB sees no need for the CP’s proposed distinction between ‘core’ and 
‘supporting’ information, and considers that the distinction is not clearly expressed in the CP.  Its 
reasons are set out in paragraphs 7 – 14 below. 
Necessity of the distinction 
7 In relation to whether the distinction is necessary, the AASB considers that:  
(a) the qualitative characteristics of relevance and materiality are sufficient in this context for 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note: Alternative meaning for 
“display” suggested. 
 
 
Core/Supporting – 
respondent disagrees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Relative importance issue 
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identifying the information to include in a GPFR; and 
(b) the location of information in a GPFR does not necessarily imply its relative importance.  
8 In relation to paragraph 7(b), the location of an item in a GPFR will depend on a number 
of factors.  For example, in relation to financial statements, whether information about an item is 
reported on the face of a financial statement (either separately or within a total) will depend on 
such matters as: 
(a) whether the item itself meets the definition and recognition criteria for an element of 
financial statements; and 
(b) the nature of the information about that item (for example, disclosures about 
measurement uncertainties and of a sensitivity analysis might need to be made in notes due to 
their volume and complexity), regardless of whether that item is recognised in the financial 
statements. 
9 In addition, some relevant information about an entity might be about the entity’s legal or 
economic environment, such as a change in laws affecting the entity’s future operations.  For 
reasons such as these, disclosure in notes rather than on the face of a financial statement does 
not necessarily signify an item of information being less important.  For example, information 
about an event (e.g., the commencement of legal proceedings against the entity) might be 
disclosed only in the notes because the event does not give rise to an element of financial 
statements (e.g., a liability) that qualifies for recognition, but might nonetheless be one of the 
most important items of information in the entity’s GPFR.  
10 When information about an economic phenomenon is reported in both the financial 
statements and notes, it should not be assumed that the information in the financial statements 
(for example, a carrying amount of an asset or a liability) is more important than complementary 
information, such as information about the basis of its measurement and uncertainties 
surrounding possible inflows and outflows of economic benefits.  This position is consistent with 
the AASB’s view that totals in financial statements, such as profit or loss/surplus or deficit, are 
not more important than the composition of those totals. 
Clarity of the distinction 
11 The AASB also considers that the distinction between ‘core’ and ‘supporting’ information 
is not clearly expressed in the CP, for the reasons noted in paragraphs 12 – 14 below. 
12 Paragraph 2.6 of the CP says “Core information highlights key messages related to an 
information area and so is central to meeting the objectives of financial reporting and user 
needs” (emphasis added).  Paragraph 2.13 of the CP says “Supporting information is as 
important as core information, but its role means that it should not be presented as prominently 
as core information.”  Taken together, these statements indicate core information and supporting 
information are equally important, but also seem to indicate that only core information is ‘central’.  
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This seems confusing.  The role of supporting information, referred to in the quote above from 
paragraph 2.13, is not clear to the AASB.   
13 These potential sources of confusion are exacerbated by the comment in Table 1 on 
page 21 of the CP that “Relevance is important when distinguishing between core information 
and supporting information.”  This implies core information is more relevant than supporting 
information, although, as mentioned above, the CP describes core information and supporting 
information as being equally important. 
14 Paragraph 2.11 of the CP says “Supporting information makes core information more 
useful … by providing detail that will help users to understand the core information.”  It is difficult 
to identify a clear distinction between core information and supporting information if supporting 
information sometimes is needed to enable an understanding of core information.  In such 
circumstances, the supporting information would seem integral to the core information and 
therefore not clearly distinct from it.  

 

019 C We do not agree that the proposed descriptions are either appropriate or adequate. 
Specifically, we do not consider it appropriate to redefine and give different meanings to 
expressions which already have a common usage, therefore if it is necessary to have an 
overarching term to cover ‘display’ and ‘disclosure’ it should be something other than 
‘presentation’. 
Further we consider that the sets of terms display & disclosure and core & supporting seem to 
be used synonymously in the paper.  
We suggest that information be classified as either primary or supporting.  The premise being 
that primary information will provide a user with a basic understanding of the entity’s GPFR but 
to gain a fuller understanding this primary information must be read in conjunction with the 
supporting information. 

Disagrees with all three 
terms, prefers continuation of 
common usage. 
 
 
 
Recommendation to classify 
information as either primary 
or supporting. 

020 B We agree in part. In fact, the concepts of "core information" and "support information" should be 
better defined and exemplified. The alternative view presented on section 2.19 is better. 

Respondent supports for the 
alternative view. 

021 A I agree that the proposed descriptions and relationships are appropriate and adequate. I suggest 
for the board, if agree, that this presentation need will be integrated with four important letters of 
the International Federation on Accountants - IFAC5, European Securities and Market Authority - 
ESMA6, European Commission - EUROSTAT7, International Accounting Standards Board - 

 

                                                 
5 https://www.ifac.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/IFAC%20G20%20Letter%20Leaders%20Summit%202012.pdf 

6 http://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files/2012-326.pdf 

7 http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/public_consultations/documents/IPSAS_stakeholders_consultation_paper.pdf 
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IFRS8 and Transparency International in Spain about standards-setters, audit standards, Anti-
corruption and two new work groups of the Global Reporting about Sustainability and Integrated 
Reporting about Reporting (Practice Statement).These studies elaborated for regulators and 
organizations are important and your principal characteristic is transparency, I understand that 
this topic is high level for the public sector and have application in the conceptual framework, 
principally in relation the responsibility and risk assessment of activities for public sector. 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A (No further comment.)  
024 C 1. Our view is that the conceptual framework needs to remain at a very high (principles-based) 

level.  
2. IPSASB needs to differentiate between what is essential information in audited financial 

statements and what is complementary information. The difference and separation between 
the two is not clear. There is also some confusion caused by the wide user group. If the user 
group was narrowed it might then be possible to target information for those user needs 
more successfully.  

3. It will be essential to identify the core and material information, which is capable of being 
audited and reported on. However different sets of users will have different information 
requirements. There cannot be a one-size fits all solution and there is a danger that the 
statements will include too much information which is not needed and will take too long to 
collate and publish.  Timeliness of information is important and may drive simplified and 
summarised financial reports in some circumstances. 

 
 
 
Proposal that essential 
information should be 
distinguished from 
complementary information. 

025 A We agree the proposed relationships are sensible, adequate and clear.  
We do not think the term ‘supporting’ is helpful as it immediately gives the impression that 
somehow it is less important than the core information when it is not. The IPSASs guidance has 
been very clear that notes are as much part of financial statements as the mainstream 
statements are but calling this information supporting appears to downgrade it (other statements 
made in the CF hint at this view too). In order to ensure that its importance is understood we 
would simply call it ‘notes’ rather than ‘supporting’ information. This is because without notes the 
financial statements are incomplete. For example disclosure requirements are usually housed in 
the notes. Disclosures are as important as the primary balances reflected for assets, liabilities, 
incomes, expenses etc. 

 
 
Core/Supporting – 
respondent respondent 
disagrees; relative 
importance issue 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
8 http://www.ifrs.org/NR/rdonlyres/A8F64899-FED7-4037-AA96-21F5F93E4750/0/ECB462012.pdf 
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026 C We appreciate the necessity of the IPSASB’s efforts to construct a concept of presentation that 
extends beyond financial statements to general purpose financial reports. However we are 
concerned that the modification of long- established terminology such as ‘presentation’ and 
‘disclosure’ may cause confusion. We also do not consider the term ‘display’ to be a useful 
addition to the discussion. We found Diagram A at section 2.15 of the Consultation Paper a 
useful representation of the relationships between the terms.  For General Purpose Financial 
Statements the dichotomy of information as core (display is on the face of the financial 
statements) and supporting (disclosure is in the notes to the statements) is appropriate.  
However, this dichotomy is less effective when applied to Other (more comprehensive scope) 
information, as the determinant of whether such information is core or supporting will depend on 
professional judgement. The lack of usefulness of the dichotomy is evident in Diagram A where 
no distinction is made between information displayed as core and displayed as supporting under 
the heading of ‘other information ’We encourage the IPSASB to look again at the usefulness of 
these two descriptions. It may be necessary to provide specific examples of ‘other information’ to 
substantiate the dichotomy of ‘core’ and ‘supporting’. 

 
Note concern that long-
established terminology is 
being redefined and this may 
cause confusion. 
 

027 E No comment.  
028 A Yes the proposed descriptions and relationships are appropriate and adequate to achieve clear 

and consistent financial and non-financial reporting. 
 

029 A The Province of Manitoba agrees with the CP’s description of presentation, display and 
disclosure. The Province agrees that display is synonymous with core information and disclosure 
with supporting information. 

Respondent agrees with 
presentation, display and 
disclosure – not 
core/supporting. 

030 B Presentation  
We agree that presentation should address the selection, location and organization of 
information reported in general purpose financial reports (GPFRs).  
Display and Disclosure  
We do not see how the terms “display” and “disclosure” help enhance the understanding of 
“presentation” or other ideas covered in the Consultation Paper. We noted that these two terms, 
except in the verb form, were rarely referred to in other sections of the Consultation Paper.   
Paragraph 2.19 seemed to infer that “display is synonymous with core information” and 
“disclosure is synonymous with supporting information”. If they are synonymous, “core 
information” and “supporting information” are better terms because they are more specific and 
descriptive. “Display” and “disclosure” may be redundant.      
The Consultation Paper did not explain what “display” and “disclosure” mean for GPFRs that are 
not general purpose financial statements (GPFSs). Paragraph 2.20 stated that the distinction 

 
Respondent agrees with 
presentation - not display and 
disclosure, some support for 
core/supporting. 
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between the two is in the form. The form of “display” and “disclosure” for non-GPFS GPFRs were 
not described in the Consultation Paper. Paragraph 2.8 stated that “For financial statements the 
difference is about information location: on the face of a financial statement or in the notes.” The 
difference between “display” and “disclosure” in Diagram A was that “display” included 
“statements” and “disclosure” did not. However, the Consultation Paper did not describe what a 
statement would be in other GPFRs.    
Consequently, we have difficulty applying the principle stated in paragraph 2.9 “Disclosure not a 
substitute for display of core information.” We acknowledge that this is an important principle for 
GPFSs but we question its applicability to and appropriateness for non-GPFS GPFRs.  
We suggest removing the cash-based statement example in paragraph 2.10. Using a cash basis 
statement to illustrate accrual basis conceptual framework is not appropriate. Also, though the 
example should explain the presentation principle in paragraph 2.9, the concluding sentence in 
the example obviously brought out another presentation principle that had not been previously 
identified. 
Relationships among the terms 
The Consultation Paper linked “display” with core information and “disclosure” with supporting 
information but did not clearly explain their relationships. In paragraph 2.6, “display” was linked 
to the location of core information while “display” was referred to as the ways in which core 
information is shown in paragraph 2.7.  
It appears that both core and supporting information addresses the “what” aspect of presentation 
and the “display” and “disclosure” address the “where” and/or “how” aspects of presentation. We 
wonder whether a direct and simple relationship between “what” and “where/how” can be 
established without limiting the development of further guidance on the different aspects of 
presentation. 
Core and supporting information 
The concepts of “core” and “supporting” information are useful. A complete presentation 
framework would go beyond these two and would also include identification of the information 
gap a GPFR is intended to address, the boundary or scope of the GPFR and the specific 
objectives or purposes of the GPFR.     
We support the concept of “core information” which represents information essential to meeting 
user needs for accountability assessment and decision-making in the subject matter addressed 
in a GPFR. “Core information” may include key information and/or indicators, as well as key 
measures of the indicators. In this regard, we suggest replacing the term “key messages” with 
“key indicators” as messages are often associated with communication strategy which are not 
necessary objective or free from bias. 
In general, we support the concept but not the description of “supporting information”. The 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Detail: Note recommendation 
to move example in 
paragraph 2.10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Point noted. This difficulty 
was discussed during the 
CP’s development.  
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description in the Consultation Paper (i.e., “supporting information makes core information more 
useful” and “it does this by providing detail that will help users to understand the core 
information”) appears vague. We suggest more specific description of supporting information, 
e.g., information that explains, describes and elaborates core information to make core 
information more understandable and useful.  
Items (a) and (b) and the first bullet example in paragraph 2.11 seemed to meet the description 
of supporting information. It is unclear how item (c) and the second bullet example in paragraph 
2.11 would fit the description of supporting information.  
The description of item (d) in paragraph 2.11 “information that could affect users’ evaluation of 
core information” presented another possible category of information. We suggest separating 
this type of information from “supporting information” and called it “contextual information” to 
represent information that provides the necessary operational, economic and historical context to 
help users assess and evaluate the core information and to put core information in perspective. 
The contingent liabilities example in paragraph 2.12 would fit the description of “contextual 
information” better. Contrary to what was stated in paragraph 2.12, information about contingent 
liabilities does not fit the description of “supporting information” of elaborating items displayed on 
the face of a financial statement because they are not recognized in the financial statements. On 
the other hand, information on contingent liabilities gives users a more comprehensive picture of 
a government’s financial position.   
Alternative View 
We agree with some but not all aspects of the alternative view described in paragraphs 2.19 and 
2.20. We agree that “core” and “supporting” information should be defined separately from 
“display” and “disclosure”. They should be defined based on their respective functions, not their 
forms or location in the GPFRs.  
We suggest extending the two categories of information proposed in the Consultation Paper into 
four major categories: purpose and scope, core information, supporting information and 
contextual information. 

 
 
Detail: Note 
recommendations on 
changes to improve and 
alternative approaches. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note that respondent partially 
supports the alternative view. 

031 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the proposed definitions and the relationships between those 
definitions. 

 

032 A We agree that the proposed descriptions and relationships are fit for purpose.  
033 C The Consultation Paper (CP) presents two views of the distinction between core and supporting 

information. We believe that, when considering general purpose financial statements (GPFSs) 
only, the alternative view presented would be more appropriate. The proposed conceptual 
framework already defines elements of financial statements and the criteria for recognition of 
items on the face of the financial statements. Consequently, when items do not meet the criteria 

Note that respondent 
supports the alternative view. 
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for recognition, consideration is given as to whether the information should be disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements. If that information is central to the users’ understanding of the 
financial statements but does not meet the recognition criteria, it would be disclosed in the notes. 
Otherwise, it is supporting information that may be presented in the financial report that contains 
the financial statements (such as in the financial statements discussion and analysis) as 
supplementary information at the discretion of the reporting entity. Note disclosures are required 
by the accounting standards and we believe they are central to a user’s understanding of the 
financial statements. 
Due to the fact that the scope of the proposed conceptual framework is a broad range of GPFRs, 
the distinction between core and supporting information is much less clear than described above 
for GPFSs above. The use of professional judgment would be applied by the preparer in 
determining whether information is core or supporting and the information reported is at the 
discretion of the reporting entity. In applying the proposed concept to financial statements, the 
proposal in the CP requires that core information is presented on the face of the financial 
statements, whereas the notes are regarded as supporting information. Defining the notes as 
supporting information implies that a user may have a sufficient understanding of the financial 
statements to make economic decisions without them. We disagree with this position. 

034 E No comment.  
035 C No. We consider that the distinction between “display” of core information and “disclosure” of 

supporting information is unnecessary and serves no useful purpose: the term “presentation” 
would better address the reporting of both core and supporting information. 
We agree that it is useful to differentiate between “core” and “supporting” information.  
For financial statements, the proposal in paragraph 2.7 that core information relates to the 
information reported on the face of the statements while supporting information is reported in the 
notes to the statements is consistent with current approaches.  
However the framework needs to clearly distinguish between the status of the two categories of 
information.  Is the relative status distinguished solely by location of the information, or does it 
impact on their qualitative characteristics?   
While Para 2.9 states that all core information must be presented to achieve the qualitative 
characteristics, but no mention is made of supporting information. For the avoidance of doubt, 
the framework should clarify that the qualitative characteristics apply equally to core and 
supporting information. If IPSASB considers that fair presentation can be achieved without 
disclosure of all the supporting information required by standards, this should be explicitly stated. 
Codification by international standards of general purpose financial reports ,other than   financial 
statements, are new developments, and the proposal to differentiate between “cores” and 
“supporting” information is a useful contribution to improving the quality and consistency of such   

 
 
Points noted and included 
under Issue 2 of Agenda Item 
2C.0. 
 
 
 
 
Detail: Note application of 
QCs to both core and 
supporting information. 
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reports. 
Although in Paragraph 1.9 the CP touches on the impact of new technology on presentation of 
general purpose information, this is not considered further. Certain new technologies (e.g. 
XBRL) could impact significantly on the potential location of supporting information. We consider 
therefore that the potential impact of new technology should be considered further by IPSASB. 

 
 
Point noted. 
 

036 C International Public Sector Accounting Standards for GPFS should be distinct from the 
Statements of Recommended Practice related to performance reporting, statistical reporting and 
the other types of reporting (PRS).  This project should be replaced with a project that focuses 
on presentation in GPFS. 

 
View noted. 

037 A The proposed descriptions and relationships are appropriate and adequate.  
038 C We are unsure whether is necessary for the Board to redefine what is meant by ‘presentation’. 

We believe it is necessary to keep the commonly understood terminology of ‘presentation’ and 
‘disclosure’ of information in relation to GPFRs.  Specifically, the use of the word ‘display’, which 
essentially is synonymous with ‘present’, is potentially confusing to preparers and users. 
Alternatively, if the Board believes the distinction is imperative, more clarity, support and reasons 
for this distinction would be helpful for preparers, auditors and users to understand the Board’s 
rationale. 
We agree with the approach to develop a framework based on ‘core’ versus ‘supporting’ 
information, but find that the description of ‘display of core information’ and ‘disclosure of 
supporting information’ may not work in certain scenarios. Paragraphs 2.7 and 2.8 states:  
“2.7 For the financial statements, display applies to the information shown on the face of a 
statement. For information included in GPFRs but outside the financial statements, display refers 
to the ways in which core information is shown… 
2.8 Display and disclosure … do not differ based on the specific presentation techniques used. 
For financial statements the difference is about information location: on the face of a financial 
statement or in the notes.’  
We question how paragraphs 2.7 and 2.8 would be applied for information such as the 
disclosure of future lease commitments or contingent liabilities, which would be deemed as 
‘disclosure of core information’, as to us, that is not supporting information (as defined in 
paragraph 2.11), even though it is not ‘displayed’ on the face of the financial statements.  
It would seem obvious that the current example in paragraph 2.10 to include accruals 
information would be useful for users analysing a set of cash-based financial statements. We 
suggest that the Board also include an example that is relevant for a set of financial statements 
prepared on an accruals basis, to help preparers identify useful supporting information. 
Paragraph 2.11 defines ‘supporting information’ as those that make core information more 

 
Respondent disagrees with 
“presentation”. 
 
 
Note that respondent 
supports the alternative view. 
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useful. We disagree with this definition of supporting information, as we don’t believe the 
disclosure of commitments and contingent liabilities for example, would fit this definition of 
supporting information. Even though such information would provide users a better picture of an 
entity’s future liability position, the liabilities recognised on the face of the financial statement 
does not take into consideration these information and would not help users understand the core 
information. 
Therefore, we are supportive of the alternative view discussed in paragraphs 2.19-20 that 
display is not synonymous with core information and disclosure is not synonymous with 
supporting information. As discussed in paragraph 2.20, we agree that the substance of the 
information (that is, whether the information is essential) would influence the classification of 
core or supporting; instead of the form, i.e. display versus disclosure of that information. 

039 C We disagree with the proposed descriptions and relationships. It is incorrect to say that 
everything shown in the notes to the statements is supporting information. Instead, we support 
the position presented in paragraph 2.20. 

Note respondent’s support for 
the Alternative View. 
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001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A We agree that the detail should be in the standards and not in the conceptual framework.  

003 A Yes, we agree as this direction is most likely to be adhered to by preparers of the accounts. 
However, consideration should also be given to referencing the principal of ‘identification of core 
and supporting information’ in the Framework in order to cover situations not specifically 
addressed by the standards. 

View that clear explanation of 
core/supporting also needed 
at CF level 

004 A We agree that this identification should be made at a Standards-level, subject to our comments 
noted in (a) above. 

Note that comments in 1(a) 
disagreed with the 
core/supporting distinction. 

005 A We also agree that the identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be 
made at a standards level. 

 

006 A Yes (No further comment.)  
007 A CIPFA strongly agrees that identification of core/primary and supporting information for GPFRs 

should be made at a standards level rather than as part of the Conceptual Framework. 
 

008 A We agree with the proposal.   
009 A (No further comment.)  
010 C The IPSAS standards apply to GPFSs and do not cover all information presented in the GPFRs. 

For example, the CP refers to reporting service performance information and reporting on the 
long-term sustainability of a public sector entity’s finances as examples of ‘more comprehensive 
scope’ information which will be included in the GPFRs.  However, the CP on reporting service 
performance information will become a part of the Conceptual Framework (i.e. not a standard) 
and the IPSASB’s publication on the long-term sustainability of a public sector entity’s finances 
was issued as a recommended practice guideline (i.e. not a standard). It is apparent that most of 
other information included in the GPFRs is also highly unlikely to be covered by standards, for 
example, some elements of budgetary information or information on activities and operations of 
the reporting entity. Thus it is not clear how core and supporting information for GPFRs can be 
identified at a standards level when standards only cover GPFSs and do not apply to other 
information presented in the GPFRs. The Task Force recommends expanding the discussion and 
further clarifying this matter before soliciting feedback. 
Echoing the statement/recommendation included in the general comment (c) above the Task 
Force believes that the reporting entity should retain a prominent role in identifying core and 
supporting information to be presented in the GPFRs, including information other than the 

 
 
 
 
Discussion should clarify that 
“standards level”, includes 
both IPSASs and 
recommended practice 
guidelines. 
 
Preparer’s responsibility 
important in identifying core 
and supporting information.  
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financial statements. 
011 A Interrelation of Parts II and IV of the IPSASB Conceptual Framework (SMC 1b)  

We agree with the IPSASB (paragraph 3.2) that final identification and delineation of information 
to be presented (i.e., subject matter to be reported) is not a conceptual issue, but one that needs 
to be determined at the standard setting level.  
In our view, the identification of what the Consultation Paper terms presentation objectives is 
neither a purely conceptual nor a purely standard setting task. Many Boards consult with the 
public at large and with their constituents as to their future Agenda, in order to gain feedback on 
proposed projects as well as new ideas as to how to meet user needs. We therefore support the 
new initiative to be taken by the IPSASB in consulting publically on its Agenda to gain feedback 
about users’ needs and views. 

 
 
 
 
SMC 3 related comment 
 
Support for IPSASB 
consultation on agenda  

012 E The Province does not agree with the proposals identified in (a) in relation to the preparation of 
general purpose financial statements. In allowing it to be applicable to other reporting models, the 
proposals are too broad; this is at the detriment of not providing the necessary guidance required 
to support the preparation of general purpose financial statements. Rather than focusing on 
whether identification of core and supporting information should be made at the standards level, 
the IPSASB should be more focused on developing more specific principles in relation to 
presentation concepts and requirements that would focus on the preparation of general purpose 
financial statements.   

 
 
 
 
Note scope issue, covered in 
Issue 1 of Agenda Item 2C.0. 

013 A HoTARAC notes that IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements already includes information 
that should be shown on the face statements. While disagreeing with the terminology proposed in 
the CP, HoTARAC agrees that identification of specific “core” or “supporting information” should 
be provided at the standards level. However, if the descriptions of “core” and “supporting” are to 
be used as high level principles, HoTARAC believes they need to be more clearly explained at 
the Framework level. 

 
Clear explanation of 
core/supporting also needed 
at CF level 

014 A We agree that the identification of specific items of core and supporting information should be 
made at the standards level whereas the Conceptual Framework should contain the underlying 
concepts.  It would be worth mentioning in the Conceptual Framework that, for each information 
area, presentation (or what we suggest is referred to as the reporting objective) is a unifying 
concept rather than being readily disaggregated into individual standards.  We would support a 
move away from the present practice of concentrating on recognition and measurement within a 
standard and then considering disclosures, almost as an afterthought.   
Accordingly, we recommend that for, each information area, the IPSASB develops an 
overarching Presentation Standard to identify the relevant disclosures and ensure that the 
package of information contained in the GPFR meets the qualitative characteristics.  For 
example, there would be separate Presentation Standards on financial statements and service 

 
 
Disclosures issue 
 
Proposal: Disclosure 
standard for each information 
area. Note detail below on 
what this would involve. 
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performance.  Disclosure requirements could then be included in the Presentation Standard or in 
individual standards.   
We would hope that the IPSASB could develop such Presentation Standards sooner rather than 
later, and would anticipate that this would address issues such as: 

• the objective of providing the information included in that information area, including a 
consideration of the qualitative characteristics; 

• the content that meets that objective; 
• which items are likely to be core and which are likely to be supporting; and 
• how the information should be structured, including consideration of “statements” and 

“notes” and the interaction with other information areas.  
IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements goes some way towards achieving this in terms of 
disclosure requirements (our fourth dot point), but not in linking back to the reporting objective. 
Without some such mechanism, the IPSASB Conceptual Framework could carry forward the 
same complexity and disclosure overload issues that are being grappled with by other standard 
setters. 

 
 
 
Proposal: Note proposed 
content of a disclosure 
standard for each information 
area. 
 

015 C We disagree. We believe presentation concepts can be useful as part of the conceptual 
framework. The main presentation concepts should provide the foundation to foster consistency 
among the various statements. Provided there is enough flexibility (concepts are not overly 
prescriptive), they should serve as guidance in applying the standards. We recognize that a 
conceptual framework that is intended to support GPFS and other GPFR may need to be so 
generic that they would not provide adequate support for the preparer community to produce 
high quality historic GPFS.  

 
Comments noted and 
included under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 

016 A While ACAG does not agree with the distinction between core and supporting information for 
GPFRs, we agree that, if the alternative view is not adopted, the identification of such 
information should be made at a standards level rather than as part of the Conceptual 
Framework. 

 
 

017 A The proposed descriptions provide a definitive and understandable distinction between core and 
supporting information. The table provided in 2.15 illustrates the distinction between core and 
supporting information for GPFSs very well however, for GPFRs the distinction is less clear. For 
this reason we agree that identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be 
made at a standards level rather than as part of the Conceptual Framework due to the foreseen 
advantages of linking the subject of the standard with a particular information area, for example: 
refer to paragraph 2.17 a, b and c. 

 

018 E (See comment on 1(a).)  
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019 A We agree that it is appropriate to identify core & supporting (or whatever the final terminology is) 
information at a standards level, because what information is necessary for users to understand 
the GPFR will differ depending on the transactions addressed in any particular standard. 

 

020 A The identification should be part of the conceptual framework. The standards should contain 
specific guidance for their statements, in harmony with the general guidelines of the conceptual 
framework. We suggest that the definition of core or support information should be made on 
Conceptual Framework. 

General guidelines, definition 
of core/supporting  in the CF. 

021 A I agree with identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be made at a 
standards level rather than as part of the Conceptual Framework. I suggest for the board if 
agree, that observed The 2012 Statistical Abstract9 that has some economic information of the 
countries I understand that some indicators and information can be more useful in this view 
point. Many countries send informations about education, banking, finance and structure, I think 
that this reporting can be more useful for Integrated Reporting for the public sector considering 
your importance. I think that has relation in the point 2.11 this proposal about long-term 
sustainability of public finances, I think, I do not know. 

 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A No comment.  
024 D (The comment above for 1(a) covered both 1(a) and 1(b).)  
025 A We agree and are strongly of the opinion that the identification of specific core and ‘supporting’ 

information for GPFRs should be made at the individual standards level. Dealing with it at the CF 
level would be in our view inappropriate in that the CF should be giving guidance on general and 
generic issues rather than specific items of accounting treatment and disclosure. The latter 
definitely belong in individual standards as points of detail relevant to specific issues. However 
generic guidance on what is meant by core and supporting information should be contained 
within the CF.  

 
 
Include generic guidance in 
the CF 

026 C No we disagree. We think it important that the Framework includes principles of core and 
supporting alongside a presentation objective. 

Links identification to 
presentation objective 

027 C LASAAC has some concerns that the specification of presentation at a standards level could 
weaken the role of professional judgement by finance practitioners, including external auditors. 
In particular presentation decisions that will be specific for a particular organisation and the users 
of its General Purpose Financial Report (GPFR) will normally require the exercise of judgement 

Preparers’ role (with auditor 
input) important  
 
Disclosure overload issue 

                                                 
9 http://www.census.gov/compendia/statab/2012edition.html - The 2012 Statistical Abstract 
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and discretion. In this respect guidance may be a more helpful approach. 
Additionally the risk of lengthening already long financial statements is one that should be noted. 
It is suggested that one of the stated objectives of any final document should be to appropriately 
limit or reduce unnecessary complexity and length of financial statements. 

028 A It is agreed that broad guidelines relating to the identification of core and supporting information 
for GPFRs should be made at the Conceptual Framework Level.  More details relating to 
particular financial/non financial components or areas would be made at standards level. 

 

029 C The identification of core and supporting information for GPFS should be included as part of the 
Conceptual Framework. 

 

030 A We agree that specific core and supporting information should be identified at the standards 
level that is most relevant and representational of the subject matter of that standard. At the 
conceptual level, we believe that it would be useful to lay out the general description of the 
function and nature of core and supporting information in the presentation framework. Drawing 
specific examples from IPSASB’s documents issued for comment on other GPFRs would be 
useful.  We also find paragraph 2.17 helpful.  

 
Include general description of 
core/supporting at the CF 
level 
 

031 C (A) The SRS-CSPCP believes nonetheless that the broad lines concerning core and supporting 
information must be contained in the Framework. The necessary specific and supporting 
information can be embedded in the individual Standards. 

Include general description of 
core/supporting at the CF 
level 

032 A We are also in favour of the core information for the general purpose financial reports being met 
at the standards level rather than through the conceptual framework. 

 

033 C In addition, we do not support the proposal to identify core versus supporting information at the 
standards level. The conceptual framework should provide this guidance in order that standards 
can be developed in accordance with the conceptual framework. We believe that this issue 
reinforces our point that the scope of the conceptual framework is too broad for useful 
application to the development of GPFSs. 

Comments noted and 
included under Issue 1 in 
Agenda Item 2C.0. 
 

034 E No comment.  
035 A We agree that identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be made at a 

standards level rather than as part of the Conceptual Framework. 
 

036 E No comment.  
037 C No. These should be kept as part of the conceptual framework.  
038 C  We believe that the overarching principles for the identification of core and supporting 

information for GPFRs should be made at the conceptual framework level, with more detailed 
Overarching principles for the 
identification of core and 
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requirements and guidance provided at the standards level. This would likely involve building on 
the qualitative characteristic of relevance and the objectives of GPFRs. For example, relevant 
information is described in Phase 1 of the conceptual framework project as being information 
that is capable of making a difference in achieving the objectives of financial reporting. The 
objectives of financial reporting are described as being to provide information that is useful to 
users for accountability purposes and for decision-making purposes. Thus, both core and 
supporting information included in GPFRs would be relevant information that is useful to users of 
GPFRs. However, core information would be the most important information, i.e. highly relevant 
information that is essential (not simply useful) to users of GPFRs. Such a concept could then be 
used to develop overarching principles for the presentation of key elements in the financial 
statements such as assets and liabilities, and more specific guidance at the standards level for 
the various asset classes such as property, plant and equipment and financial instruments. 

supporting information for 
GPFRs should be made at 
the conceptual framework 
level 

039 C We are of the view that, as a minimum, core and supporting information should be identified in 
the conceptual framework. Thus, if in certain standards this identification is not made, the 
conceptual framework can serve as support to do so. 
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SMC 2 – (See paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12):  

With respect to the IPSASB’s approach to presentation of information: 

(a) Do you agree with the development of presentation concepts that can be adopted for the more comprehensive scope of GPFRs including, 
but not restricted to, financial statements? 

(b) Do you agree with the approach of (i) focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives, (ii) application of the qualitative 
characteristics (QCs) to presentation decisions, and (iii) separate presentation concepts?  

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
SMC2 (a) (b) 
(A) AGREE 25 20 
(B) PARTIALLY AGREE 2 8 
(C) DISAGREE 8 6 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 0 1 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 35 35 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 4 4 
TOTAL 39 39 

 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 2(a) STAFF COMMENT 

001 C General comment states that: The CNoCP once again expresses reservations on the scope of 
the GPFRs, as it has already done on the consultation papers previously issued on the 
Conceptual Framework. Definitely, the CNoCP considers that the accounting standard setters 
are not qualified for GPFRs. 

Reason noted. 

002 A We agree with both of these items (i.e. 2(a) and 2(b)).  

003 A Yes, we strongly agree as public sector activities should add value, due to the ethos of meeting 
a public need, despite this activity not operating on a break-even or profitable financial basis. A 
more comprehensive scope for GPFRs will facilitate demonstrating this value. 

Reason noted 

004 A We support the development of presentation concepts that can be applied broadly to the 
presentation of information in general purpose financial reports. We view this work as being 
critical to the advancement of reporting outside the financial statements. 

Reason noted 

005 A 1. We agree with both (a) and (b). 
2. However, we suggest that the Board should clarify the definition and the scope of 

information areas other than GPFSs (but included in GPFRs), as well as their relationships 
with GPFSs in the Conceptual Framework. 

Phase 1 related issue 
(definition and scope 
information areas outside of 
GPFS)  
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3. At present, those entities that have adopted IPSASs should follow either compulsory 
requirements (IPSASs) or optional guidelines (such as recommended practice guideline 
“RPG”) with regard to their preparation and disclosure  

4. In relation to this, we suggest that the Board should consider whether the same 
presentation concepts can be applied to GPFSs prepared in accordance with IPSASs, and 
long-term fiscal sustainability reports prepared in accordance with the RPG. We also 
recommend that, in some cases, it would be desirable to include the circumstances when 
presentation concepts are applied to these reports in the Conceptual Framework. 

 
Issue: Is it possible to apply 
the same presentation 
concepts to both GPFS and 
other information areas? 

006 A Yes   
007 A CIPFA agrees that it is helpful to develop presentation concepts. Furthermore, while standard 

setting has previously concentrated on financial statements, in the light of the wider scope of the 
IPSASB Conceptual Framework it would be most helpful if such presentation concepts can be 
relevant both to the financial statements and to other reporting that may be developed in line 
with the broader scope of the Conceptual Framework. 

 
 
Reason noted 

008 A We agree with the proposal.   
009 A (No further comment.)  
010 E The Task Force considers this question as non-essential for the following reasons: 

a. It is not supported by a discussion of alternative approach(es) which can be followed if 
presentation concepts are not developed since the concepts were presented as an integral 
part of the proposed presentation approach; and  

b. It does not present an analysis of an impact of not developing the presentation concepts on 
the quality of the GPFRs’ presentation as well as on the objectives of Phase 4 of the 
Conceptual Framework. 

c. Section 6 of this CP is dedicated to development of presentation concepts and addresses 
them at a detailed level. Therefore the purpose of Specific Matters for Comment (SMC) 2(a) 
above which presents an option of not agreeing to developing of the presentation concepts is 
not clear. It appears that a significant amount of time was devoted to developing the 
concepts and respondents are requested to provide detailed feedback on the result of this 
analysis in SMCs 4 and 5. 

The Task Force suggests that this question is revisited after the above concerns are addressed.   

 
 
 
 
Comment relevant to SMC 
2(b)  
 
 

011 B As the IPSASB has already commenced several projects that extend beyond “traditional” 
GPFSs, we agree that there is a need for the Conceptual Framework to deal with presentation in 
broader ranging GPFRs. 
We appreciate the fact that the IPSASB decided some years ago that Parts I and IV of the 
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Conceptual Framework Project would cover GPFRs whilst Parts II and III would be restricted to 
GPFSs. However, our involvement in the project so far has shown that part IV is less 
straightforward than the other three, since there is little conceptual work in this area upon which 
the IPSASB can draw. Given this, we suggest the IPSASB consider whether it might be better to 
approach this part of its project in two steps. The first step could concentrate on GPFSs, with 
which there is the most familiarity, and then in a second step test and adapt, as necessary, the 
concepts for application in GPFRs.   
Illustrative examples of the application of principles to GPFS and GPFRs could be useful in 
some areas, as this may serve to test whether the concepts are sufficiently flexible on the one 
hand and sufficiently detailed as to be helpful to standard setters and preparers on the other. 

 
 
 
Proposed alternative, two-
step approach noted.  
 
 

012 C No, the Province does not agree with the development of presentation concepts that can be 
adopted for the more comprehensive scope of GPFRs including, but not restricted to, financial 
statements. It is the Province’s position that the scope of the Conceptual Framework should be 
limited to historical information and not extended to include prospective and non-financial 
information. As such, presentation concepts should focus on the requirements that relate to 
general purpose financial statements.  

 
 
 
Reason noted 

013 A Overall HoTARAC broadly agrees with the development of high-level concepts to be applied to 
the information contained in the broader definition of GPFRs, subject to other comments 
provided in this submission. However, HoTARAC does not agree that the additional three 
presentation concepts, outlined in section 6, are high-level principles and hence they should not 
be part of the Framework. HoTARAC supports the view expressed in paragraph 3.8 that: 
“QCs could guide presentation requirements and practice without interpretation, and the direct 
application of the QCs could be viewed as more reliable than use of an intermediate set of 
presentation concepts.”  
Therefore, HoTARAC can see no reason for a QCs’ interpretation, which would likely create 
confusion in applying the QCs to the information included in GPFRs. In HoTARAC’s view the 
QCs in themselves are sufficient to guide information included in GPFRs. Section 5 of the CP 
appears to be more in the nature of guidance on the use of QCs, rather than being conceptual in 
nature and may be more appropriately located in an attachment to the Exposure Draft or 
delegated to a standard level.  
In the instance that the Board decides to retain the additional terminology of “display”, 
“presentation” and “disclosure”, the majority of HoTARAC would recommend there be clear link 
between this and the division between core and supporting information. In particular, the 
presentation decision of where information should be located would appear to be clearly related 
to the prominence of “core information” (paragraph 2.6). As noted above, at least one HoTARAC 
jurisdiction supports the Alternative View of paragraphs 2.19-2.20 and does not consider the 

 
 
 
 
Note comments related to 
2(b)(iii) 
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proposed distinction applies well to broader GPFRs information. 
The majority of HoTARAC views the presentation decisions of “what, where and how“ are very 
useful. In particular Table 1: Qualitative Characteristics and the Three Types of Presentation 
Decisions generally clearly illustrates the relationships between the QCs and the GPFRs 
information format. In HoTARAC’s view the table doesn’t adequately distinguish between the 
“where” and “how” decision types for the QC of comparability. At least one HoTARAC jurisdiction 
does not support the inclusion of this material in the Framework.  

 
Note comments related to 
2(b)(ii) 
 

014 A We support the development of overarching presentation concepts that can be adopted for the 
more comprehensive scope of GPFRs (which presently encompasses financial statement 
information, service performance information and Information on the long-term sustainability of 
finances). Our vision is in that, in the long term, the GPFR (even if issued in more than one 
document) presents a comprehensive package of information. Further, we would expect that the 
improvements that result from addressing the development of presentation concepts from the 
perspectives of all information areas will outweigh the difficulties of developing such concepts. 

 
 
 
Reasons noted 

015 C We disagree. In order for presentation concepts to be useful, they cannot govern all information 
in general. Each type of report has a separate purpose and in order for presentation concepts to 
be useful, they must guide preparers in achieving that purpose.  
It is important to note here that the approach toward creating a conceptual framework for 
financial statements has been applied to reporting that is not financial accounting. Financial 
statements have existed for a long time. For example the users for general purpose financial 
statements are not necessarily the same users with the same needs for other general purpose 
financial reporting. As a result the conceptual framework to support both types of reporting would 
need to be so generic that it would be useless to the preparer community in producing GPFS. A 
sound conceptual framework depends on abstracting concepts from a history of practical 
experience. It is how we know whether the rules we derive through abstraction will stand the test 
of time. By applying the same method to derive a conceptual framework to govern special types 
of reporting, of which there is no coherent principles or history to differentiate between what is 
useful and what is confusing, appears to be an inherently flawed objective.  

 
 
Reasons noted 
 

016 A ACAG agrees with the development of presentation concepts that can be adopted for the more 
comprehensive scope of GPFRs including, but not restricted to, financial statements. ACAG 
considers that presentation concepts are important for preparers of financial statements and that 
separate presentation concepts are necessary to operationalise the qualitative characteristics of 
financial information in relation to presentation. Establishing presentation concepts that can be 
adopted for broader types of general purpose financial reports, such as service performance 
reports, should enhance the quality, understandability, relevance and comparability of such 
reports. 

 
 
 
 
Reason noted 
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017 A It seems more useful and likely to promote consistency if the presentation concepts developed 
are not restricted in their application and can be adopted for the more comprehensive scope for 
GPFRs.   

 

018 A The AASB agrees with developing ‘presentation’ concepts (while noting its preference for calling 
them ‘display’ concepts: see the AASB’s comments in paragraph 5 of this Appendix) that can be 
adopted for the more comprehensive scope of GPFRs (than financial statements) decided upon 
in Phase 1 of the IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework project.  The AASB considers that such 
concepts should be developed for any information within the scope of the Conceptual 
Framework.  This would not preclude developing such concepts first for financial statements, 
and then for other information in GPFRs, if that approach helps make the process manageable. 

 
 
 
Reason noted 

019 A We agree that the development of presentation concepts that can be applied to GPFRs and not 
restricted to GPFSs would be helpful. 

Reason noted 

020 A Yes, because the financial statements and supplementary information of each country may not 
be restricted to those required by IPSAS. In the Brazilian public sector, other information is 
required from public agencies (primarily by control agencies, major users of accounting 
information). 

Reason noted 

021 A Yes, I agree with the development of presentation concepts that can be adopted for the more 
comprehensive scope of GPFRs, but I have doubt in relation modifications that can occur in 
relation the presentation for public sector that has specific laws in jurisdictions and the concepts 
in this case need to be used for all public sectors, I do not know, independent of financial 
statements. 

 

022 C (See general comment for opposition to broad scope.)  
023 A No further comment.  
024 E No further comment (See comment for 2(b) which applies to both parts of SMC, but does not 

respond to this question.)  
 

025 A No further comment.  
026 A Yes we agree.  Having decided to develop a Framework that reflects a scope for financial 

reporting that is more comprehensive than that encompassed by financial statements and 
their notes, it is important that the IPSASB develop presentation concepts suitable for this 
broader scope. 

 
Reason noted 

027 E No comment.  
028 A Yes, agreed.  
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029 C The Province believes that the development of presentation concepts should be limited to GPFS.  
030 B It depends on whether a meaningful and useful presentation framework can be developed for 

GPFRs. Further work on materials in this Consultation Paper would be needed to make it a high-
quality conceptual framework for presentation in GPFRs. Discussions and examples in the 
Consultation Paper were mostly related to and restricted to Phase 1 concepts and presentation 
of GPFSs. Discussion of presentation issues and decisions was primarily operational rather than 
conceptual. Concepts and ideas were rather disconnected.  
Our thoughts on a possible structure of a GPFR presentation framework would include the 
definition of presentation; detailed discussion on three key presentation decisions of “what”, 
“where” and “how” in a logical sequence of steps for development of GPFR pronouncements and 
GPFRs; and guidance applicable to all types of GPFR in presentation principles or concepts. 
Applicable Phase 1 concept will be included in the discussions of presentation decisions and 
concepts. 

Note that agreement depends 
on whether “meaningful and 
useful’ concepts can be 
developed. 

031 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the presentation concept. But it insists that, as proposed, the 
presentation concept is not limited only to the GPFSs, but is also extended to the GPFRs. 

 

032 A We agree with both (a) and (b).  
033 C We find that the presentation concepts described, which are fundamental and acceptable in the 

development of GPFRs, are too high level and abstract to be of significant value in developing 
standards for presentation of information in GPFSs. While it is valuable to express these 
concepts, their usefulness as a framework for determining how and what information should be 
presented and disclosed in the financial statements is limited. 

 
Reason noted 

034 E No comment.  
035 A Yes.  
036 C Presentation concepts should be developed for PRSs. However, IPSASB should adopt the 

Canadian practice and develop a separate body of guidance for supplementary reporting that is 
distinct from IPSASs. 

Note recommendation of 
separate concepts for non-
GPFS reporting  

037 A Yes, presentation concepts will aid in enhancing the usability of general purpose financial 
reports. The concepts provide structure - outlines how information is to be presented in terms of 
importance (core vs supporting). They facilitate comparison, provide clarity and timeliness. 

Reason noted 
 

038 A We agree that a presentation and disclosure framework needs to be developed for the more 
comprehensive scope of GPFRs. As discussed above, it would be helpful for standard-setters if 
there is a conceptual basis for distinguishing between core information and supporting 
information, which would provide a conceptual basis for reducing mandatory disclosure 

Reason noted 
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requirements and enhancing the overall usefulness of information presented. For example, 
standard-setters could assess existing and proposed disclosure requirements for a specific 
information area covered by a particular accounting standard against this conceptual basis, to 
firstly determine whether the information is considered to be essential for accountability or 
decision-making purposes, in which case it would represent core information. For all information 
that is not considered to be core information, a further assessment could be undertaken to 
determine whether that information is sufficiently relevant to warrant a mandatory disclosure 
requirement.  In situations where the information is not essential but is sufficiently relevant to 
warrant mandatory disclosure, the information should be disclosed as supporting information. 
Such a concept should help not only to distinguish between core and supporting information, but 
also whether the information should be required at all. By focusing on “what’s really important”, 
this should help standard-setters to be more selective in setting mandatory disclosure 
requirements and hence reduce the volume of disclosures. 

 
 
 
Note further discussion 
related to SMC 1(a) 
core/supporting information  
 

039 C We disagree. In our opinion, there is too much difference between the nature of the information 
presented in the financial statements compared to the information that can be included in 
financial reports for the same presentation concepts to be applied. In addition, as we mentioned 
in our comments regarding an earlier phase of development of the conceptual framework, its 
scope should be limited to financial information contained in the financial statements. 
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001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A We agree with both of these items (i.e. 2(a) and 2(b)).  

003 B (i) Yes, although it may be preparers of the GPFR who decide on the identity of the users and 
their needs. Users of public sector information are many and varied. 
(ii) Yes, we agree. This approach already applies to financial information prepared under IFRS, 
as per the current IFRS Framework adopted by the IASB. 
(iii) This could be an optional choice, given that the reason for this approach could be clearly 
explained by the preparers of the GPFR. 

 
 
 
 
 

004 B (i) We agree broadly with the approach of basing presentation objectives on users’ information 
needs in a particular area. As indicated in our response in (a) above, we also support the 
application of presentation objectives.  
(ii) We do however not understand the second step in the approach which is “the application of 
the qualitative characteristics to presentation decisions”. While we understand that applying the 
qualitative characteristics to the presentation decisions may have been useful in formulating the 
presentation concepts, we do not see this as a discrete step in the presentation approach. As 
such, we believe that this is already sufficiently addressed and the qualitative characteristics 
already included in the presentation concepts. Some of the text in section 4 of the Consultation 
Paper could however usefully be included in the Basis for Conclusions and the table on page 21 
may be useful to include as an Annexure to Conceptual Framework. 

 
 
 
(ii) Disagrees – reason noted 

005 A We agree with both (a) and (b).  
006 A Yes   
007 A (i) CIPFA agrees that presentation objectives should reflect user needs.  

(ii) CIPFA agrees with the discussion of the consideration of QCs in presentation decisions. 
However, we would note that we do not find the more detailed follow-up material in section 5 
Table 1 helpful, and we disagreed with several of the explanations therein, and particularly the 
parts relating to timeliness.  
Rather than provide corrections or alternative drafting, we suggest that the framework should not 
include drafting at this level of detail. 
(iii) On balance, CIPFA agrees that setting out presentation concepts in the Conceptual 
Framework is a helpful way of informing the development of presentation objectives and the 
consideration of QCs in presentation decisions during the standard setting process. 
We also wonder if ‘concepts’ is the best term for the material at 2b(iii): the proposals seem to be 

 
 
Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted 
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more in the nature of overarching principles or objectives which inform the development of the 
standards level objectives outlined at 2b(i). 

008 A We agree with the proposal.  
009 A (No further comment.)  
010 C The Task Force finds it difficult to commit to a decision about an approach which is at the stage 

of theoretical discussion.  It would be most helpful if the IPSAS Board could expand this high 
level discussion to cover practical examples and overview of benefits arising from compliance 
with the proposed approach.  This discussion could include the Board’s views and any studies 
undertaken to assess a magnitude of improvement in the quality of GPFRs’ presentation if the 
proposed approach is followed.  Any change in reporting financial information brings with it 
implementation costs for a reporting entity, especially if it calls for an additional analysis and/or 
an expanded scope.  In order to support such a change, the reporting entities need to have a 
clear understanding of risks, costs and benefits associated with it.  The best place to address 
this area would be in the reissued CP. 

 
Reasons noted. 

011 E No comment.  
012 C It is the Province’s position that the approach that is outlined is too broad and should be more 

specifically tailored to general purpose financial statements. The proposals as outlined in 4.3 
detail user needs that are met through reporting that is outside of general purpose financial 
statements. As such, focusing on an approach that specifically requires tailoring objectives for 
different user needs (i.e. various financial reporting) diminishes the value of specific presentation 
guidance that should focus on developing presentation principles and guidelines to support the 
preparation of general purpose financial statements.   
While there is some validity to an approach that applies the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to 
presentation decisions, it is not evident from the proposals that this is necessary as a component 
of a Conceptual Framework. In fact, such an aspect should be conceptually understood as a 
consideration in applying professional judgment. A more appropriate approach would be to 
address the components and requirements for presentation in relation to the elements included 
in the Conceptual Framework that relates to financial statements.  
In relation to the presentation concepts that are proposed, these only appear to be general 
statements based on the application of the qualitative characteristics and constraints in the 
consideration of how best to present information. There is no specific concern with the proposal; 
however it would be more useful with more specific references to general purpose financial 
statements.  

Reasons noted 

013 B (i) HoTARAC agrees on focussing on users needs in identifying presentation objectives, but 
notes the CP states presentation objectives will be determined at the standard level.  HoTARAC 

(i) Agree, but considers that 
presentation objectives 
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recommends that high level concepts such as “core” vs “supporting” information or presentation 
objectives should only be included in the Conceptual Framework. The content of individual 
IPSAS should apply the high level principles to the specific topic of that IPSAS. 
(ii) HoTARAC agrees with the application of QCs to presentation decisions as per comment 
above. As mentioned above, at least one jurisdiction does not agree with the presentation 
decision being in the Framework.  
(iii) As noted in the response to (a) HoTARAC does not agree with the inclusion of the three 
separate presentation concepts, outlined in section 6, in the Conceptual Framework. 
HoTARAC considers the material developed in respect of those presentation concepts and 
presentation techniques provides guidance in the application of the QCs to presentation. 
HoTARAC does not consider these to be conceptual in nature. 

should be included in the CF. 
 
 
(ii) Agrees 
 
 
(iii) Disagrees – reason noted 
 

014 A In our view, developing concepts addressing the presentation of information requires the 
IPSASB to focus on all three identified aspects of the approach (being user needs, application of 
the qualitative characteristics and presentation concepts). Our concern with the CP is that it 
could be interpreted to suggest that only one of these aspects might be used in developing an 
approach to the presentation of information. 

 
 
Note need to make clear that 
all three aspects would apply 

015 C We disagree: If financial statements in general should be focused on user needs and meeting 
the qualitative characteristics, it follows that the concepts used to present this information also 
meets those same user needs.  
The three presentation concepts discussed in section 6 help to address three issues:  

1. What information needs to be shown;  
2. Where it should be located and;  
3. How it should be organized 

These concepts are merely reiterating the proposed conceptual framework of which we has 
significant concerns as expressed in responses to the previous consultation papers, and do not 
provide any additional guidance in making presentation decisions. It is unclear what purpose 
presentation concepts provide to the rest of the framework, especially if the specific rules 
surrounding presentation will manifest as standards.  
We would also like to reiterate from our previous response we support reliability as a more 
appropriate qualitative characteristic than faithful representation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reason noted 
 
 
Comment applicable to 
Phase 1 

016 C ACAG considers that focusing on user needs and applying qualitative characteristics are 
fundamental to the preparation of general purpose financial reports. These two concepts are 
overarching for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure decisions.  
In our letter dated 22 June 2011 in response to the Exposure Draft on Phase 1 of the Conceptual 

Appears to support (i) and (ii) 
to some extent. 
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Framework, ACAG considered materiality to be a qualitative characteristic rather than a 
reporting constraint. We note that this view has not been adopted by the IPSASB and that 
materiality continues to be listed as a constraint. ACAG is of the view that materiality is 
fundamental to presentation decisions. We note that materiality is linked to a separate 
presentation concept in paragraph 6.1 of the CP. ACAG suggests that (ii) be amended to 
“application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) and constraints on information to 
presentation decisions”.  

 
Disagrees with Phase 1’s 
treatment of materiality. 
 
Suggested change noted. 
 

017 B We agree with the approach of focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives. We 
also agree that the scope of GPFRs and of understanding users’ perspectives is changing and is 
likely to continue to evolve as IPSAS develop and further information is provided to users. A 
focus on the user is therefore likely to result in an approach that will need to [be] developed and 
reviewed over time. 
As regards (ii) “application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to presentation decisions” our 
experience of IFRSs indicates that unless guidance and interpretation is provided inconsistent 
accounting interpretations can still result and this inconsistency is more widespread when the 
subject matter is that of presentation and disclosure. We therefore conclude that it is necessary 
to provide greater clarity on the presentation concepts and agree that “(iii) separate presentation 
concepts” should be developed. 

 
(i) Agrees 
 
 
(ii) More than application of 
QCs is needed.  
Reason noted. 

018 B 1. The AASB agrees with focusing on user needs to identify ‘presentation’ objectives. However, 
the AASB considers that decisions about the associated principles should be preceded by 
decisions about the economic phenomena to be presented and disclosed. This would flesh out 
the implications of focusing on user needs. As far as the AASB is aware, the IPSASB’s work to 
date on its draft Conceptual Framework has not attempted to identify those economic 
phenomena in a structured manner. The AASB recommends that, to facilitate developing a 
coherent and structured set of objective-driven (rather than topic-driven) disclosures, the 
IPSASB should identify the general characteristics of an entity (economic phenomena) that 
should be the subject of general purpose financial reporting. 
2. The AASB Chairman has been undertaking research into these general characteristics of an 
entity, as a basis for developing a coherent and structured set of disclosures.  Examples of these 
characteristics, which were provided to IPSASB project staff in September 2011 (based on 
research work-in-progress), are: 
(a) the capacity of the entity to provide goods and/or services under its current business 
model, and whether that capacity is changing over time; 
(b) the sustainability of the business model being employed, and whether that sustainability 
is changing over time;  
(c) the ability of the entity to change to alternative business models (entity sustainability), 

 
(i) User needs insufficient 
without identification of entity 
characteristics (economic 
phenomena to be presented). 
 
Noted - suggested further 
work (gap in coverage).  
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and whether that ability is changing over time;  
(d) the adequacy of the entity’s financial structure, including liquidity and solvency, and 
whether that adequacy is changing over time; and 
(e) the capacity of the entity to change its financial structure, and whether that capacity is 
changing over time. 
[These particular characteristics (economic phenomena) are provided to illustrate an apparent 
gap in the draft IPSASB Conceptual Framework, rather than to initiate debate at this stage on 
what those particular characteristics should be (given that they are a work-in-progress).]  
3. The AASB envisages the general characteristics of an entity identifying at a high level the 
information needs stemming from the objective of general purpose financial reporting, which it 
regards as providing information to users of GPFRs that is useful for making decisions about the 
allocation of scarce resources, including providing information to discharge the accountability of 
the entity’s management.  In the hierarchy of a Conceptual Framework, those general 
characteristics of an entity would precede (or sit above) the qualitative characteristics of useful 
financial information and would determine the subject matter of the financial reports (economic 
phenomena depicted). 
4. The AASB considers it anomalous that the general characteristics of an entity of the kind 
described in paragraph 17 above seem not to be addressed in the IPSASB’s draft Conceptual 
Framework, when some of them are addressed in IPSASB ED 46 Reporting on the Long-Term 
Sustainability of a Public Sector Entity’s Finances.  Specifically, IPSASB ED 46 proposes that 
the dimensions of fiscal sustainability are fiscal capacity, service capacity and vulnerability. 
Matter 2(b)(ii) 
5. The AASB agrees with application of the qualitative characteristics to ‘presentation’ decisions, 
noting that the qualitative characteristics pertain to all information in general purpose financial 
reports. 
6. However, the AASB considers that applying the qualitative characteristics of useful financial 
information would not, of itself, identify the information that should be presented and disclosed.  
The qualitative characteristics should be applied to information about the general characteristics 
of an entity, and therefore are not a substitute for identifying those characteristics.  (See the 
AASB’s comments on Specific Matter for Comment 2(b)(i), regarding the importance of 
identifying information about the general characteristics of an entity as a basis for developing a 
coherent and structured set of objective-driven disclosures.) 
7. As mentioned in paragraph 18 of this submission, the AASB envisages that the general 
characteristics of an entity would precede (or sit above) the qualitative characteristics of useful 
financial information. 
8. The AASB considers that the comments in Table 1 on page 21 of the CP, illustrating 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(ii) QCs insufficient on their 
own.  
 
 
Reason noted. 
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application of the qualitative characteristics to presentation decisions, warrant elaboration.  As 
worded, a number of those comments look like mere assertions.  (This does not mean the AASB 
disagrees with them.)  For example: 
(a) it is not readily apparent how information’s location can facilitate timeliness; 
(b) it is not readily apparent why the extent to which information can be verified and the 
ways in which different types of information are verified may impact on where information is 
shown; and 
(c) it would be useful to provide an example of locating information in a manner that aids 
understandability. 
However, the AASB does not support the comment in Table 1 that “Relevance is important when 
distinguishing between core information and supporting information.”  As discussed in the 
AASB’s comments on Specific Matter for Comment 1(a), the AASB disagrees with separately 
defining, or otherwise distinguishing between, core information and supporting information. 
Matter 2(b)(iii) 
9. The AASB agrees with the proposal to develop separate ‘presentation’ concepts. It also 
considers that such presentation concepts should complement identified general characteristics 
of an entity, developed as a basis for developing a coherent and structured set of objective-
driven disclosures [see the AASB’s comments on Specific Matter for Comment 2(b)(i)].  The 
AASB’s comments on the specific presentation concepts proposed in the CP are set out under 
Specific Matter for Comment 4. 

 
Specific point (elaboration of 
Table 1) noted. 
 
Note – not convinced that 
timeliness is applicable to 
“where location is located” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(iii) Agrees with need for 
separate presentation 
concepts 
 

019 A (i) We also agree that it is necessary to focus on users’ needs to be able to identify presentation 
objectives; 
(ii) The QCs identified in Phase 1of the Conceptual Framework (CF) project should be applied to 
presentation decisions if they are relevant.  To this point we do not agree that timeliness is a QC 
that applies to ‘where information should be located’ as suggested in Table 2 on  page 23; and 
(iii) We agree that separate presentation concepts, such as the ones proposed in Section 6 of 
the CP should be developed because aside from Concept 1, these ideas are not really 
developed as part of the QCs proposed in Phase 1 of the CF project. 
Further we consider that these concepts will aid in preparers to determine what and how 
information is to be presented to help meet the objectives of GPFRs being accountability and 
decision making. 
Our only objection is to the use of the word ‘concepts’ in presentation concepts and suggest 
another term be used, perhaps ‘principles’. 

 
 
 
(ii) Noted – disagrees with 
timeliness as QC applicable 
to “where location is located” 
 
 
 
(iii) Noted – Recommend 
“principles’ instead of 
“concepts” 

020 A Yes  
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021 A Yes, I think that is very important these points as “(i) focusing on user needs to identify 
presentation objectives, (ii) application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to presentation 
decisions, and (iii) separate presentation concepts numbers 3.6 – 3.11.”  
I understand that for the public sector the concepts, objectives and qualitative characteristics are 
similar around the world, with some specific laws in some countries that depends of culture, I 
described this in relation concepts only, I think that objectives and qualitative characteristics are 
the fundamental process for public sector. 
This point need to be concluded after answer of the cooperation of the G20 in this case, for do 
not have problems; I observed that some countries are engagement together IFAC in this project 
of development and are making modifications for attend international standards, that in this 
moment is very important. 

 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A No comment.  
024 C There appears to be a tension between stakeholders in this framework and it is not clear 

whether primacy is being given to the users as citizens, service providers, capital markets or 
future taxpayers. Each group of user will have different needs and it will be difficult to meet the 
needs of all user groups. Our view is that the user groups need to remain narrow. We are aware 
that IPSASB has already defined the users of public sector financial reports in Phase 1 of its 
conceptual framework - namely service recipients (and their representatives) and resource 
providers (and their representatives) – but these may give a diversity of interests that is difficult 
to manage in financial reporting terms. At the moment the conceptual framework is trying to be 
all encompassing, which has made it complicated.  

 
 
 
Concern already noted under 
“General Comments”. 

025 A We think it is sensible to focus on user needs, provided that there is clarity on what is meant by 
the ‘user’ as there are a number of different users of the GPFRs. We think the application of QCs 
to presentation decisions is sensible but can see that the development of specific presentation 
concepts will help to clarify how good presentation outcomes can be achieved. 

 

026 B We agree with the perspective that user needs are critical to presentation decisions as set out in 
approach (i). However we do not agree that this approach excludes the development of 
presentation objectives only at the standard level approach. As existing and past financial 
statement reporting conceptual frameworks contain little or no discussion of the presentation 
concept (display and disclosure), users of the finalised IPSASB conceptual framework will not 
have the benefit of past experience. Therefore, we can understand why some commentators will 
see benefit in the approach in (ii) application of the qualitative characteristics (QCs) to guide 
presentation requirements. However, we question the need for this level of detail about QCs in a 
chapter on presentation as it is our expectation that the completed structure of the finalised 

 
(i) Reason noted (user needs 
do not replace need to 
identify presentation 
objectives) 
 
(ii) Reason noted 
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framework comprises a set of chapters that operate together. We agree that the direct 
application of the QCs is more reliable than the use of an intermediate set of presentation 
concepts. We do not agree with the approach in (iii) separate presentation concepts. 

(iii) Disagree. Reason noted. 

027 A LASAAC agrees, however it should be noted that guidance on how to identify and assess user 
needs would be extremely beneficial in improving presentation decisions. 

Point noted. 

028 A All three approaches agreed with. The Conceptual Framework may also include a high level 
discussion on how presentation concepts would be affected when finances are not sustainable 
or are in a crises situation. More detailed presentation concepts in this regards would be 
incorporated at standard setting level. 

 
Recommendation for further 
coverage noted. 

029 B The primary users of public sector financial statements are the general public who need clear 
and understandable information to evaluate the government’s performance against approved 
budgets. The Province agrees that presentation objectives and standards should be developed 
with these users in mind. 

(i) Agree 
(ii) and (iii) no comment 

030 C It is unclear what the proposed approach means in terms of showing the steps or the course to 
development of presentation guidance in future GPFR pronouncements.  
It is difficult to comprehend the circular logic described in Section 3 of the Consultation Paper:  
• The three components of the approach are three presentation perspectives (paragraphs 3.6 

to 3.12); 
• Each of three presentation perspectives contributed to the three “presentation concepts” 

(paragraph 3.5); 
• The three presentation concepts together is one of the three components of the 

presentation approach (paragraph 3.3) and one of the three presentation perspectives 
(paragraphs 3.11 to 3.12). 

We suggest an alternative structure in (a) above which would integrate the three components 
where appropriate. 

 
Reasons noted 
 
 

031 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this approach, but points out that (iii) is too detailed for the user of 
the Standard. If, however, the CP is addressed chiefly to the Standard Setter, the SRS-CSPCP 
agrees with this definition (including Item (iii)). 

 

032 A Focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives is paramount and the application of 
qualitative characteristics is essential to the user’s understanding of the GPFR. 

 

033 A We agree with an approach that focuses on users’ needs and the qualitative characteristics of 
information. In our opinion, IPSASB should develop objectives and concepts specific to GPFSs 
in the conceptual framework that are separate from those applicable to other GPFRs. 

Noted under SMC 2(a)  
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034 E No comment.  
035 A Yes.  
036 D The IPSAS conceptual framework of GPFS must be distinct and separate from the conceptual 

framework of supplementary reports. The proposed approach could be used for both a GPFS 
conceptual framework and a distinct conceptual framework for supplementary reporting. 

Point noted under Issue 1 of 
Agenda Item 2C.0. 

037 A i)Focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives 
Yes, there must be a focus on user needs in seeking to identify presentation objectives. Users of 
General Purpose Financial Reports (GPFR’s) basically fall into three categories:  

1. Resource Providers: employees, lenders (creditors, suppliers) donors, members of non 
business entities (clubs and professional bodies), public sector entities, parliament, 
taxpayers and ratepayers 

2. Recipients of Goods & Services: those who benefit from goods or services provided by 
the reporting entity. 

3. Parties performing review or oversight functions: e.g. parliament, regulatory agencies, 
labour unions, employer groups, media, etc 

The information needs of each user/stakeholder will vary. The presentation objectives must give 
cognizance to these needs and the report designed accordingly. 

II. Application of Qualitative Characteristics (QC’s) to presentation decisions 
Qualitative characteristics ensure that information has certain qualities/features for it to have 
value to the users. The presentation decisions of what, where and how should be considered 
along with: 

• Relevance (applicable to the particular situation) 
III. Separate Presentation Concepts 

Aspects of the presentation concepts are embodied in the QC’s of information as they relate to 
comparability & timeliness of information. However, the concepts imply that information is cost 
effective, focuses on the location of information and on organizing information that may be 
located in different places to show the relationships. 

 

038 B We agree with the approach taken by the IPSASB to present information as described in 
paragraph 3.3. However, we question the significance and usefulness of the presentation 
concepts described in section 6, as the description of these concepts seems to be a paraphrase 
of the QCs and objective of financial reporting. We believe further research and outreach by the 
IPSASB needs to be conducted, in order to develop presentation and disclosure concepts that 
are helpful to preparers and practitioners. 

Agree with overall approach 
(i), (ii) and (iii), but: 
(iii) Disagrees with the 
proposed concepts. Reason 
noted. 
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In addition, under paragraph 3.9, when discussing the application of QCs to the presentation 
concept, information is required to be neutral. We agree that ideally, information should be free 
from bias. This criterion is applicable for both narrative information, and the judgements and 
assumptions used to arrive at quantitative information. It would be helpful to preparers to 
illustrative and emphasize the neutrality and objectivity required when presenting different types 
of information. Therefore we suggest that the Framework elaborate the discussion of various 
information types, and develop presentation objectives and concepts for the differing types of 
information (for example concepts for presentation on the face of financial statements versus 
service performance information). 
Further comment, which has been included here because of its relevance to the overall 
approach:  
We are unsure whether the guidance found in Table 1 is non-mandatory and is only for 
‘illustrative purposes’ as mentioned in paragraph 5.4, or it should be considered to be mandatory 
requirements for preparers. If the intention of the Board is for users to apply the guidance in 
Table 1, for example, under the QC of comparability, where information is shown, to organize so 
that like items look alike and different items look different, we find this guidance overly 
prescriptive, and preparers should be able to use their judgement to decide where the 
information is shown (subject to the requirements in particular accounting standards), in order to 
fulfill the comparability criterion. 

 
 
 
(ii) Coverage insufficient. 
Need to elaborate on 
concepts applicable to 
different information types. 
Noted.  
 
 
 
Noted – concerns about 
inclusion of Table 1 because 
it is overly prescriptive. 
 

039 A We agree with this approach.  
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This CP discusses the importance of developing presentation objectives as part of standard setting.  

(a) Do you agree that presentation objectives should be developed? 

(b) If so, in your view, should they be developed at a standards level, or as part of the Conceptual Framework? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
SMC 3(a) 
(A) AGREE 29 
(B) PARTIALLY AGREE 1 
(C) DISAGREE 4 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 1 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 35 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 4 
TOTAL 39 

SMC 3(b) 
(SL) STANDARDS LEVEL 15 
(CF) PART OF CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 13 
(O) OTHER (BOTH OR NEITHER) 3 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 1 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 32 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 7 
TOTAL 39 

 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 3 (a) and (b) STAFF COMMENT 

001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A/SL We agree that presentation objectives should be developed at the standards level.  

003 A/SL Yes, we agree.Standards level, as preparers are more likely to adhere to specific direction.  

004 A/SL We agree that the development of presentation objectives for an information area will be critical 
in (a) identifying what information will be required to meet users’ needs and (b) ensuring that the 
best or most appropriate presentation is selected for such information to ensure that users’ 
needs are met. 
As the presentation objectives will be linked to users’ needs for a particular information area, 
these presentation objectives should be developed at a Standards-level. These presentation 
objectives will (or should) however be closely linked to the broad information needs of users and 

Reasons for (a) and (b) 
noted. 
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the objectives of financial reporting described in Phase I of the Framework. 
005 A/CF We agree that the presentation objectives should be developed.  

If they are not clarified in the Conceptual Framework, we are concerned that entities would not 
have the criteria they can refer to. Entities would need to be given a certain set of objectives they 
can refer to, in deciding which items are to be presented and how they are presented in the 
GPFRs. This is due to the fact that the practice of financial information disclosure has not 
become fully established amongst public sector entities. We believe that the Board should 
develop presentation objectives as part of the Conceptual Framework. If each objective were to 
be developed at a standards level, the relationships among all of GPFRs may be unclear and the 
ultimate objective of the GPFRs may not be achieved. 

 
 
 
Reason for CF level noted. 

006 A/ 
Both 

a) Do you agree that presentation objectives should be developed? Yes. 
b) If so, in your view, should they be developed at a standards level, or as part of the Conceptual 
Framework? Yes. (Interpreted to mean development be at both levels.) 

 
Note: Both CF and SL 
 

007 A/SL CIPFA agrees that it will be helpful to develop presentation objectives for use during standards 
development.  
In CIPFA’s view this should be done at ‘standards level’ during the development of standards, 
having regard to the specific matters under consideration, while also having regard to the 
incremental effect of changes arising from revised or new standards on the overall package of 
financial reporting.  

 
 
 
Further information noted. 
 

008 A/SL We agree with the proposal. We believe that the presentation objectives should be developed at 
a standards level.   

 

009 A/SL We agree that that development of presentation objectives is important and that they should be 
developed at a standard level. Developed objectives might be a good basis to determine to what 
extent requirements in standards are material or not in actual preparation of financial reports. 

 
Reason noted – standards 
level. 

010 C/O a) The Task Force suggests that this decision is left to the reporting entities. Use of presentation 
objectives can be encouraged, but if a reporting entity is able to meet needs of users of the 
GPFRs by following a different presentation approach (which may not include formulation of 
specific presentation objectives) it should recognized as equally acceptable. 
b) The Task Force notes that the CP appears to have a very definitive position on this issue as it 
repeatedly states in paragraphs 3.4, 4.2 and 4.5 that “the development of presentation objectives 
is a task at the standard setting level, rather than at the Conceptual Framework level”. It is not 
clear why the SMC 3 includes an open-ended question on this issue, especially since the above 
quoted position is not supported by any discussion and the CP does not include references to 
any alternative approach(es).  In the absence of the discussion on this subject in the CP, to 

 
Reason noted.  
 
Level: Preparer/reporting 
entity 
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answer this question the respondents would need to carry out their own analysis in order to 
evaluate the validity of the position outlined, including identification of alternative approach(es).  
This is not typical of the IPSASB’s papers, which usually contain a comprehensive review of 
each question included in the SMC, especially when the Board leans towards a certain decision.  
The Task Force therefore suggests that this issue is revisited after a more comprehensive 
review is provided in the CP.  
The Task Force’s preliminary position on this issue is that IPSAS standards address GPFSs and 
do not apply to other information included in the GPFRs.  Therefore the standards may set out 
presentation objectives for the financial statements and accompanying notes, but not for other 
information (service performance information, information on the long-term sustainability of 
finances, budget information, etc.).  The Task Force is of the view that reporting entity should 
have a leading role in making presentation related decisions, including formulation of 
presentation objectives, if any.  This is especially relevant to other information reported in the 
GPFRs as the scope and focus of this information is unique to each reporting entity. 

011 D Presentation Objectives – Presentation Levels (Also relevant to SMC5) 
1. We believe that the Conceptual Framework should not concentrate solely on the 

presentation aspects of core and supporting information.  
2. For example, how a report is entitled is also part of its presentation. In this context we note 

that paragraph 2.6 uses the term “information area”, and footnote 4 suggests a few examples 
of information areas, including service performance information and financial statements as 
separate information areas, but that information areas are not considered presentation 
issues otherwise within the Consultation Paper.  

3. At the other end of the scale, paragraph 1.9 discusses briefly a possible impact of internet 
tools on presentation, as they allow readers to drill down from a standardized summary 
presentation of information into more detailed underlying data.  

4. In our view, aspects such as the above-mentioned also need to be covered in the 
Conceptual Framework. 

(Also note Respondent 11’s comment under SMC 1(b) that: In our view, the identification of what 
the Consultation Paper terms presentation objectives is neither a purely conceptual nor a purely 
standard setting task.) 

 

012 C/E No, the development of presentation objectives as proposed in this CP are not considered 
necessary in relation to a Conceptual Framework that should be applicable to the purpose of 
preparing general purpose financial statements. 
NA 

Reason noted. 

013 A/CF HoTARAC agrees that high level presentation objectives should be developed. As noted in the  
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response to the Phase 1, HoTARAC recommends consideration be given to the objective of 
financial reporting, as this will guide other objectives, such as those of presentation. Meeting the 
user needs is paramount. Based on the identified user needs, presentation objectives should be 
developed to guide the presentation decisions of “what, where and how”. 
HoTARAC notes that the illustrative examples appear to refer to reporting objectives rather than 
presentation objectives. 
The majority of HoTARAC, who support the CP’s proposed distinction between core and 
supporting information, suggests a better example of presentation objectives would be, based on 
the current format of financial statements and potential user needs:  

• Presentation decisions of “What and Where”:  To provide core information in a more 
prominent location (e.g. information presented in the profit or loss, balance sheet and 
cash flow statements) and at the appropriate level of disaggregation in the GPFR (e.g. 
the level of aggregation presented on the face of the statements and prominence of 
certain totals). 

• Presentation decisions of “What and Where”:  To improve the understanding of the 
information provided in the prominent location, to disclose explanation, context and 
more details of that information, in the notes to the financial statements or other 
supporting information in GPFRs, (e.g. notes disclosure to disaggregate some 
information presented in the statements and to provide measurement methods and 
accounting policies applied).  

• Presentation decisions of “How”: Narrative to provide management discussion and 
analysis. 

HoTARAC believes that high level reporting and presentation objectives should be included in 
the Framework. 

 
 
 
Noted: CP examples refer to 
reporting objectives 
 
 
 
Noted: Proposed presentation 
objectives 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted: Need to develop both 
presentation objectives, and 
reporting objectives. 

014 B/CF The NZASB agrees that presentation objectives need to be developed. However, we have a 
number of concerns with the proposals as they currently stand: 
(a) the proposed presentation objectives are more in the nature of reporting objectives for 
an information area (i.e. they address matters that are much broader than presentation, as 
explained further below); and 
(b) the presentation objectives that are specified at standards level need to be limited to the 
scope of the standard. 
We consider that the Conceptual Framework should identify the major information areas (and 
possibly sub-areas) and the reporting objectives to be met by those information areas. That is, a 
reporting objective would operationalise the objective of GPFRs in respect of a particular 
information area. Such material would expand the discussion in paragraphs 2.14-2.26 of CF-
ED1, Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: 

Noted: Need to develop 
reporting objectives, which is 
what these “ presentation” 
objectives really are.  
 
 
 
Noted: Proposal - Objectives 
applicable to each information 
area – at CF level 
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Role, Authority and Scope; Objectives and Users; Qualitative Characteristics; and Reporting 
Entity (Information Provided by General Purpose Financial Reports). 
Presentation objectives such as those used as examples in paragraph 4.4 are more of the 
nature of “reporting objectives” encompassing the selection of inputs and how they are to be 
measured as well as the final presentation. Once the reporting objective is determined, 
standards would develop specific requirements related to the acquisition of necessary 
information to meet the purpose of the information area or sub-area that it is addressing, leading 
to the disclosure of core and supporting information in respect of that information area or sub-
area. 
In conclusion, we consider that reporting objectives should be developed.  Each information area 
or sub-area specifically identified in the Conceptual Framework would have a “reporting 
objective”.  We then envisage that a Presentation Standard should be developed for each 
information area, with the specific presentation and disclosure requirements contained in that 
Standard or in other standards relating to the information area.  The individual disclosure 
objectives at the standards level should be linked back to the Presentation Standard and the 
reporting objective for the information area to ensure that the GPFR is a well-co-ordinated 
collection of information rather than a set of disclosures about individual items.  
However, as discussed in our general comments earlier, this approach could lead to the re-
opening of earlier phases of the conceptual framework project, as it deals with matters that are 
not limited to presentation.   

 
 
 
 
 
Presentation standards for 
specifics re disclosure, etc 

015 C/E We disagree. Financial statements should have objectives. Presentation concepts should help 
meet those objectives. It is unnecessary to have separate objectives for presentation alone as it 
is simply a vehicle to convey information to users. Presentation concepts and standards should 
guide preparers toward a consistent and comparable approach to compiling and illustrating 
financial information. This will ensure a reasonable level of comparability among different 
jurisdictions and consistency year-over-year. 
(Standards or Framework) N/A – We would like to describe the approach taken by PSAB toward 
presentation. In the PSAB handbook section 1201 provides presentation concepts that strike an 
excellent balance between providing guidance and flexibility in presentation. For example, the 
Canadian standards define concepts such as Net Debt (financial assets less liabilities) to ensure 
that it is consistently applied by preparers. However, PSAB is flexible enough to allow for 
presenting debt of consolidated organizations as a separate line item from provincial debt to 
provide more detail on the nature of Ontario’s liabilities. 

Noted: Distinction between 
objectives for financial 
statements (yes) versus 
presentation objectives (not 
necessary). 
 
 
Noted: Proposed alternative 
approach to presentation 
concepts 
 

016 A/SL ACAG agrees that presentation objectives should be developed at a standards level. 
However, the illustrative presentation objectives in paragraph 4.4 of the Consultation Paper 
appear to be objectives relating to the general purpose financial report as a whole, rather than 

 
 
Noted. Different concept of a 
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objectives relating to presentation concepts. In ACAG’s view, a presentation objective should be 
phrased to state how the selected information is most appropriately communicated to the users 
of a general purpose financial report.  
In their current form, the illustrative ‘presentation’ objectives are relevant to decisions about 
recognition and measurement, as well as presentation and disclosure. ACAG suggests that the 
term ‘financial reporting objective’ more clearly describes these illustrative objectives. 

presentation objective. 
 
Noted: Rename the 
objectives as “financial 
reporting objectives” 

017 A/SL We agree that presentation objectives should be developed and that they should be developed 
at a standards level.  
We consider accountability and decision-making objectives to be fundamental to the basis of 
information provided by the application of IPSAS. 
Users and preparers of IPSAS compliant financial statements are currently used to interpreting 
IPSAS at the level of the relevant accounting standard. It will be more difficult for them to 
interpret consistently presentational objectives at a Conceptual Framework level.  

 

018 A/CF a)  
1 The AASB agrees that ‘presentation’ objectives should be developed. It also considers that 
such presentation objectives should complement identified general characteristics of an entity, 
developed as a basis for developing a coherent and structured set of objective-driven 
disclosures [see the AASB’s comments on Specific Matter for Comment 2(b)(i)].  
2 The AASB observes that some examples of presentation objectives in paragraph 4.4 of the CP 
are similar to the general characteristics of an entity mentioned in the AASB’s comments on 
Specific Matter for Comment 2(b)(i) [see paragraph 17 above].  The AASB regards its proposals 
for identifying the general characteristics of an entity as compatible with, but more 
comprehensive than, the presentation objectives illustrated in the CP. Another difference 
between the general characteristics of an entity and the CP’s presentation objectives is that (as 
mentioned in paragraph 18 above) the general characteristics would, in the hierarchy of a 
Conceptual Framework, precede (or sit above) the qualitative characteristics of useful financial 
information and would determine the subject matter of the financial reports. 
3 Each of the illustrative presentation objectives in paragraph 4.4 of the CP seems broader (or 
higher-level) than the user information needs identified in paragraph 4.3 of the CP.  Therefore, it 
seems odd that only examples of presentation objectives are provided, given the extensive list of 
user information needs set out in paragraph 4.3. Identifying the general characteristics of an 
entity that should be the subject of financial reporting would address that concern, and would 
overcome the ambiguous distinction made between user needs and presentation objectives in 
the CP. 
b)  
1 The AASB disagrees with the comment in paragraph 4.5 of the CP that “the development of 

 
 
 
 
Noted: Recommend using 
objectives closer to the 
“general characteristics” that 
the AASB has developed. 
 
Noted: Heirarchy of 
application issue – objectives 
should sit above QCs 
 
 
 
Noted: Ambiguous 
relationship between user 
needs and objectives 
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presentation objectives is a task at the standard setting level, rather than at the Conceptual 
Framework level”. The AASB considers that any such objectives should be developed as part of 
the IPSASB Conceptual Framework, and extended in individual IPSASs to the extent they are 
specific to the scope of a particular IPSAS. 
2 If presentation objectives were developed only at a Standards level, there is a risk that 
objectives common to topics covered by different IPSASs would be redeliberated in developing 
or revising each IPSAS. This would be inefficient and increase the risk of ad hoc decisions that 
could:  
(a) differ from IPSAS to IPSAS, and according to the changing composition of the IPSASB 
over time; and 
(b) impede the rationalisation of presentation and disclosure requirements through the 
development of a coherent and structured set of objective-driven disclosures.  

Reason noted.  
 
 
 
 

019 A/SL We agree that presentation objectives should be developed. This should be at a standards level 
rather than as part of the CF 

 

020 A/CF We agree, because it prevents dispersion on statements’ creation. 
The goals should be developed in general and exemplary form on Conceptual Framework. The 
standards must develop specific goals for their financial statements in harmony with the overall 
goals of the Conceptual Framework. 

 
Note: CF-general/ SL-specific 

021 A/D Yes, I agree that presentation objectives should be developed, principally because for the 
government the budget concept is different relation application of private entities. This study has 
new idea about cost for attend social programs that I considered very important for the 
government but I think that is very difficult for implementation, considering the risk not financing. 
I think that for the public sector the standards levels and conceptual framework are important for 
all public sectors around the world that applied the international standards elaborated for 
regulators, principally for IFAC-IPSASB. I observed that with application of the Integrated 
Reporting in the near future is very important these informations are integrated with 
effectiveness, high quality, clearly and transparency. I understand that for the public sector use 
of IPSAS elaborated for IFAC is very important for development the rules and laws about 
accountant standards for public sector with effectiveness. I suggest for the board if agree that 
the audit standards for public sector need to consolidated, too, I understand that is very 
important for the public sector. 

 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A/SL No comment  
024 A/SL Yes, while we agree with developing these presentation objectives and that they should be set at Phase 1 issue (users) 
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a standard level, the breadth of users is too wide therefore presentation objectives are too wide. 
We find it hard to comprehend how so many user needs and therefore how many presentation 
objectives are going to be met by one set of financial statements. 

025 A/CF We agree Presentation objectives would be helpful in ensuring clarity on what the purpose of 
GPFRs are. 
It seems to us that there is a place for defining high level presentation objectives in the CF and 
having detailed application guidance in individual standards. In our opinion, the ED would be 
improved if a two level approach was adopted with generic guidance in the CF and specific 
application guidance on presentation included in individual standards. 

 
 
Note: CF-general / SL-
specific 

026 A/CF Yes we agree that presentation objectives should be developed. 
We believe the Framework is the appropriate place to articulate a presentation objective and 
we believe the material in section 4 is appropriate to include in the Conceptual Framework. 
We can understand why some commentators will see benefit in the approach as set out in 
approach (ii) above at Comment 2b. However, we do question the need for this level of 
detail about QCs in a chapter on presentation.  While we also believe the information 
contained in section 5 describing the relationship of the QCs to Presentation is useful we 
believe it may be too detailed to include in the main framework of concepts.  
This could be provided as guidance material. 

 

027 A/0 LASAAC recommends that identification of presentation objectives through the provision of 
guidance, rather than specification, should be considered.  

Note: Guidance, not 
specification 

028 A/O Yes, presentation objectives should be developed to operationalise accountability and decision 
making objectives, and guide presentation decisions for a particular information area. 
The key presentation objectives are to be discussed at the Conceptual Framework level whilst 
more detailed objectives would be included in individual standards.  

Reason noted. 
Note: CF-general / SL-
specific 

029 A/CF The Province agrees that presentation objectives should be developed for GPFS.  The 
objectives of GPFS should primarily be to evaluate the government’s management of its financial 
resources and assessing whether the resources were administered in accordance with the 
legislated authorities. 
The objectives for GPFS should be included as part of the Conceptual Framework. 

 

030 C/SL a) It appears that examples and discussions in Section 4 of the Consultation Paper use the term 
“presentation objectives” to mean purposes or objectives of a particular GPFR. The term 
“presentation objectives” may mean something quite different for others, e.g., the presentation 
objective is to present information in an understandable manner. To avoid unnecessary 
confusion and misunderstanding, we suggest that this term be replaced with a term that better 

Reason noted. 
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represents the purpose and objective of a GPFR. 
The concepts of both “presentation objectives” based on common understanding of the term and 
“objectives of a GPFR” should be developed and described in the presentation framework. For 
example, how objectives of a GPFR should be determined (i.e., based on user needs and 
financial reporting objectives) should be identified in the Conceptual Framework. The specific 
objectives of a particular type of GPFRs should be developed at the standards level.  
b) See answer to the question (Comment 3a) above. 

 
Note: Recommends 
developing both types of 
objective 
Note: Point re role of CF vis-
a-vis “objectives of a GPFR” 
 

031 A/CF The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the development of standards for the presentation of information. 
As already stated under Question 1b), the SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that the broad lines for 
the presentation of information should be contained in the Framework.  Additional information 
can be embedded in the individual Standards. 

 

032 A/SL Yes, we agree that presentation objectives should be further developed, but we would prefer that 
these are developed at standards level. We believe that if they are addressed through standards 
there will be a greater likelihood of the presentation objectives being implemented by public 
entities. 

 
Reason noted –  
standards level 

033 A/CF It is difficult to separate specific presentation objectives from the overall objectives of GPFSs or 
GPFRs. We believe that objectives (including presentation objectives) specifically for financial 
statements should be developed as part of the conceptual framework rather than at the 
standards level. These objectives should be separate from those of other GPFRs. 

 

034 E No comment.  
035 A/SL No further comment  
036 A/D Presentation objectives should be developed; however, there should be separate presentation 

objectives for GPFS contained in IPSASs and a distinct set of supplementary reporting 
objectives contained in a separate set of recommendations for PRSs. 
Prior to making this determination, IPSASB should undertake a project on the presentation and 
disclosures associated with GPFS that are already included in IPSASs. Such a project would 
provide the background necessary to determine whether presentation objectives should be 
developed at a standards level or as part of the Conceptual Framework. 

 
 
 
 
 

037 A/CF Yes, Presentation objectives should be developed. They provide more  specificity  to the overall 
financial reporting objectives of accountability and decision making. 

Reason noted 

038 A/O We agree that the development of presentation objectives is crucial. 
At a minimum, as mentioned earlier, these overarching presentation objectives and principles 
should be developed in the Framework for GPFRs, and key elements of the GPFS (e.g. assets 

 
Note: Detailed requirements 
should be developed at both 
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and liabilities), but there should be more specific requirements and guidance given at the 
standards level (for example, more specific presentation requirements in Long Term Fiscal 
Sustainability report and financial instruments). 

levels; CF and SL 

039 A/SL We agree. In view of the evolving nature of the extent of financial reporting and the targeted 
interrelationship between the needs of the users and the information necessary to meet these 
needs, the objectives should be developed at the standards level. 

 

 

  



Agenda Item 2C.2 CP, Presentation Respondents’ Comments 
IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Page 83 of 107 

SMC 4 – (See paragraphs 6.1 to 6.27):  

This CP proposes three presentation concepts. Please provide your views on these concepts, in particular whether: 

(a) Any of these concepts should be excluded from the Conceptual Framework; and  

(b) The description of each concept could be improved and, if so, indicate how.  

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
(A) AGREE                      (INCLUDE ALL CONCEPTS) 23 
(B) PARTIALLY AGREE (INCLUDE SOME CONCEPTS) 4 
(C) DISAGREE                (INCLUDE NONE OF THE CONCEPTS) 6 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 0 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 33 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 6 
TOTAL 39 

 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 4 STAFF COMMENT 

001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 B The concepts look good to us but we still have problems as to how they will help in the 
presentation of information. 

Note: Concern that the 
concepts are not helpful. 

003 A We agree that these concepts should be included in the Framework. We would offer the 
following for consideration: 
Select information which meets user needs: 
Central Government department (ministries) and public sector bodies in Ireland publish Strategy 
Statements. These statements ought to give expected direction over a number of years, stating 
quantifiable, measurable key performance indicators against which the level of achievement 
towards expected outcomes can be demonstrated. 
Where possible, achievement levels in relation to these strategic outcomes should be referenced 
in public sector general purpose financial reports (GPFRs) where those reports are relevant, 
even in a minor manner, to Strategy Statements.  
Cost-benefit test 

1. The benefits of information are dependent what the user does with the information. The 
preparers of GPFRs may not know all these uses. 

2. The public sector may decide not to present information because the inclination is not to 
deal with the task and may state ‘cost-benefit’ as an excuse. To off-set this, where a 
decision is made not to present information, the reasons for this decision, with 

 
 
 
Specific proposal – outside 
scope of Phase 1 
 
 
 
 
 
Phase 1 relevance, but note 
that CP Presentation also 
describes the meaning of 
cost-benefit 
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supporting evidence where possible, should be given.     
3. Some necessary public services are provided to minority population segments who 

depend on such services. In such instances, GPFRs may never pass a cost-benefit test, 
yet is still necessary for users, including decision-makers. 

Timely 
The public sector may display a tendency to ‘miss’ deadlines. Where expected timeframes are 
not met, the reasons for this event should be stated, along with a specific schedule of when the 
information will be available. This may allow users, including decision-makers, to adjust their 
own position accordingly. 

 
 
 
 
Specific proposal-outside 
scope of Phase 4 
 

004 A (a) We support the three presentation concepts outlined in the Consultation Paper, subject to 
our comments in (b) below.  

(b) We have the following comments on the descriptions of the presentation concepts:  
Concept 1: Select information to meet users needs, satisfies the cost-benefit test, and is 
sufficiently timely 
We are of the view that the presentation concept should be described differently. We propose 
the following wording: “Select information to meet users’ needs, satisfies the cost benefit test 
constraints on information, and is sufficiently timely”. We are of the view that focusing on cost-
benefit considerations in the absence of considering materiality may not ensure that the right 
information is closed. If it was intended that materiality would be considered in “select the right 
information” then this needs to be articulated more clearly in the accompanying explanatory 
material.  
We also do not agree with the rationale included in paragraph 6.10 that “…information whose 
benefits justify the costs is likely to enhance relevance…”. Information’s relevance is not related 
to the cost of its preparation. While cost certainly should be considered a constraining factor, we 
do not believe that it enhances its relevance; relevance will be linked directly to whether the 
information provided meets users’ needs.  
The concept, as currently worded notes that information selected should be sufficiently timely. A 
possible unintended consequence of this wording is that this may be interpreted as implying that 
is information is not sufficiently timely, it might not be presented. We suggest that this be clarified 
in any explanatory guidance developed.  
Concept 2: Locate information to meet users’ needs 
While we agree with the concept, we do not support the opening sentence on paragraph 6.15 
which states that: “Information location can provide users with important signals about 
information’s verifiability”. It appears that this sentence equates verifiability with assurance. We 
are of the view that because verifiability is an overriding qualitative characteristic of information, 
it should be verifiable regardless of its location.  

 
Proposals re. each concept 
noted 
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Concept 3: Organize information to make important relationships clear and support comparability 
While we agree that one of the objectives of organising information is to make important 
relationships clear, we believe that organising information can also ensure or enhance faithful 
representation. For example, decisions about organising assets and liabilities appropriately may 
ensure that they are not offset against one another, which would ensure faithful representation of 
the transactions as well as the entity’s financial position.  

005 A We believe that none of these concepts should be excluded from the Conceptual Framework. 
With regard to the presentation concept of “(W)hat information needs to be shown” for the 
presentation decision, we suggest that “(S)elect accurate (or verifiable) information” should be 
added, with the consideration of QCs (especially verifiability). 

Concept 1: Proposed 
improvement. 

006 A We have no suggestion of improvements.  
007 A CIPFA broadly supports each of the presentation concepts, which respectively inform the detail 

of presentation, the overall structure of presentation, and the relatedness of information 
presented both within and across reports, statements, sections and other divisions of financial 
reporting material.  
In line with other comments, it would be helpful if the description of each concept 

- Were more explicitly related to the understandability of financial reporting 
- Were linked in less detail to discussions of application of the other qualitative 

characteristics and constraints 

All three concepts: Proposed 
improvement 

008 A We believe that the proposed three presentation concepts are appropriate to be included in the 
Conceptual Framework. We agree with the overall description.  Regarding #1, “Select 
information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit test, and is sufficiently timely”, we 
suggest the following edits: “Select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit 
and materiality considerations, and is timely.” 

Concept 1: Proposed 
improvement. 

009 A The description of the concepts should in our opinion also take into consideration what is said in 
our overall opinion about national demands and limitations. i.e. “…we are of the opinion that the 
technique of optimizing the presentation of financial reports also has to consider demands and 
limitations deriving from national constitutional and other lawful background.” 

 
Noted under General 
Comments 

010 C a) The Task Force is of the opinion that the presentation concepts should be proposed as 
guidance as opposed to the final set of concepts allowing reporting entities to customize focus of 
information presented in their GPFRs. 
The Task Force has an alternative suggestion on the hierarchy of the presentation concepts.  
Concept 1 (WHAT information needs to be shown) includes sub-concept of timeliness of 
information (WHEN information should be shown).  It appears logical to use the same approach 

 
Concept 3: Proposed 
reclassification of Concept 3 
to become a subset of 
Concept 2 
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with concept 2 (WHERE information should be located) by including it as a sub-concept of 
concept 3 (HOW information should be organized), since location is not a common critical 
concept applicable to all categories of information in the GPFRs.  As previously mentioned in the 
response to the SMC 1(b), paragraph 2.8 the CP implies that location is critical to presentation of 
information in the financial statements and notes thereto and is less important for other 
information reported in the GPFRs.  For example, once information for GPFSs is classified 
between core and supporting, its location is pre-determined, as depicted by the diagram in 
paragraph 2.15 of the CP (on the face of a financial statement for core information or in the 
notes for supporting information).  Other information included in the GPFRs, however, is not 
subject to the rules of location regardless of whether it is considered as core or supporting.  
Therefore it might be concluded that WHERE concept is not common/critical enough to be 
classified as a leading presentation concept alongside of WHAT and HOW. In addition, concept 
3 already includes many elements of concept 2, which would make integration of the latter 
easier. 
b) Concept 1 appears to focus only on financial statements and notes thereto and needs to be 
expanded to provide guidance on other information reported in the GPFRs. SMC 1(b) proposes 
that identification of core and supporting information for GPFRs should be made at a standards 
level rather than as part of the Conceptual Framework. At the same time, paragraph 6.17 under 
Concept 2 suggests that presentation techniques relevant to this concept could include 
development of criteria to distinguish between core and supporting information within a particular 
GPFR information area. It would be useful if the relationship between these somewhat conflicting 
statements was clarified. The Task Force supports the view that reporting entities should retain a 
prerogative of identifying core and supporting information based on guidance provided by the 
CP.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concept 1: Proposed 
improvement. 
 

011 E   
012 A No, these presentation concepts should not be excluded from the Conceptual Framework as 

these are valid concepts that generally detail application to the qualitative characteristics. While 
they are valid concepts, it is our position that any statements regarding concepts and principles 
should be tailored in application to general purpose financial statements. 

 

013 C As noted in the response to Question 1(a), HoTARAC does not agree with the development of 
these three presentation concepts in the Framework as these are simply interpretations of the 
QCs. However, HoTARAC can see merit with this material and recommends it be included as 
guidance.   

Reason noted Only interpret 
the QCs 

014 C This response sets out our views on Specific Matters for Comment 4 and 5.  
The three “presentation concepts” proposed are: 

1. select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-benefit test, and is 
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sufficiently timely; 
2. locate information to meet user needs; and 
3. organise information to make important relationships clear and support comparability. 

As we have noted above, we consider that the first concept is an integral part of the identification 
of the reporting objectives for an information area and hence deals with broader matters than 
presentation.  For example, in the case of the financial statements information area, many of the 
decisions relative to that concept are determined by the definition of the elements.   
Further, we consider that the component of the Conceptual Framework addressing the selection 
of information should emphasise the need to ensure that excessive disclosures do not obscure 
the information that is included in the GPFR.  We would expect the Conceptual Framework to 
emphasise that: 
(a) for both the IPSASB and users of IPSASs (including preparers, auditors and regulators), 
materiality is a critical element in the selection of information to be disclosed, and its 
presentation; and 
(b) for the IPSASB, each item of data that is specifically required to be disclosed at the 
standards level should be carefully tested for its relevance to the reporting objectives of the 
information area under consideration.  
We consider that the second and third concepts are more disclosure principles than presentation 
concepts. 
Overall, the proposed concepts appear to be more of a rephrasing of particular aspects of the 
objectives of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics, rather than presentation 
concepts that build upon those objectives and qualitative characteristics. 
As an aside, we note that Table 1 states “relevance is important when distinguishing between 
core and supporting information.”  We assume that all information disclosed in the GPFR is 
relevant, and we note that CF-ED 1 does not identify different levels of relevance.  We 
recommend that this comment be clarified.  This also links back to our earlier comments on 
developing a concept for distinguishing between core and supporting information. 

 
 
 
Concept 1: Reasons against 
this concept 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concepts 2 and 3: Reason 
against 
 
All three concepts: Reasons 
against. 
 
Further point: Issue re. 
heirarchy of relevance 
 

015 C We agree that presentation concepts belong in the conceptual framework, but these particular 
concepts appear too broad to provide appropriate guidance in the preparation of GPFS. It is 
questionable how useful they will be in the preparation of other types of reports as well.    
The best way to approach presentation concepts is to first define the exact type of report for 
which they apply. Presentation concepts for GPFS will be different than for a report on the long 
term sustainability of a government’s finances. For example, does the long term sustainability 
reporting of a government’s finances need to be timely the way GPFS do? Can faithful 
representation truly apply to projections 50 years into the future? 

Reason noted. 
 
 
 
Further point noted. 
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IPSASB’s approach to cover all types of reporting through its framework poses a significant risk 
that the concepts in the framework are too broad to be useful particularly for GPFS and may 
create confusion on how to apply the conceptual framework and interpret standards when 
producing historic general purpose financial statements. 

016 A ACAG considers that the three presentation concepts are appropriate and should be included in 
the Conceptual Framework. 
The linkages in Table 2 between the separate presentation concepts and the qualitative 
characteristics and constraints may be useful in operationalising the application of these 
overarching concepts. Currently, each presentation concept is linked to at least five of the six 
qualitative characteristics. Further consideration could be given to more specific linkages to the 
key qualitative characteristics and/or constraints relevant to each presentation concept. In 
particular, ACAG suggests the following improvements to Table 2: 

• Presentation concept 1 “Select information” – include the constraints “materiality” and 
“cost-benefit” 

• Presentation concept 2 “Locate information to meet user needs” – delete the qualitative 
characteristic “timeliness” 

• Presentation concept 3 “Organise information” – include the constraint “cost-benefit” 
IPSASB should consider rephrasing the presentation concept 2 “Locate information to meet user 
needs” because this concept is too broadly phrased to be useful to preparers of GPFRs in 
making presentation decisions about the location of information in the report. Additionally, 
IPSASB could further explore comparability in relation to presentation concept 2. For example, 
locating comparatives with the current year information allows comparability across periods. 
Comparability should  be a consideration when determining where information is located. 
ACAG considers that the descriptions of each concept are overly detailed. For example, five 
paragraphs to describe “Information that satisfies the cost-benefit test” appear to be excessive 
for a relatively straight-forward concept. ACAG also suggests including discussion on how the 
presentation concepts are impacted by the constraints (particularly materiality and cost-benefit) 
to avoid excess detail being included in GPFRs. 
In our letter dated 31 March 2009 in response to the Consultation Paper on the conceptual 
framework, ACAG recommended the inclusion of “substance over form” as a qualitative 
characteristic. While we note that the IPSASB has not taken up this recommendation, it is worth 
noting that this concept relates most closely to presentation decisions. Therefore, ACAG 
suggests that making reference to substance over form, where relevant, would also improve the 
descriptions of the presentation concepts. 

 
 
Noted: Comments on Table 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concept 2: Proposed 
improvement 
 
 
 
 
All three concepts: Proposed 
improvements 
 
 
 
 

017 A We agree that all of the three presentation concepts should be included.  We believe that the 
three concepts are interrelated and complement each other.  We consider the description of the 
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three concepts cover the needs of users for timely information that meets their needs, is well 
presented, clear and comparable, is easy to understand and appropriate.   

018 A 1. The three proposed concepts are largely acceptable to the AASB.  However, proposed 
‘presentation’ concepts 1 and 2 seem to identify principles that are already evident from Phase 1 
of the draft IPSASB Conceptual Framework, and therefore do not appear to contribute 
significantly to the development of the IPSASB Conceptual Framework.   
2. Proposed ‘presentation’ concept 1 refers to the selection of information that meets user 
needs.  This seems to overlap the ‘presentation’ objectives discussed in Section 4 of the CP 
(which seem to be focused on the economic phenomena to be reported).  The AASB suggests 
clarifying the relationship between ‘presentation objectives’ and ‘presentation concepts’. 
3. In addition, regarding proposed presentation concept 1, it is not apparent why the qualitative 
characteristic of timeliness is specifically singled out for mention, but not others like relevance 
and faithful representation.  Another concern is that, although timeliness is a characteristic of 
information that meets user needs, proposed presentation concept 1 mentions information that is 
‘sufficiently timely’ in addition to mentioning information that meets user needs.  
4. Regarding proposed presentation concept 2, the AASB recommends adding discussion that 
the location of an item in a set of financial statements will depend on such matters as: 
(a) whether the item itself meets the definition and recognition criteria for an element of 
financial statements.  This is mentioned briefly in paragraph 1.7 of the CP, but warrants 
discussion in Section 6 (integrally with other discussion of where to locate information in a 
GPFR); and 
(b) the nature of the information about that item (for example, disclosures about 
measurement uncertainties and of a sensitivity analysis might need to be made in notes, due to 
their volume and complexity). 
5. The AASB supports proposed concept 3. 

 
Noted: Concerns re Concepts 
1 and 2 
 
Concept 1 - Concern 
 
 
Concept 1 - Concern 
 
 
 
Concept 2 - Concern 
 
 

019 A We agree with the three presentation concepts and do not consider any should be excluded from 
the CF. With regards to Concept 2, we do not consider that the QC ‘timeliness’ to be relevant to 
where information is presented. 

 

020 A No, the concepts are good selected. 
The terms "location" and "organization" are confused regarding to Item 6.13 (c) "link different 
items of information that contribute together towards achievement of a particular user need or 
presentation objective", and 6.19 "linking related information helps users to find information 
important for faithful representation, understandability, and verifiability”. The terms "core 
information" and "support" also appear in the two settings. There is need to clarify what is to 
"locate" and "organize" for these two types of information. 
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021 A Concept 1: I think that this concept is very useful and important for the conceptual framework of 
the public sector, in this point includes the principal aspects that government use as information 
in your reporting, notes and financial statements. I think that this point is more operational. The 
informations in this case are more useful for internal or external control, stakeholders and policy-
makers. I understand that can be integrated with audit services in relation a studies about risks 
and factors as described in the point 6.4. The study about risk for public sector is very important 
because social programs elaborated for government can be have or not development for 
determined period. 
Concept 2: In this topic, I suggest that IPSASB contact some regulators for public sector, I think 
that informations about financial statements and your notes are determined for rules and laws in 
each country. If this topic do not occur problem in relation a jurisdictions I think that can be 
include as conceptual framework, I consider the importance clear and transparency of the 
information of public sector and your services applied for citizens. 
Concept 2: I think that for the government is more useful and comparability is related with impact 
of services, programs that the government elaborated for period. 4(b) I think that the description 
of each concept is clear and I observed that is more useful for audit services for the public 
sector. 

Noted. 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A a) None of these concepts should be excluded from the conceptual framework 

b) Description of these concepts seems clear as it is 
 

024 B 1. We agree with each of the concepts at the highest level (subject to the comments below) but 
we cannot understand the detail. We do support comparability but we disagree with the need to 
get into the detail of the presentation techniques. In our view, this is going beyond what we 
consider to be a conceptual framework.  
2. Our view is that concept 2 and concept 3 appear to be similar. There needs to be a link to 
user needs rather than location. Therefore, it should include the need to structure information 
to user needs. 
3. The presentation objectives should distinguish between those that are best served by the 
"hard" audited financial statements and those that are best provided in accompanying narrative 
material (for example, forward looking information) or in other reports that might be best 
provided outside the GPFR boundary (for example, environmental reports). 

All 3 concepts – too detailed. 
 
 
Relationship between 
Concepts 2 and 3 
 

025 A We agree with the concepts chosen. They are logical and easy to understand. Our only general 
comment would be that we found Table 1 on Presentation Decisions [there does not appear to 
be any specific invitation to comment on these] are confusing and arguable, especially with 
regards to the impact of where information is put. For example, we do not see how where you 

Noted: Concerns re Table 1. 
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put information that is related to timeliness. Neither do we understand the comment that 
understandability is important when deciding whether an item is core or supporting information: 
surely all information should be understandable? 

026 C We do not agree with the detailed information contained in section 6 under the heading of 
presentation concepts being included in the Conceptual Framework. 

 

027 E No comment.  
028 A a) The three presentation concepts identified in the Consultation Paper are equally important.  

None of the presentation concepts are to be excluded from the Conceptual Framework.   
b) As regards the first concept of “what information needs to be shown”, more emphasis could 
possibly be placed on the trade off between timeliness and accuracy.   
In relation to “where information should be located”, more guidance may be given regarding the 
display and disclosure of non-financial information. 
With respect to “how information should be organised”, further guidance may be provided 
regarding the structure of GPFRs and the relationship between financial and non-financial 
information 

 
Noted:  
Concept 1 – Proposed 
improvement 
Concept 2 – Proposed 
improvement 
Concept 3 – Proposed 
improvement 

029 C The most significant presentation concept is what information should be shown in GPFS.  The 
information presented should satisfy all QCs but must be obtained in a timely manner on a cost 
effective basis. One of the most significant QCs is representational faithfulness. All material 
transactions and events should be presented in a complete manner that conveys their substance 
rather than its legal or other form. The determination of where information and how information 
for GPFRs should be left to the preparer.  

Noted: 
Concept 1 comments  
 
 
Concepts 2 and 3 - Disagree 

030 B a) Concept 2 should be excluded because information cannot be located to meet user needs. 
Information can be selected to meet user needs. Location of information may enhance 
understanding, but meeting user needs appears overstretched. Also, we do not agree that the 
location of information would affect its relevance, timeliness, verifiability or representation 
faithfulness. 
b) Concept 1 contained a few ideas that can be further explained and developed as individual 
concepts, including: 
• The idea of providing sufficient information; 
• The idea of prioritization of information and the related implications on the “where” and 

“how” decisions for items of different levels of priority; 
• The idea of avoiding information clutter and overload; 
• The idea about timing and frequency of issuing GPFRs; and 
• The idea of considering whether value would be added to GPFR as a whole and the risk of 

Noted: 
Concept 2 - Disagree 
 
 
 
 
Concept 1 – Improvements 
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information omission in presentation decisions.   
We suggest not getting into a quantitative test in the discussion of cost benefit effectiveness. 
Concept 3 
Concept 3 contained two concepts that should be separated as individual concepts: 

• The concept of organizing information to make important relationships clear; and  
• The concept of comparability. 

We support the concept of “organizing information to make important relationships clear” and the 
related presentation techniques identified in the Consultation Paper, but not the description of 
this concept. In particular, we do not see introducing the terms “enhancement”, “similarity” and 
“shared purpose” useful in explaining this concept. In many cases, the examples provided did 
not align with the relationships the terms contained. Describing the important relationships in 
these three terms may restrict the consideration of other important relationships.       

 
 
 
 
 
Concept 3 
 

031 A The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that none of these three issues should be excluded from the 
Conceptual Framework. However, the SRS-CSPCP believes that these must not be considered 
as “concepts”. They are “issues” in essence, which must be considered by the Standard Setter 
without fail. We therefore propose replacing the title of Chapter 6 Presentation Concepts with 
Issues to be addressed by the Standard Setters. Indeed, the title Presentation Concepts gives 
falsely the impression that it is possible to choose one of these three “concepts”. But it is 
essential that the Standard Setter deals with all three topics and that at the time when it specifies 
in the Standards where, how and what information is to be disclosed. The revised title makes 
clear that Chapter 6, which is more technical and less conceptual than the others, is addressed 
specially to the Standard Setter. In this way Chapter 6 provides the concrete guidelines for 
translating the elements presented in Chapters 1 to 3. This is quite useful since the content of 
Chapters 1 to 3 is rather abstract and theoretical. 
The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the description of these Issues to be addressed by the Standard 
Setter (rather than Presentation Concepts). 

 
 
Noted – Issues rather than 
concepts. 
 

032 A Overall, the presentation concepts set out in the consultation appear comprehensive. However, it 
would be helpful if these concepts could set out examples of the types of judgements to be 
disclosed in the GPFR. Professional judgment is normally made when complying with 
accounting standards so it is not clear from the consultation what type of judgments, if any, you 
are expecting to be disclosed.  Such disclosure could also lead to unintended bias. 

 
Noted: Further coverage 
needed. 

033 A We agree that these three presentation concepts are fundamental concepts for presentation and 
the descriptions are appropriate. 

 

034 E No comment.  
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035 A We agree with the summary descriptions. However the CP contains far too much detail for a 
conceptual framework. 

 

036 A The three presentation concepts are supported; however, GPFS presentation objectives should 
be distinct and separate from the presentation concepts of supplementary reporting. 

 

037 A a) All the concepts outlined should remain as part of the Conceptual Framework. However: 
 The amount of detail given should be considered for example budget or targets for 
comparative purposes should be excluded. Budget and targets are excellent management 
tools but for conceptual framework presentation these may not be either appropriate or 
necessary and may lead to misinterpretation, controversy and speculation.  
 “Appropriate line items and components of line items” ; summary information may be 
necessary but details contained in components of line items may not be necessary and so the 
cost/benefit to provide components of lines items should be carefully considered.  

b) It may be possible to improve the description of the concepts as follows: Consideration 
could be given to including information on governing rules and regulations which impact the 
business entity. In Jamaica for example this could include the Procurement Regulations and 
specific legislation under which the public Body operates. 

 
Noted: Too much related 
detail  
 
 
 
Proposed improvement: 
Include consideration of an 
entity’s governing rules and 
regulations. 

038 B Under section 6, we observe that the proposed presentation concepts here seem to lack a 
linkage back to the concept of ‘core’ versus ‘supporting’ information. It might be more helpful if 
the discussions of the presentation concepts address what, how and where core and supporting 
information should be presented. In particular, in order to organize information to make important 
relationships clear and support comparability, it would be helpful to clarify how supporting 
information should be disclosed together with core information. 
We agree with the principles drawn under the concepts, but we are not sure whether these are 
truly underlying presentation concepts that apply to both core and supporting information. For 
example, the discussion in paragraphs 6.13 – 6.16 seems to be an elaboration and reiteration of 
where information should be located. The presentation techniques suggestion in paragraph 6.17 
would seem to provide helpful guidance to preparers and standard-setters, and should be 
developed. Under paragraphs 6.6 – 6.10 on the cost and benefit of providing information, the 
costs of effort required by users to interpret and analyse information seems to be over-
emphasized, and there seems to be a lack of discussion and consideration of the benefits of 
disclosure from the users’ perspective. 

 
Noted: Concerns related to all 
three concepts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Concerns re discussion of 
cost-benefit. 
 

039 A In our view, none of these three presentation concepts should be excluded from the conceptual 
framework. We have no particular suggestion for improving the description of each concept. 
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SMC 5 – (See paragraphs 6.1 to 6.27):  

In addition to the three concepts proposed in Section 6, please provide your views on: 

(a) Whether there are further concepts that should be included in the Conceptual Framework; and 

(b) What those further concepts should be. 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
(A) YES, FURTHER CONCEPTS 11 
(C) NO, NO FURTHER CONCEPTS 20 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 0 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 31 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 8 
TOTAL 39 

 

Further concepts – table? 

 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 5 STAFF COMMENT 

001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A It seems to us that we are dancing around on the head of a pin without really zeroing in on 
answers to the basic questions: 1. Has fiscal discipline been applied? (budgetary information) 
and 2. Has fiscal sustainability been maintained? (accrual information). 3. Has the fundamental 
concept of fiscal transparency been met? (full disclosure). 

Noted: Respondent has 
concerns that concepts are 
not sufficient  

003 E   

004 C We have not identified any additional concepts that should be included in the Framework. We 
are of the view that the three concepts appropriately address the three presentation objectives of 
what information should be presented, how the information should be presented and how the 
information should be organised. 

 

005 C We are content with the current concepts.  
006 C We have no suggestions of further concepts.  
007 A (Note that this response has been interpreted as indicating a need for a further concept.) 

In line with our other comments the Presentation part of the Conceptual Framework should seek 
to maximise understandability, which in practice during the standard setting process will need to 
be balanced against the other qualitative characteristics and constraints. 

 
Noted: Further concept to 
address these issues 
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A key element of understandability relates to managing the tension between providing too little 
information to inform understanding, and providing too much information, with the effect of 
obscuring key messages. This is touched upon in some discussions in the Consultation Paper, 
and the rationale behind the core information and supporting information split substantially 
reflects an intention to avoid information overload in the core information.   
It would be helpful if the possible conflict between information overload and over-summarisation 
were more clearly explained. This could either be incorporated into the discussion of the three 
concepts currently proposed, or through an additional presentation concept relating to achieving 
a balance between information overload and over-summarisation. 

008 C We do not believe that further concepts are necessary. However, in regard to (ii) application of 
the QCs, How information should be organized, please consider including ‘consistency’ as we 
believe that consistency is also an important characteristic of high-quality presentation. 

Noted under 4(b): Proposed 
improvement to Concept 3. 

009 C We have nothing to add regarding these matters.  
010 E No comment  
011 A In our opinion, user needs are directly affected by the frequency of reporting and whether 

reported information is current. Thus we believe that both how current information that is 
reported ought to be as well as the frequency of its issuance also need to be addressed more 
fully at a conceptual level. We realize that proposed Concept 1 subsumes this aspect in regard 
to the question of what information needs to be shown, in referring to the need for information to 
be sufficiently timely, but believe that it would be easier to understand if the question “when” 
were considered in decisions for presentation of information separately from the consideration of 
“what”. Therefore, the issue of when information is presented is sufficiently important as to merit 
a separate presentation concept. 

Further concept noted.  

012 A As previously stated, it is the Province’s position that the Conceptual Framework should develop 
principles and concepts that detail presentation principles and requirements that specifically 
relate to the preparation of general purpose financial statements. 
In relation to presentation concepts that should detail the preparation of general purpose 
financial statements, the concepts should include general reporting principles which would be 
similar to the detail relating to qualitative characteristics and what they mean in relation to 
applying them to the reporting implications for financial statements. In particular, it should include 
references to issues such as descriptions regarding the appropriate statements to include for 
reporting purposes, how to present elements in relation to the particular statements, details of 
how statements and notes should be used, and comparison requirements for current period 
amounts. 

 
 
Noted (Gap related to overall 
approach, rather than specific 
presentation concept.) 
 

013 C HoTARAC does not agree that the additional presentation concepts are conceptual in nature Noted under SMC 4 (a)  
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and, accordingly, does not agree that these should be included in the Framework. As stated 
above, HoTARAC views the QCs developed in Phase 1 of the Framework as sufficient. As 
stated in the response to the previous Specific Matter for Comment, HoTARAC would support 
the use of this material as guidance. HoTARAC has no suggestion for further concepts at this 
stage. 

014 C (See comment above for SMC 4.)  
015 C No further concepts should be added to the conceptual framework that applies to GPFR. We 

should segregate the different types of reports and create a separate framework for each, in 
order for it to be more useful. 

Previously noted. 

016 A ACAG considers that the three presentation concepts proposed in Section 6 are adequate for 
the purposes of guiding presentation decisions. We have no suggestions for further concepts for 
inclusion in the Conceptual Framework.  
As noted in the comments above, it would be useful for the presentation concepts to be linked 
with the constraints (particularly materiality and cost-benefit) to avoid excess detail being 
included in general purpose financial reports. However, consistent with our previous 
submissions, ACAG considers materiality to be a qualitative characteristic, rather than a 
constraint. 

 
 
 
Previously noted. 

017 C We do not think that further concepts need to be included in the project at this stage.  
018 C 1. As mentioned in paragraph 16 above, the AASB recommends that, to facilitate developing a 

coherent and structured set of objective-driven (rather than topic-driven) disclosures, the 
IPSASB should identify the general characteristics of an entity (economic phenomena) that 
should be the subject of general purpose financial reporting.  This would help address the 
‘selection of information’ issue addressed by proposed presentation concept 1. 
2. The AASB has no additional presentation concepts to suggest.   

 
Previously noted. 

019 A We consider that either new concepts or existing concepts should address completeness of 
information, aggregation and disaggregation of information and the relationship between 
different information should be included in the CF.  Detail we would like to see in these three 
areas are as follows: 
 Completeness – the emphasis on ‘display’ or ‘core information’ should not be allowed to 
obscure the need for statements to be complete.  A Statement of Financial Position, for example, 
needs to include all assets and liabilities, and not only those that are ‘core’.  A report on Long-
term Fiscal Sustainability needs to deal with expenditure of all kinds that are significant in the 
context of the aggregate spending. 
 Aggregation and disaggregation are discussed in paragraph 6.5 and we consider that 

Noted: Included under 
improvements to existing 
concepts 
 
Relate to Concept 1 
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the Framework should explain why aggregation is useful (which goes beyond simply 
understandability) and disaggregation is necessary or desirable (rather than simply relying on 
the QCs of relevance and reliability). 
 Relationships between different information – good presentation should bring out 
important relationships between different aspects that are reported.  For example, it is useful to 
report the cost of services in a manner that permits comparison with the amount of revenue that 
has been derived from or to support them. The discussion in paragraphs 6.18-6.23 needs to 
bring this out: as presently drafted it focuses almost entirely on relationships reported in different 
parts of the GPFRs. 

Relate to Concept 1 
 
 
Relate to Concept 3 

020 A The concept of presentation "select" includes aspects of meeting the needs of users, cost-benefit 
and opportunity. Another aspect is legislation that requires the submission of certain information 
or support financial statements. The component of legality is very strong in some countries and it 
influences the selection process. 
To attend the requirements of legislation and local regulations. 

 
 
Further concept 
 

021 A I think that internal control for public sector is very important, the idea elaborated for COSO10 in 
your discussion paper is fundamental in this moment, principally if in the future the Integrated 
Reporting will be used for government and non-profit.  
The Internal Control for public sector is important, but I think that is very difficult and complex 
applied in the operations service of the governments. 

 
Further concept 
 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A We could consider classification of information: Public Entities in different jurisdictions currently 

use different accounting standards since not all countries have adopted IPSAS, some guidance 
on classification of information may enhance comparability for similar entities in different 
jurisdictions or different periods for same entity. 

 
Further concept 
 

024 A We think that there could be another concept in relation to disclosure of information. This should 
emphasise the need for clear disclosure but which discourages clutter by encouraging exclusion 
of disclosures set by the standard setter which is not actually material in the context of the entity 
in question. 

 
Further concept 
 

025 C We think the concepts are fine as they are.  
026 C We are not aware of any other concepts.  
027 E No comment.  

                                                 
10 http://www.coso.org/documents/coso_framework_body_v6.pdf 
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028 C The three Presentation Concepts referred to appear to be complete.  
029 C The Province is not aware of any other presentation concepts that should be added.  
030 A Yes. 

The ideas contained in Concept 1 as identified in the answer to the question above (Comment 
4b), including: 
• Sufficient information (in terms of scope and depth) required to meet the objectives of the 

GPFR should be presented to ensure a complete and unbiased understanding. 
• Information should be prioritized in terms of relevancy in meeting user needs. Presentation 

should reflect their relative priority. 
• Excessive information presented in GPFR would result in information overload and distract 

users from getting an uncluttered view of the core information.  
• The timing and frequency of preparation and issuance of GPFR should ensure that 

information presented in GPFR is meaningful and relevant to users. 
• Presentation decisions should be evaluated on the resulting value to the GPFR as a whole 

and the risk of doing otherwise.   
In addition, IPSASB may consider the following concepts: 
• Selection of the appropriate presentation tools or techniques should consider the nature and 

characteristics of the information.  
• Information should be presented in an understandable manner. 
• The scope, key indicators and the basis of key measures should be consistent from one 

reporting period to another. 
• The responsibility for the preparation and approval of the GPFR should be clearly 

communicated in the report. 
• The fact that the GPFR is or is not subject to independent audit or review should be clearly 

communicated in the report. Where appropriate, the report of the independent auditor or 
reviewer should be appended to the GPFR. 

Users should be advised that GPFR as a whole provides information that meet user needs in 
that subject matter. Each type of information has its function and is of equal importance. The 
report should be read and considered in its totality to ensure a comprehensive and unbiased 
understanding.    

 
Further concepts: 
Separate concepts related to 
Concept 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further concepts 
 
 
 
 
 
 

031 C The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that the 3 proposed Issues to be addressed by the Standard 
Setter (rather than Presentation Concepts) are adequate. 

 

032 C As set out in (5) above, the concepts outlined appear comprehensive.     
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033 C We have no further concepts to add.  
034 E No comment.  
035 A None of concepts specifically relate to the avoidance of unnecessary detail in general purpose 

financial reports. 
In our response to the ED on phase 1 of the CF, we expressed the view that materiality should 
be treated as an entity specific qualitative characteristic of ‘relevance’ rather than as a constraint 
as was proposed in the ED. Establishing materiality as a QC would militate against the risk of 
excessive detail. However we understand that the IPSASB has confirmed its view that materiality 
is a constraint. 
In light of the above, we consider that a further concept should be developed relating to the 
appropriateness of the extent of detail that should be disclosed in financial reports. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Further concept 

036 E No comment on this question.  
037 C These concepts are sufficiently encompassing to provide the necessary guidance in the 

preparation of GPFRs. Of course, since these are concepts and not standards (and  we do not 
believe they should be standards), there is likely to be significant variability in actual 
presentations as preparers ponder what information users need. The important thing is that 
preparers should actively solicit feedback and comment from actual and prospective users and 
modify the next period's presentations accordingly. 

 

038 E (See comment included under SMC 4, which covers SMC 3 – 6.)  
039 C In our view, the three concepts proposed are sufficient to contribute to achieving the objectives 

of financial reports. In addition, the relationship between the proposed concepts, the qualitative 
characteristics and the constraints on the information mean that the appropriateness of its 
presentation can be ensured. 
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SMC 6 – (See paragraphs 6.12, 6.17, 6.24, and 6.27):  

Each presentation concept refers to the possibility of developing criteria to determine the presentation techniques to be used in setting 
accounting standards. Please provide: 

(a) Your views on whether it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply such techniques; and 

(b) Any suggestions you have for developing these techniques. 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED: These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB members 
(A) AGREE (YES, USEFUL AND WORKABLE…) 17 
(B) PARTIALLY AGREE 4 
(C) DISAGREE 12 
(D) NO CLEAR VIEW EXPRESSED 1 
SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 34 
(E) DID NOT COMMENT 5 
TOTAL 39 

 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

001 E No comment – provided general comment only.  

002 A We think each IPSAS should identify the core information for display on the face of the financial 
statements. We also think each IPSAS should identify which supporting information is required 
(and disclosed in the notes) and which is optional (and disclosed as supplemental information).  
Although it might not permit easy comparability between governmental entities, we think each 
entity should have the latitude to use those techniques for required and optional information in a 
manner that is most easily understood by their constituents. 

Noted: Identification of 
core/supporting/optional 
information should be done at 
standards level.  
Preparers should be free to 
use techniques to meet 
constituents’ needs. 

003 A Yes, it would appear feasible. In relation to concept 3 (relationships & comparability), considering 
the vast sources from which information can be collated for inclusion in GPFRs, these sources 
should be referenced in some manner. This approach may further assist users and serve as an 
indication of the quality of GPFRs. 

Further point: Sources of 
information should be 
referenced. 

004 A a) In reviewing the Consultation Paper, we found the presentation techniques useful and believe 
that they would be useful tools for the IPSASB to use in developing presentation and disclosure 
requirements when developing specific pronouncements. At present, part (a) only refers to the 
IPSASB using such techniques in developing the presentation requirements for its 
pronouncements.  We are however of the view that such techniques would be just as useful for 
preparers who might need to develop certain disclosure requirements using the Framework in 

Reason noted. 
 
Further point: Preparers also 
will find these techniques 
useful. 
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R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

the absence of a particular IPSAS.  
b) We are unsure of what the “criteria” are that the Board envisages developing, nor how they 
might be applied. As such, it is difficult to comment on whether “criteria” need to be developed. 
We also believe that the development of criteria may overcomplicate the approach. It is fairly 
complicated already to understand what the various terms means, i.e. presentation objectives, 
presentation decisions, presentation concepts and presentation techniques.   

 
 
Recommends against 
development of criteria. 
 
 

005 A 1. We believe it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply such techniques. 
2. We suggest the followings for developing these techniques: 
(a) We believe that supporting information should be presented in the same order as that of the 
core information, in order to enhance the understandability of the relationships between core 
information and supporting information. 
(b) In some cases, entities may re-classify the items to be presented to meet the user’s meet 
information needs. In such instances, entities should also restate the information presented in 
the prior period, so as to ensure the comparability of information with the current period. 

 
 
Techniques – (a) and (b)  
 

006 A Yes. We have no suggestions of further developments.  
007 C (Interpreted to mean “No, not possible”.) 

6 (a) In CIPFA’s view it would not at this stage be useful and workable for the IPSASB to 
develop criteria to determine the presentation techniques to be used in setting accounting 
standards. 
6(b) However, there may be a benefit in keeping an overall record of observations on the 
rationale for choices of presentation technique in standard setting. As the Board develops new 
standards and maintains older standards this record could be reviewed to see if high level 
principles can be identified which could usefully be added to the conceptual framework.  

 
 
Recommends against 
development of criteria 
Track IPSASB decisions then 
look for principles 

008 A We believe that it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply such techniques. 
Please consider adding “cross reference to information related to each other across different 
parts of a GPFR” to 6.24. 

 
Recommends amendment to 
6.24 

009 A We believe that it could be helpful to develop criteria for presentation techniques and to apply 
such techniques, but they must not be seen as binding for the standard setting. 

Development of criteria could 
be helpful 

010 B Question 6(a) is not clear. IPSASB usually develops and promulgates concepts whereas IPSAS-
compliant reporting entities apply them. Thus a clarification on how IPSASB might “apply such 
techniques” (a quote from question 6(a)) would assist in understanding the question and 
formulating a response. 

 
 
 
 



Agenda Item 2C.2 CP, Presentation Respondents’ Comments 
IPSASB Meeting (September 2012) 

Page 102 of 107 

R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

(a) The Task Force would support the initiative of developing the techniques, which might help to 
address the following two issues simultaneously: 
• further streamlining and increasing comparability of presentation in the GPFRs; and 
• practical guidance for future implementers of the Phase 4 concepts of the Conceptual 

Framework (CF), which at this point are more theoretical than other concepts of the CF. 
This is further complicated by the fact that presentation of information is a very difficult 
area to be effectively regulated. 

However the Task Force strongly believes that any guidance on presentation of non-financial 
information can only be developed as optional. Implementation of the approach to presentation 
of information in the GPFRs, including identification of presentation objectives, application of the 
QC and use of separate presentation concepts and designated techniques to present 
information, if made compulsory, will limit flexibility of reporting entities to comply with 
expectation and presentation requirements established by their governing bodies. It may also 
result in significantly higher compliance costs as reporting entities might have to produce two 
sets of annual financial reports – one to comply with IPSAS and the other to comply with 
expectations and requirements of their governing bodies – just to remain IPSAS-compliant.  The 
Task Force is of the opinion that the superior goal of the IPSASB is to promulgate standards 
which will enhance quality of financial reporting rather than to develop new concepts to the 
extent that IPSAS-compliance becomes a separate goal from issuance of annual financial 
reports which are useful and meaningful for organization’s stakeholders in terms of content and 
format. 

 
 
Further point: Two items on 
which development of 
techniques should focus.  
 
 
 
Note: Guidance on 
presentation of non-financial 
information should be 
optional 
 
 

011 E No comment  
012 C It is the position of the Province that the scope of the Conceptual Framework should not be 

extended beyond financial statements into fulfilling the requirements of other reporting areas.  
The use of more generalized guidance or additional unnecessary concepts to allow it to be 
applied to multiple reporting models or purposes is not considered necessary or conducive to a 
framework that should support general purpose financial statements.  

 
Reason noted: Focus on 
GPFSs only. 

013 C HoTARAC does not agree with including the proposed presentation techniques in the 
Conceptual Framework. As stated above, HoTARAC believes the QCs are sufficient to 
conceptually underpin the presentation concepts and the proposed criteria for presentation 
techniques are too detailed and prescriptive to be included in the Framework. 
As noted above, HoTARAC believes the Framework should be restricted to high level principles 
and it is more important to specify high level presentation objectives and to distinguish between 
what is meant by core and supporting information. 

 
Reason noted: QCs sufficient 
 

014 B The IPSASB may find it useful to develop a non-binding supporting document which includes 
criteria such as those in paragraphs 6.12, 6.17, 6.24 and 6.27. In our view, the content of these 

Note respective roles of 
supporting document, 
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R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

paragraphs is operational in nature and will change as alternative presentation tools are 
developed. We do not support their inclusion in the Conceptual Framework. In particular, 
decisions about line items, the use of tables and graphs belong either at the standards level or 
with the entity preparing the GPFR.  
The proposal that does belong within the Conceptual Framework is the development of criteria to 
assist in distinguishing between core and supporting information within a particular GPFR 
information area (paragraph 6.17(a)) as this distinction is core to many of the proposals in the 
CP.  

standards, and preparers 
 
Noted: Reason against 
inclusion in CF  
 
Criteria needed to distinguish 
core/supporting information 

015 C It would not be useful. This approach is too abstract to be useful. Reason noted. 
016 B In relation to whether it would be useful for the IPSASB to ‘apply’ such presentation techniques, 

we have assumed this to mean that the IPSASB could ‘specify’ the presentation techniques. 
ACAG has considered the presentation techniques included in paragraphs 6.12, 6.17, 6.24 
and 6.27 at a high level. In general, these techniques appear to be appropriate. However, as 
ACAG does not agree with the distinction between core and supporting information, we do not 
agree that developing criteria to distinguish between core and supporting information is 
necessary.  
ACAG agrees that the inclusion of general, overarching and illustrative presentation techniques 
would be useful for inclusion in the Conceptual Framework. However, ACAG suggests that it 
would be appropriate for specific or prescriptive presentation techniques to be developed at the 
standards level. 
ACAG does not believe that it is necessary for the IPSASB to develop criteria to determine the 
presentation techniques to be used at the standards level. 

 
 
Disagrees with 
core/supporting and criteria to 
distinguish 
 
Note respective roles 
 
 
Recommends against 
development of criteria 

017 A We believe that it would be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply such techniques in 
order to influence how information is located and presented and to enable comparability between 
reporters.  

Reason noted 

018 A 1. The AASB considers that it could be useful for the IPSASB to develop and apply presentation 
techniques (which are described in paragraph 6.2 of the CP as “ways to implement the 
concepts”). It also notes that the selection of some of the presentation techniques discussed in 
paragraphs 6.12, 6.17, 6.24 and 6.27 of the CP might appropriately be left to the discretion of 
preparers. This is because decisions about the most appropriate presentation techniques to 
meet the qualitative characteristics of useful financial information (such as when to use graphs or 
charts to display information, and the extent to which information is disaggregated—referred to in 
paragraph 6.24) may depend on the circumstances. 
2. Because it considers that considerable further development of concepts impinging on 
‘presentation’ is needed, at this stage the AASB generally does not have comments on the 

 
Selection of some techniques 
should be left to preparers’ 
discretion.  
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R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

lower-order issue of presentation techniques, as discussed in paragraphs 6.12, 6.17, 6.24 and 
6.27 of the CP.  However, the AASB has the following comments on paragraph 6.17: 
(a) it does not supporting distinguishing between ‘core’ and ‘supporting’ information (mentioned 
in the first bullet point)—see the comments in paragraphs 6 – 14 above; and  
(b) it considers it is possibly premature to mention developing criteria for selecting the location of 
different types of information in separate GPFRs (mentioned in the second bullet point), in the 
context of an entity issuing complementary GPFRs covering different types of information 
(possibly with different frequencies). Until further progress is made on delineating which 
information belongs in the scope of general purpose financial reporting, it seems difficult to 
consider how to determine which particular GPFRs certain information should be located in (see 
also paragraph 15 above).  

 
 
Against distinguishing 
between core and supporting 
information 
 
Premature to develop criteria 
for selecting the location of 
information in separate 
GPFRs 

019 A We agree that it would be useful for presentation techniques to be developed but do not consider 
that any list should be exhaustive. 

 

020 A a) The presentation techniques help on degree of compliance and standardization of the 
information displayed and disclosed, and should be treated by IPSAB in a more exemplary and 
illustrative form. 
b) No suggestions. 

Reason noted 

021 D I observed that this conceptual framework is very good in relation the idea, clearly, objective and 
transparency. I think that is a process that need to be structured and development in the regions, 
for this is very important the integration and cooperation of each country and your regulator. 
I suggest that in the future the IPSAB need to observe a new structure for audit for public sector. 

 

022 E No comment – provided general comment only.  
023 A a) Yes it would be useful and workable for the Board to apply such techniques as this will give 

the reader of the report at a glance a picture of the entities performance 
b) Presentation techniques will also be influenced by the user needs  

Reason noted 

024 C We do not believe that the IPSASB should develop criteria to determine the presentation 
techniques to be used in setting accounting standards. These will be specific to each preparer's 
position and should be left to them to determine, using overarching principles of materiality and 
the need to give a true and fair view. 

Against development of 
criteria – leave to preparers 

025 C We think the idea of criteria to define the various elements would be very difficult to develop 
other than at a very high, generic level and would risk a ‘boilerplate’ approach to GPFRs which 
would be detrimental to the impact of the GPFRs. What is core and ‘supporting’ (a term that we 
believe as already mentioned is unfortunate) should be a matter of judgement defined by 
sensible management approach within the concept of a general framework of criteria. In our view 

Against development of 
criteria 
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R# CATE-
GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

there is enough in the general concepts to shape management’s thinking with regard to what 
should be where. There is a risk that frameworks such as this should be too detailed in 
attempting to cover every possible scenario rather than defining a general approach which 
should shape management’s thinking when developing GPFRs. 

 
Core/supporting distinction 
should be left to managment 
judgement  

026 C We believe the level of detail contained in Section 6 is too detailed and not necessary. Reason noted 
027 C As indicated earlier LASAAC considers that guidance, not specification, on how to identify and 

assess user needs would potentially be extremely beneficial in improving presentation decisions. 
Reason noted 

028 A a) Yes, agreed with. 
b) The criteria for selection of different types of information (core, summary, supporting, 
quantitative, narrative, indicators, graphs and tables) within different information areas as 
required by paragraph 6.12 should be set in a clear and unambiguous manner to enhance 
consistency and comparability. 
Moreover, it is agreed that, when developing these techniques, further guidance, supported by 
practical examples, is to be provided.  Such guidance would relate to the standardisation, the 
layering of information (through the display of core information, followed by disclosure of more 
detailed breakdowns and supporting information in other parts of a GPFR), the link between 
supporting information and core information and reconciliations between different numerical 
totals in different parts of a GPFR.  As a result, the classification of information within a GPFR 
would be facilitated, and information included therein would be presented in a coherent and 
comprehensive manner to aid understandability and comparability. 

 
Criteria for different 
information should be 
developed 
 
 
Further development 
 

029 C Accounting standards should be principle based. Reporting entities should be left to determine 
the best method to present the information as long as it complies with the standard and presents 
the information fairly. Auditors will determine if the presentation complies with the standard and 
faithfully represents the events or transactions. 

Reason noted 

030 B The presentation techniques listed in the four paragraphs were a mixture of presentation tools, 
concepts and rules. Identification of available presentation tools (such as table, graph, sub-
totals, comparatives, trend analysis, reconciliation, use of headings and sub-headings, labeling, 
ordering, sequence, layering, aggregation and disaggregation) and the circumstances (e.g., the 
nature and type of information) in which they would be appropriate and effective would be 
helpful. Presentation concepts that would serve as presentation guidance should be removed 
from these paragraphs and included together with other presentation concepts (e.g., 
comparability and consistency, timing and frequency). Presentation rules should be limited to 
high level general rules. Given the possible wide range of GPFRs, the presentation rules should 
be flexible enough to allow room for experimentation of presentation tools that work for specific 
GPFRs. For example, the second bullet point in paragraph 6.17 and the first and last bullet 

 
Issue with respect to a 
mixture of different things all 
termed “presentation 
techniques”.  
Distinguish between and 
address appropriately the 
presentation tools, concepts 
and rules. 
Specific changes noted. 
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GORY COMMENTS ON SMC 6 STAFF COMMENT 

points in paragraph 6.12 would be too rigid or prescriptive. 
031 C The SRS-CSPCP is of the opinion that it is neither useful nor workable to apply such detailed 

descriptions of presentation techniques in the Conceptual Framework In the end these elements 
are addressed mainly to the body that sets up these standards, namely the IPSAS Board. 
Moreover, such presentation techniques are frequently specially tailored to the topics of the 
individual Standards. This is the reason why they must be listed only as examples in the 
Framework Concept. Furthermore, it is important in the Framework Concept to emphasise that 
the techniques mentioned are mentioned only as examples. 

Reason noted. 
 
 
Acceptable to list as 
illustrative examples in the 
CF. 

032 A Most of the criteria included in paragraphs 6.12, 6.17 and 6.27 are capable of being utilised 
when developing accounting standards. Perhaps the criteria outlined in paragraph 6.24, such as 
developing links and cross referencing of information through the use of tables, graphs etc., will 
be the most tricky to address through accounting standards. This might be better addressed 
through additional guidance and examples of good practice. 

Point on whether criteria 
should be included in 
standards or as guidance. 

033 C We do not believe it would be workable for the IPSASB to develop criteria for presentation 
techniques that would be applicable to the wide variety of reports that are encompassed in 
GPFRs. Suggestions for presentation techniques in a recommended practice guideline could be 
helpful for preparers of GPFRs but should not be a requirement. 

Reason noted. 

034 E No comment.  
035 B It will be inevitable that presentation techniques will need to be considered by IPSASB when 

developing standards based on the conceptual framework. However, as with all other aspects of 
the framework the presentation techniques outlined in the CP should be at a conceptual level 
and not delve into the detail. 
We do not have any specific suggestions, but in general consider that any presentation 
techniques employed should be set at as high a level as possible consistent with ensuring 
minimum acceptable standards of presentation. We do not therefore consider that these need to 
be developed further. 

Point noted 
 
 
 
Reason against further 
development 

036 E Feedback on the presentation techniques to be used in setting accounting standards will be 
provided once a draft of those standards has been issued for public comment. 

 

037 A 6.12(a) 
It will be useful and workable for the IPSASB to apply the techniques proposed in concept 1.  
Application of these techniques will assist in making the GPFR more informative. It will also 
satisfy user’s needs in having timely financial statements in a cost efficient manner.  
6.12(b) 
These techniques should include: 

 
Reason noted. 
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• illustrations and examples in order to make them more easily understood.  
• Specific guidelines relating to GPFRs timing and frequency 
• More specific details should be given regarding the criteria for selection of different 

types of information. 
6.17(a) 
It will be useful to apply the presentation techniques in Concept 2 as they will provide meaningful 
information to the users and will further standardize the format of the financial statements. 
6.17(b) 
None 
6.24(a) 
It will be useful and workable to apply the techniques at 6.24 in respect of concept 3. These 
techniques will provide the following 

• more useful information to users of the financial statements; 
• better understanding of the financial statements; 
•  improved standardization of financial statements; and 
• Better analysis of the information.  

6.24(b) 
None 

Further development of 
techniques recommended 

038 A The presentation techniques suggestion in paragraph 6.17 would seem to provide helpful 
guidance to preparers and standard-setters, and should be developed. 

Reason noted.  

039 C Given the variety of situations that may have to be presented in financial reports, we are of the 
view that it is better, except for the financial statements, to defer to the professional judgment of 
the preparers of financial reports to determine the preferred presentation techniques. With 
respect to the financial statements, presentation rules already exist in the IPSAS standards. 

Reason noted: Preparers 
should decide techniques.  
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